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FORTINET UK LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011
Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financlal statements In accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Campany law requires the directors to prepare financlal statements for each financlal year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Acceptad Accounting Practice (Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company
law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are salisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that penod In
prepanng these financlal statements, the direclors are required to

. sefect sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgments and estimates thal are reasonable and prudent,
. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inappropnate to presume that

the company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any ttme the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure {hat the financial statements comply with the Compantes Act 2008 They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of tha company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

Princlpal activities

The principal activity of the company continued to be that of software consultancy and supply The company's
revenue 15 wholly denved from the recharging of expenses to its US parent, Forinet Inc

Business review

The financial statements mcorporate the resuits of the Swiss, Swedish and lalian branches The results of the
subsidiary undertakings, Fortinet Sarl and Fortinet GmbH, are excluded from these accounts

The directors considered the performance in the year to be satisfactory and do not recommend payment of a
dwidend.

Results

The loss for the year, after laxation, amounted to £115,995 (2010 - profit £329,174)
Diwrectors

The directors who served during the year were

K A Gaoldman

R A Lemer (resigned 17 February 2011)

T C Emanuelson (appointed 17 February 2011 & resigned 23 September 2011)
N S Bush {(appointed 23 December 2011)




FORTINET UK LIMITED

DIRECTORS® REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Provigsion of information to auditors

Each of the persons who are directors al the tme when this directors' report is approved has confirmed {hat

. so far as ihat director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit infermation of which the company's auditors
are unaware, and

. that director has taken all the steps that aught to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of

any information needed by the company's auditors in connection with prepanng their report and o
establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information

Audltors

The auditors, Mazars LLP, will ba proposed for reappomntment in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 2006

Risks

100% of the sales for Fortinet UK Ltd are directly to the parent company, Fortinat Inc Tha directors arg aware
of this as it has always been the intended setup between the two companies

The Fortinet Inc financial statements are publicly avalable in the United States of Amenca These state the key
nsks to the group as a whole

Going Concern

The company's businass activilles, together with the factors likely to affact its futurs dsvelopment, perfarmance
and posiion are set out above The financial positton of the company, its cashfiow and liguidity posivon are
outhine in the Profit and Loss account, Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses and Balance Sheet on
pages 5-7

The company has sufficient financial resources for Its operations given the ongoing parental support and as a
consequence, the directors beheve thal the company is well placed to manage its business nsks despite the
curment uncertain economic outloock The direclors have a reasonable expectation that the company has
adequate resources to confinue in operalional existence for the foreseeable future Thus, they continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting In prepanng the annual financial statements

This report was approved by the board and signed on iis behalf

NSBUW/W/Q,

Director

Date ;
/ //5 kd [




FORTINET UK LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORTINET UK
LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Forlinet UK Limtted for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
comptise the Profit and Loss account, the Statement of Total Recognised Gams and Losses, the Balance Sheet
and the related noles The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in therr preparation ts apphicable
law and United Kmgdom Accounting Standards (Uniled Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibllities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 1, the directars are
respansible for the preparation of the financial statements and for betng satisfled that thay gwe a true and fair
view

Our responsibiity is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Irefand) Those standards require us to comply with the
Auciting Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors This report 1s made solely 1o the company's
members as a body In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might slate ta the company's members those matters we are required to siate to
them in an Audttors' repost and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responstbility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body for our audit
work, for this ceport, or for the optnions we have formed

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB's website at
www frc org uk/apb/scopefprivate cfm

Opmion on the financial statements

In our opintan the financial statements

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its loss for
the yaar then ended,

. have been properly prepared n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accountng
Practice, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006
Opinlon on the other matter prescribad by the Compantes Act 2005

in our opwmion the information given in the dwectors' report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statsments

amwe e p— =



FORTINET UK LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORTINET UK
LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you If, in our opinion

. adequate accounting records have not bean kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recerved from branches not visited by us, or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounling records and returns, or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

'eqqp¥ John Hall (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

The Pinnacle

160 Midsummer Boulevard
Milton Keynes

MKS 1FF

Date I Wovesdoo 20Y2_




FORTINET UK LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Note
Turnover 1,2
Admunistrafive expenses
Operating profit 3
Interest receivable and similar income
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6
(Loss)/profit for the financia} year 13

All amounts relate to continuing operations

The notes on pages 8 to 17 form part of these financial statements

2011 2010
£ £

14,650,799 15,114,588
(14,545,099) {14,703,186)
105,700 411,402
1,568 2,248
107,268 413,650
(223,263) (84,478)
(115,995) 329,174




FORTINET UK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011 2010

£ £

{Loss)/iprofit for the financial year {115,995) 329,174
Other movements i profit and loss reserve {2,235) 39,897
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year (118,230) 368,871

The notes on pages 8 to 17 form part of these financial statements

m e e g



FORTINET UK LIMITED
Reqistered number 04570027

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank

Craditors. amotmnts falling due within ane
year

Net current assets

Total assets less current abilities

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Capital contnbution reserve
Prefit and loss account

Shareholders’ funds

Note

10

12
13
13

14

2011

£ £

B34

24,858

25,692
2,384,259
1,339,216
3,723475
(1,833,073)

1,890,402

1,916,094

P

1

1,400,338

506,755

1,916,004

2010

£ £

1,742

24,858

26,600
1,763,828
1,861,631
3,625,459

(2,151,914)

1,473,545

1,500,145

1

875,159

624,985

1,500,145

The financial statements were approved and authorised for Issue by the beard and were signed on its behalf on

Pfurl

3[2335'7%7 “/ 13 2012

The notes on pages 8 to 17 form part of these financial statements




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

1.

Accounting policies

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance
with applicable accounting standards

The company 1s itself a subsidiary company and is exemplt from the requirement to prepare group
accounts by virlue of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 Thase financial statements therefere
present information about the company as an individual undertalung and not about its group

The financial statements incorporate the results of the Swiss, Swedish and Malian branches The
resulls of the subsidiary undertakings, Fortinet Sarl and Fortinet GmbH, are excluded from these
accounts

The financial statements contain information about Fortinet UK Limited as an indwidual company
and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group The company Is
exemnpt under section 401 of the Companias Act 2008 from the requirement o prepare consolidated
financial statements as it and its subsidiary underakings are included by full consolidation in the
consolidated financial statements of its ultimate parent, Fortinet Inc, a company registered in the
United Stales of Amenca

Turnover

Turnover compnsas revenue recognised by the company in respect of goods and services supplied
during the year, exclusive of Value Added Tax

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depraciation Deprecistion 1s prowded at rates
calculated to wnte off the cost of fixed assets, less therr estmated residual value, over therr
expected useful ives on the following bases

Computer equipment - 50% straight ine
Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are shown at cost less provision for impaiment

Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged to the profit ang loss account on a straight line basis
over the lease term

Benefits received and recewvable as an incentive {o sign an operating lease are recognised on a
straight Iine basis over the period until the date the rent ts expected to be adjusted to the prevatling
market rate




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.6

1.7

Deferred taxation

Full prowision 15 made for deferred tax assets and lhabililies arising from all tming differences
between the recognition of gains and losses In the financial statements and recognition in the tax
computation

A net deferred tax asset 1s recognised only if it can be regarded as more likely than not that thare will
be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be
deducted

Deferred tax assets and habities are calculaied al the tax rates expected o be effective at the time
the timing differences are expected to reverse,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are nol discounted
Foreign currenciles

Maonetary assets and habilites denominated In forelgn currencies are translated into slerling at rates
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date

Transachions in foreign curencies are translated into sterling at the rate ruling on the date of the
lransaction

Exchange gams and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

1.

2,

Accounting policies (continued)

1.8 Share based paymants

The equity instruments are granted to the employees of the Company by its parent, Fortinet Inc
The share based compensation 1s accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated finanaal
sialements of the parent, therefore the Company i1s required to record an expense for such
compensation in accordanace wih FRS 20 ‘Share based payments’, with a corresponding increase
recognised in the capital contribution reserve i equity as a conlnbution from the parent

The cost of equity-setited transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted and 1s recognised as an expense over the vesting penod, which
ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award Farr value 1s
determmed by the Board of Directors using an appropriate pricing model In valuing equity-seliled
transactions, no account 1s taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions Iinked to the price
of the shares of the company (market conditions)

No expense 1s recognised for awards thal do not uftimately vest, except for awards where vesting is
condittonal upon a market condition, which are freated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are salisfied.

At each balance sheet dale before vesting, the cumulative expense s calculated, representing the
extent {o which the vesting period has expired and management's best estimate of the achievement
or otherwise of non-market conditfons number of equity instruments that wall ultimately vest or in the
case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be lreated as vesling as described abova The
movement in cumulative expense singce the previous bafance sheat date i1s recognised in the income
statement, with a cormesponding entry in equity

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modtfied or a new award Is designated as replacing
a cancelled or setlied award, the cost based on the onginal award terms continues to be recogmsed
over the onginal vesting penod. [n addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new
vesling period for the incremental fair value of any modification, basad on the difference betwean the
fair value of the onginal award and the fair value of the modified award, hoth as measured on the
date of the maodification

No reduction 1s recagrused if this difference is negative

When an equity-seitled award 1s cancelled, it 1s treated as If it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any cost not yet recognised n the income statement for the award i1s expensed immediately
Any compensation paid up fo the far value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date s
deducted from equity, with any excess over far valug being treated as an expense in the income
statement The Group has taken advantage of the transitional prowvisions of FRS 20 in respect of
equity-settied awards so as to apply FRS 20 only o those equity-settled awards granted after 7
November 2002 that had not vestied before 1 January 2007

Far awards granted bafore 7 November 2002, the group recogmnisas only the mirnsic vaiue or cost of
these potential awards as an expense This 1s accrued over the performance penod of each plan
based on the intrinsic value of the equily settled awards

Turnover

The whole of the turnaver 1s alinbutable ta software consultancy and supply

All turnover arose from the United States of Amenca with the parent company Fortinet Inc

-10-




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

3. Operating profit
The aperating profit is stated after charging/(crediting}

2011 2010
£ £
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
- owned by the company 308 g5
Operaling lease rentals
- other operaling leases 236,989 177,988
Difference on foreign exchange (26,818) 29,622
Auditors’ remuneration 7.600 7.250
- laxation 3,850 2,500
- other 4,000 3,500
During the year, no direclor receved any emoluments (2010 - £NIL}
4 Staff costs
Staff costs weare as follows
2011 2010
£ £
Wages and salares 6,831,343 5,778,903
Social security costs 1,295,380 1,306,406
8,126,733 7,085,309

The average monthly number of employees, mcluding the directors, dunng the year was as follows

2011 2010
No. No

Admunistration and sales 61 61

-11-
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FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

5. Share based payments

The parent company, Fortinet Inc, operates an Employee share optton scheme which 15 open to group
employees For tha employee share option schems the options are exercisable at a pnce equal to the
Company's share price at the date of grant

During the ysar the ultimate parent also introduced an Employee Stock Purchase Plan Scheme ("ESPP")
avallable to employees of the company The ESPP prowvides for consecutive six-month offering penods,
with the first offering period having commenced on August 15, 2011 and ended on February 14, 2012

The fair value of the share options have been datermined by applying a Black-Scholes-Merton modal
which have no vesting restnctions and are fully fransferable For all share oplions the Company
recognises an expense over the requisite service period using the straight line method

In 2010 oplions were granted on 10 February, 12 May, 5 August and 4 November The aggregate of the
estimated farr values of the options granted on these dates 1s £1,450,612 In 2011 oplions were granted
on 8 February, 11 May, 2 August and 7 November The aggregate of the estimaled far values of the
options granted on these dates 15 £2,424,369, including ESPP grants The weighted average of the far
values of ali of the share options granted was £8 40 (2010 £11 $3) per option

All share options are cancelled if the employee leaves the Company before the options vest To allow for
the effecls of early exercise, the expected life has been adjusted based on management's best estmate
for exercise restrictions and behawvtoural considerations

During the year, the ultmate parent company announced a two-for-one sphit of its outstanding Common
Stock payable in the form of a stock dmvidend

As a rasult of the stock split, each stockholder received one additional share of Fortmat common stock
for each share of Fortinel common stock held of record on 9 May 2014 The number of sharas
representad by the stock option(s) was adjusted to reflect the stock spht, with the number of shares in the
ullimate parent increasing by double, and the exercise price will decrease proporfionately (by halfy tn
accordance with FRS 20 the split has been accounted for as a change in stock option scheme

The foliowing table iliustrates the number {No) and weighted average exercisa price (WAEP) of share
options autstanding during the year, adjusted to reflect the two for one spit effective 1 June 2011,
inclusive of ESPP grants

2011 2011 2010 2010

No WAEP No WAEP
Qutstanding at 1 January azzn £5 67 803,096 £2499
Impact of shara splt as12n - - -
Granted during period 314,233 £13 16 124,060 £14193
Cancallad during period 13,480 £7 80 30,366 £6 39
Exercised dunng panod 370,316 £11 85 562,519 £248
Qutstanding at end of parnod 592,979 £7 71 331,271 £5 87
Exercisable at end of perlod 225,388 £3 81 197,201 £aa1

-12.




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

5. Share based paymaents {(continued)

The model inputs were

2011 2010 20089 2008
Welghted average share price at grant dete (£) £14 18 £1332 £4 57 £3 88
Weighted average exercise pnca (£) £14 19 £13 32 £6 08 £4 07
Dividend yield (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility (%) 46 63% 40 76% 50 57% 45 41%
Risk fraa interast rate (%) 153% 187% 145% 2 86%
Expected life of options {years) 458 458 468 4 53
Falr Value (£) £5 51 £487 £1 82 £133

Expected volatifity, measured at the annualised standard deviation of expecled share price returns, was
determined by calculating the historical and implied volatiity of the Company's share price over the
previous years

The Company recognised a total expense of £5634,179 (2010 £347,968) in the Income statement n
respect of these equity setlied share-based payment transactions

6. Taxation

2011 2010
£ £
Analysis of tax charge in the year
Current tax {see note below)
Adjustments In respect of pnor penods - (28,720)
- {29.720)
Foreign {ax on Income for the year 112,720 254,947
Foreign tax adjustments in respect of prior periods 108,185 (140,751}
Total current tax 221,905 84,476
Deferred tax (see nole 11)
Ongination and reversal of timing differences 1,358 -
Tax an profit on ordinary activities 223,263 84,476

-13-




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

6. Taxatlon {continued)

Factors afecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the yaar s higher than (2010 - the same as) the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 26 5% (2010 - 28%) The differences are explained below

2011 2010
£ £
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 107,268 413,850
Profit on ordinary activities multiplted by standard rate of
carparation tax in the UK of 26 5% (2010 - 28%) 28428 115,822
Effects of.
Non-tax deduchible expenses 950,450 26,649
Caplial altowances for year in excess of depreciation (4,189) (2.445)
Share schame deduction under Schedule 23 (1,127,802) (248,234)
Higher rate taxes on overseas earnmngs 112,721 183,562
Ad)ustments to tax charge in respect of prior perods 109,185 (170,471)
Unreleved tax losses carried forward 22,207 179,593
Other timing differences leading to an increase m the tax charge 130,907 -
Curront tax charge for the year (see note ahove) 221905 84,476
Factors that may affect future tax charges
There were no factors that may affect future tax charges
7. Tangible fixed assets
Computer
equipmant
£
Cost
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 4,089
Depreciation
At 1 January 2011 2,347
Charge for the year 808
At 31 Dacember 2011 3,255
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 B34
———————————
At 31 December 2010 1,742
———————

-14-




FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

8 Fixed asset Investments

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011

Net book value
At 31 December 2011

At 31 Decemher 2010

Subsidrary undertakings

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the company

Name Class of shares
Fortinet Sarl Ordinary shares
Fortingl GmbH Ordinary shares

Fortinet Sarl are incorporated in France, and Fortinet GmbH ts incorporated in Germany

Investments
in
subsidiary
companles
£

24,858

24,858

24 858

Holding

100%
100%

The aggregate of the share capitat and reserves as at 31 December 2011 and of the profit or loss for the

year ended on that date for the subsidiary underiakings were as follows

Aggregate of

share capital
Name and reserves Profit
£ £
Fortinet Sarl 2,108,389 379,713
Fortinet GmbH 294,768 62,297

[—— ]

9. Debtors

2011 2010
£ €
Amounts owed by group ungdertakings 2,073,259 1,613,263
Other debtors 61,857 37,938
Tax recoverable 214,846 84,225
Prepayments and accrued income 28,790 21,537
Deferred tax asset (see nate 11) 5,507 6,865
2,384,259 1,763,828

-15.
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FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

10.

11

12

13

Craditors
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Social secunty and olher taxes
Accruals and deferred income

Deferred tax asset

At beginming of year
{Decrease)/Increase in the year
At end of year

The deferred 1ax asset relates to accelerated capital allowances

Share capital

Authorised
100,000 Ordinary shares shares of £1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
1 Ordinary shares share of £1

Reserves

At 1 January 2011

Lass for the year

Movement on other reserves
Exchange rate adjustment on reserves

Al 31 December 2011

2011 2010

£ £

18,591 4,850
104,095 .

524,970 991,501

1,185,417 1,155,563

1,833,073 2,151,914

2011 2010

£ £

6,865 6,865
{1,358) -

5,507 6,865

2011 2010

£ £

100,000 100,000

Other Profit and
reserves loss account

£ £

875,159 624,985

- (115,995)
534,179 -

. {2,235)

1,409,338 508,755

. 16-
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FORTINET UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

14

15,

16.

17

Reconciliation of mevement it sharehoiders’ funds

2011 2010

£ £

Opening shareholders' funds 1,500,145 783,308
(Loss)/profil for the year (115,995) 329,174
Other recognised gains and losses dunng the year (2.235) 39,697
Capital contnbution reserve 534,179 347,968
Clastng shareholders' funds 1,916,094 1,500,145

Operating lease commitments

At 31 Decamber 2011 the company had annual commitmants under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows

Land and bulldings

201 2010
£ £
Expiry date:
Within 1 year 120,980 92,694
Between 2 and 5 years 87,737 -

Ralated party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in Financral Reporting Standard Number 8 from the
requirement o disclose transactions with group companies on the grounds that consolidated financial
statements are prepared by the ultimate parent company,

Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The ultimate parent company is Forinet Inc, a company registered in the United States of America
Copies of the consolidated financial stalements of Forlinet Inc are available from 1090 Kifer Road,
Sunnyvale, CA 54086, USA

17 -
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FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
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ITEM 1. Business

Overview

We provide network secunty solutions that are designed to address the fundamental problems of an increasingly bandwidth-intensive
network environment and a more sophisticated information technology (“IT”) threat landscape Through our products and subscnption services,
we provide broad, integrated and high performance protection aganst dynamic secunty threats while simplifying the IT secunty infrastructure
for enterprises, service providers and governmental entiies worldwide QOur flagship Unified Threat Management ("UTM") solution consists of
our FortiGate physical and virtual appliance products that provide a broad array of secunty and networking functions, including firewall, VPN,
application control, anuvirus, intruston prevenuon, Web filtenng, vulnerability management, anuspam, wireless controller, and WAN
acceleration Our FortiGate appliances, from the FortiGate-40 for small businesses and branch offices to the FortiGate-5000 series for large
enterprises and service providers, are based on our proprietary technology platform This platform includes our FortiASICs, which are
specificaily designed for accelerated processing of secunty and networking functions, and our FortiOS operating system, which provides the
foundauon for all of our secunity functions Our FortiGuard security subscription services provide end-customers with access to dynamic updates
to our application control, antivirus, intrusion prevention, Web filtering and antispam functionality based on intelligence gathered by our
dedicated ForuGuard Labs team By combining multiple proprietary secunty and networking functions with our purpose-built FornASIC and
FortiOS, our FortiGate UTM solution dehivers broad protection against dynamic secunty threats while reducing the operational burden and costs
associated with managing multiple poant products

We complement our FortiGate product line with the FortiManager product family, which enables end-customers to manage the system
configuration and secunty functions of multiple Fort:Gate devices from a centralized console, as well as the FortiAnalyzer product farmily, which
enables collection, analysis and archiving of content and log data generated by our products We also offer other product hnes that provide
addional protection, such as (1) Forh AP, secure wireless access points, (11) ForiWeb, security for Web-based apphications, (1) FortiMail,
multi-featured, high performance messaging securtty, (1v) FortiDB, centrally managed database-specific security, {v) FortiClient, endpoint
security for desktops, laptops and mobnle devices and that 1s pnmanly used in conjunction with our FortiGate applhiances, (v1) FortiScan,
endpoint vulnerability assessment and remediation, (vi) FortiSwitch, Ethernet switches, (viu) ForiBndge, bypass apphances to help ensure
network availability, (1x) FortiAuthenticator, scalable secure authenticauon for enterpnise networks, (x) FortiBalancer, optimizing the availabihity
and performance of mobile, cloud, and enterprise applications, (xi) FortiCache, reducing the cost of and impact of cached nternet content, and
(x11) FortiDNS, providing secure DNS caching

Addihonally, we offer virtual apphances for the FortiGate, FortiManager, FortiAnalyzer, FortitWeb, FortiMail, and ForiScan product
lines These virtual apphances help secure network infrastructures with the same functionality as the traditional physical appliances tn their
respective product lines They can be used 1n conjunction with traditional Fortinet appliances (such as FortiGate, ForiManager, and
FortiAnalyzer) to help ensure the visibility, management, and protection of physical and virtual environments

As of December 31, 2011, we had shipped over 850,000 apphiances via more than 10,000 channel partners to more than 125,000 end-
customers worldwide, including a majority of the 2011 Fortune Global 100

We were incorporated in Delaware in November 2000 Our principal executive office 15 located at 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale,
Cahfornia 94086 and our telephone number at that location 1s (408) 235-7700

Technology and Archutecture

Our proprietary FornASIC hardware architecture, FortiOS operating system and associated secunty and networking functions combine
to form a platform that integrates securnty features and enables our products to perform sophisticated secunty processing for networks with high
throughput requirements

ForttASIC

Our ForuASIC family of Application-Specific Integrated Circuits, or ASICs, 1s compnsed of three hnes of processors FornASIC
content processor, or CP, the ForttASIC network processor, or NP, and the FortASIC system-on-a-chup, or SOC These custom ASICs are
designed to enhance the sophisticated secunity processing capabilities implemented 1n software by accelerating the computation-intensive tasks
such as firewall policy enforcement or IPS anomaly detection This architecture provides the flexibility of implementing accelerated processing
of new threat detection without requiring a new ASIC release The ForuASIC
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CP 15 currently included in most of our entry-level and atl of our mid-range and high-end FortiGate appliances The FortiASIC NP 1s currently
included 1n some of our mid-range and high-end FortiGate apphances, delivering further accelerated firewall and VPN performance The
FortASIC SOC s currently included in our entry-level FortiGate-20 and -40 product families

Fornn0O§

Our For10S operating system provides the foundation for the operation of ali ForhGate apphances, from the core kernel functions to
the security processing feature sets FortiQS provides muluple layers of secunty including a hardened kernel layer providing protection for the
FortiGate system, a network secunty layer providing secunty for end-customers® network infrastructures, and apphication content protection
providing security for end-customers’ workstations and applications ForttOS directs the operations of processors and ASICs as well as
providing system management functions such as command-line and graphical user interfaces We make available updates to the FortOS through
our FortiCare support services ForiOS also enables advanced, integrated routing and switching, atlowing end-customers to deploy ForiGate
devices within a wide vanety of networks, as well as providing a direct replacement solution option for tegacy switching and routing equipment
The FortiOS ymplements a surte of commeonly used routing protocols as well as address translation technologies, allowing the FornGate
appliance to mntegrate and operate 1n a wide vaniety of network environments Additional features include Virtual Domain, or VDOM,
capabihities and traffic queuing and shaping, enabling administrators to set the appropriate configurations and policies that meet their
frastructure needs FortiQS$ also provides capabilities for logging of traffic for forensic analysis purposes which are particularly important for
regulatory comphance nitatives Iike PCI DSS FortiQS's packet classification, queue disciplines, policy enforcement, congestion management,
and other traffic optimization functionality are designed to help control network traffic in order to optimize performance

Our FortiOS mcorporates the following eight core secunity and networking technologies

. Frrewall Our firewall technology delivers high performance network and application firewalhing, including the ability to
enforce policies based on apphcation behavior and content Our technology 1dentifies traffic patterns independent of port or
protocol used, and links them to the use of specific applications, enabhing visibility and control over application behavior
(explained 1n more detail below) By coupling application intelligence with firewall technology, the FortiGate platform 1s able
to deliver real-time security with integrated application content level inspection, thereby simphfying security deployments

. Virtual Private Network Our advanced VPN technolagy provides secure communications between multiple networks and
hosts, through both secure socket layer, or SSL., and IPsec VPN technologies, leveraging our custom FerttASIC to provide
hardware acceleration for high-performance communications and data privacy

. Application Control Our application control technology allows our end customers to define granular network-based
application policies in over 1,800 applications, providing additional visibility and control over application access, user
behavior within applications, and application content

. Antrvirus  Our antivirus technology provides protection against malware, including viruses, spyware and trojans
. Intrusion Prevention System Our IPS technology provides protection against current and emerging network level threats
. Web Filtering  Our Web filtening automation technology works in concert with our research team to collect, anatyze and

categonze websites 10 provide real-time protection through website ratings and categonization Qur Web filtering technology 15
a pro-active defense feature that 1dentifies known locations of malware and blocks access to these malicious sources

. Antispam  We employ a vanety of antispam techniques to detect and block spam These techmques include a hosted service
performing algonithmic vahdations of messages against known spam messages, sophisticated reputation service designed to
evaluate and track valid email sources and destinations, intelligent image scanning to evaluate the validity of images and
dynamic heunistic rules to allow messages to be evaluated based on content within each message

. WAN Acceleration  Our storage-enabled and storage-ready FortiGate apphances provide the ability to accelerate network
traffic across the wide area network by implementing a combination of application content caching and protocol optimization
techmques
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In addition to the eight core secunty and netwerking functions mentioned above, we also incorporate additional technologies within
FortiGate appliances that differenuate our UTM solution, including

. Data Leakage Prevention (DLP) Our DLP technology provides the ability to define rules based on corporate policies, and
consequently detect and help prevent confidential data from being distributed outs:de of the corporate network

. Traffic opumization Our traffic opumization technology combines quality of service techniques with traffic shaping to provide
better service lo selected network traffic based on customer policigs without causing interruptions to other traffic

. SSL mspection Our SSL inspection technology provides the ability to decrypt SSL apphicauon content for processing by the
ForutOS The ability to mnspect encrypted SSL content enables our customers to ensure protection from malware that would be
otherwise hidden from traditional secunty products, and enforce the full complement of secunty and networking features
available within ForttOS

. Vulnerability Management Our vulnerability management technology enables the FortiGate platform to perform netwoerk
scans to discover systems on a network, 1dentity vulnerabilities and recommend steps for remediation The FortiGate devices
can store the results of the scans locally, or send the results from muluple FortiGate devices to a central FortiAnalyzer for
aggregation and analysis

. Wireless Controller Our wireless controller technology provides the ability to deploy Fort AP wireless access points to create
a secure wireless network Forti AP access points tunnel all wireless traffic to ForiGate or ForttWhFi platforms, enabling end-
customers to use a single secunty platferm to manage all wired and wireless network traffic

Products

Our core product offerings consist of our ForiGate UTM product family, along with our FortiManager central management and
FortiAnalyzer central logging and reporting product families, both of which are typically purchased to complement a large FortiGate
deployment

FortiGate

Our flagship FortiGate physical and virtual apphances offer a broad set of secunty and networking funcuions, including firewall, VPN,
application control, anttvirus, imtrusion prevention, Web filtering, antispam and WAN accelerauon All ForuGate models are based on our
proprietary operating system, FortiOS, and substantially all FortiGate physical apphances include our propnietary Fort1ASICs to accelerate
content and network secunity features implemented within ForttOS  FortiGate platforms can be centrally managed through both embedded Web-
based and command line interfaces, as well as through FortiManager which provides a central management architecture for thousands of
FortiGate physical and virtual appliances

By combining multiple network security functions in our purpose-butlt security platform, the ForuGate provides high quality protection
capabilities and deployment flexibility while reducing the operational burden and costs associated with managing multiple point preducts
Through FortiGuard secunity subscniption services, our products enable end-customers to add secunty functionality as required by their evelving
business needs and the changing threat landscape By purchasing FortiGuard security subscnption services, end-customers obtain coverage and
access to regular updates for apphication contrel, antivirus, IPS, Web filtering and antispam functions for their FortiGate appliances With over
30 models in the FortiGate product hne, ForuGate 1s designed to address secunty requirements for small-to-mid sized businesses, remote offices,
large enterprises, and service providers

Each FortiGate model runs our FortiQS operating system, and substantially all FortiGate physical appliances include our FortiASIC CP
The sigmificant differences between each model are the performance and scalability targets each model 15 designed to meet, while the security
features and associated services offered are common throughout all models

The FortiGate-20 through -100 senes models are designed for perimeter protection for small- to mud-sized businesses, remote offices of
large distributed organizations and as customer premises equipment for service providers Optional wireless LAN, or WLAN, integration 1s

available for the FortiGate-20, -40, -60 and -80 models, marketed as ForttW1F1, delivering additional network access and secunty for wireless
environments
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The FortiGate-200 through -800 senes models are designed for perimeter deployment in mid-sized to large enterprise networks These
products offer increased capacity and scalabihty designed to provide high network performance while delivering the same broad secunty suite as
all ForuGate models Additionally, the FortiGate-319 and -620 models provide hardware modulanity, allowing end-customers the flexibility to
custormize solutions to their requirements

The FortiGate-1000 through -5000 senes models deliver high performance and scalable network security functionality for penimeter,
data center and core deployment in large enterprise and service provider networks Addinonally, most of these products provide hardware
modulanty, allowing end-customers the flexibility to custonmize solutions Lo their requirements Some products within the ForuGate-3000 and -
5000 senes leverage Advanced Mezzanme Card, or AMC, industry standards for hardware modularization to support the advanced networking
requirements of large enterprises and service providers, including high-speed networking, WAN connectivity, and network attached storage
connectivity The FortiGate-3950B platform also leverages our propnetary Forunet Mezzanine Card, or FMC, that provides hardware medulanty
to give end-customers the ability to add additional firewall and/or intrusion prevention performance, or increase the number of interfaces, as their
network secunity needs evolve The FortiGate-5000 sertes 1s also compatible with the Advanced Telecommunications Computing Architecture,
or ATCA, standard, resulting 1n a flexible hardware platform for system modulanity This medulanzation gives end-customers the ability to
deploy an mitial FortiGate configuration with room to grow as their network security needs evolve The inclusion of network load balancing and
advanced switching functionality provides additional flexibility 1n how end-customers utihze the FortitGate modules within the FortlGate chassis
In addition, our FortiGate-5000 senes ATCA blades can be utilized in other third-party vendors’ industry standard ATCA chassis, allowing
FortiGate platforms to be deployed inte a much wider range of network solutions Qur FortiGate-5000 senes appliances offer modular, chassis-
based architecture based on the ATCA and AMC mdustry standards We brand a subset of our FortiGate-3000 and -5000 senes products as
FortiCarmer to reflect products specifically targeting a subset of service providers These products add incremental security, networking and
management functionality often utilized in service provider deployments

FortuGate System Virtualization (VDOM)

In addition to providing network and content level security, our FortiOS operating system also offers system virtualization
capabilities—the ability to “divide” a security appliance into multiple, separately provisioned and managed instances This capability 1s currently
deployed in substantially all of our ForuGate preducts as our virtual domain, or VDOM, feature, where admimstrators have the ability to
segment a single FortiGate appliance platform into multiple ForttGate mstances Network secunity system virtuahzation, using our VDOM
feature, provides 1solation between each virtual system, giving administrators flexibility in configuration and traffic management capabilities for
each virtual instance

Fortimet Management and Analysis Products

Our FortiManager and FortiAnalyzer physical and virtual products are typically sold in conjunction with a large ForuGate deployment

FortiManager

Our FortiManager family of products provides a central management solution for our FortiGate products, including the wide variety of
network and secunity features offered within FortnOS One FortiManager product 1s capable of effecively managing thousands of ForuGate
units, and also provides central management for FortiClient software FortiManager facilitates the coordination of policy-based provisioning,
device configuration and operating system revision management, as well as network secunty monmiterning and device control

FortiAnalyzer

Our FortiAnalyzer family provides network logging, analyzing, and reporung products that securely aggregate content and log data
from our FortiGate devices and other Fortinet products as well as third-party devices to enable network logging, analysis and reporting
Additional functions such as vulnerability assessments and traffic analysis provide additional value for customers seeking to control and monitor
their network infrastructure and secunty policies A full range of content and log data, including traffic, event, virus, attack, Web content, and
email data may be archived, filtered and mined for comphance or historical analysis purposes Our FortiAnalyzer product family comes with a
suite of standard reports as well as the ability to customize reports

We also offer other physical and virtual apphances and software that protect our end-customers from security threats to other critical

areas in the enterprise, such as messaging, Web-based applications and databases, and employees' computers or mobile devices as discussed
above in the business overview
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Services
FortiGuard Security Subscription Services

Secunty requirements are dynamic due to the constantly changing nature of threats Our FortiGuard Labs global threat research team,
comprised of over 125 professionals, uses automated processes to identify emerging threats, collects threat samples, and replicates, reviews and
characterizes attacks Based on this research, we develop updates for virus signatures, attack definttions, scanning engines, and other security
solution components to distribute to end-customers through our ForiGuard global distnbution network Our FortiGuard security subscription
services are designed to allow us to quickly deliver new threat detection capabilities 1o end-customers worldwide as new threats evolve End-
customers purchase FortiGuard secunty subscription services in advance, typically for a one-year term, to obtain coverage and access to regular
updates for application control, antrvirus, mtrusion prevention, Web filterning, and antispam functions for our FortiGate products, antivirus, Web
filtering and anuispam functions for our FortiChient software, antivirus and antispam functions for our FortiMail products, vulnerability
management for our FortiGate, FortiAnalyzer and FortiScan products, database functions for our FortiDB appliance, and web functions for our
FortiWeb apphances We provide FortiGuard services 24 hours a day, seven days a week

FortiCare Technical Support Services

Our FortiCare services are our techmcal support services for the software, firmware and hardware 10 our products [n addition to our

standard support service offering, we offer a premium service that offers faster response times and dedicated support onented towards major
accounts

For our standard techmical support offering for our products, channel partners often provide first level support to the end-customer,
especially for small and mid-sized end-customers, and we typically provide second and third level support to our end-customers We also
previde knowledge management tools and customer self-help portals to help augment our support capabiliues 1n an efficient and scalable
manner We provide technical support to partners and end-customers 24 hours a day, seven days a week through regional technical support
managers located worldwide

Tranmng Services

We offer traiming services to our end-customers and channel partners through our training depariment and authonzed traming partners
We have also implemented a traiming certification program to ensure an understanding of our products and services As of December 31,
2011, more than 20,000 individuals have participated in our traming programs

Professional Services

We offer professional services to end-customers primarily for large implementations where expert technical resources are required Qur
professional services consultants help in the design of deployments of our products and work closely with end-customer engineers, managers and

other project team members to implement our products according to design, utilhzing network analysis tools, attack simulation software and
sScripts

Customers

We sell our secunty solutions through channel partners to end-customers of vanous sizes—from small businesses to large enterprises
and service providers—and across a vanety of industries mcluding telecommumications, government, financial services, retail, education,
technology, healthcare and manufacturing An end-customer deployment may involve one of our appliances or thousands, depending on our end-
customers’ size and secunty requirements As of December 31, 2011, we had shipped over 850,000 applances via more than 10,000 channel
partners to more than 125,000 end-customers worldwide, including a majonty of the 2011 Fortune Global 100 For addiional information

regarding our sales by customer location, see Note 15 to our Consohdated Financial Statements in Part 1, ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K

Dunng fiscal 2009, one channel partner, Alternative Technology, Inc , a subsidiary of Arrow Electronics, Inc , accounted for
approximately 12% of total revenue During fiscal 2010 and 2011, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue
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Sales and Markeung

We primarily sell our products and services directly to distnbutors that sell to resellers and service providers, that, 1 turn, sell to our
end-customers In certain cases, we sell directly to government focused resellers, very large service providers and majer systems integrator
pariners who have large purchasing power and umque customer deployment demands As of December 31, 2011, our distnbution channel
program had more than 10,000 channel partners worldwide We work with many of the world’s leading technology distributors, including Arrow
Electronics, Inc , Ingram Micro Inc and Tech Data Corporation

We support our channel partners with a team of experienced channel account managers, sales professionals and sales engineers who
provide business planning, joint marketing strategy, and pre-sales and operational sales support Additionally, our sales team often helps dnive
and support large enterprise and service provider sales through a direct touch model Qur sales professionals and engineers typically work
alongside our channel partners and directly engage with end-customers to address their umque secunty and deployment requirements Qur sales
cycle for an imitial end-customer purchase typically ranges from three to s1x months but can be longer especially for large enterprises, service
providers and government customers To support our broadly dispersed global channel and end-customer base, we have sales offices 1 over 30
countnes around the world

Our marketing strategy 1s focused on building our brand and driving end-customer demand for our secunty solutions We execule this
strategy by leveraging a combination of internal marketing professionals and a network of regtonal and global channel partners Our internal
marketing orgamzation 1s responsible for branding, product marketing, channel marketing and sales support programs We focus our resources
on programs, tools and acuvities that can be leveraged by partners worldwide to extend our marketing reach, such as sales tools and collateral,

product awards and technical certifications, training, regional seminars and conferences, webinars and various other demand-generation
activities

Manufacturing and Suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our secunty appliance products to a vanety of contract manufacturers and original design
manufacturers Our current manufacturing partners include Flextronics International Ltd , Micro Star Intemational, Ltd , Creation Technologies,
[nc and a number of Taiwan-based manufacturers We submit purchase orders to our contract manufacturers that describe the type and
quantities of our products to be manufactured, the delivery date and other delivery terms Once our products are manufactured, they are sent to
either our headquarters 1in Sunnyvale, California, or to our logistics partner in Taoyuan City, Tarwan, where accessory packagmg and quahty-
control testing are performed We believe that outsourcing our manufacturing and a substantial pertion of our logistics enables us to conserve
capital, better adjust manufactunng volumes to meet changes 1n demand and more quickly deliver products, while allowing us to focus resources
on our core competencies Qur propnetary FortiASICs, which are the key to the performance of our appliances, 1s fabricated by contract
manufacturers in foundries operated by UMC and TSMC Faraday {using UMC’s foundry), K-Micro (using TSMC’s foundry) and Renesas
(using UMC's foundry) manufacture our ASICs on a purchase order basis Accordingly, they are not obligated to continue to fulfill our supply
requirements, and the prices we are charged for the fabrication of our ASICs could be increased on short notice

The components included 1n our products are sourced from various suppliers by us or more frequently by our contract manufacturers
Some of the components important to our business, including specific types of central processing units from Intel, AMD, RMI/NetLogic and
VIA and network chips from Broadcom, Marvell and Intel, and hard dnves from Western Digital Technologies, are available from a hmated or
sole source of supply

We have no long-term contracts related to the manufacturing of our ASICs or other components that guarantee any capacity or pricing
terms

For imformation regarding the geographical disbursement of our long-lived assets, see Note 15 to our Consohdated Financial Statements
in Part I, Irem § of thus Annual Report on Form 10-K

Research and Development

We focus our research and development efforts on developing new products and systems, and adding new features to existing products
and systems Qur development strategy 1s to 1dentify features, products and systems for both software and hardware that are, or are expected to
be, needed by our end-customers Our success in designing, developing, manufacturing and selling new or enhanced products will depend on a
variety of factors, including the 1dentification of market demand for new products, product selection, umely implementation of product design
and development, product performance, effective manufactunng and assembly processes and sales and marketing

As of December 31, 2011, our research and development orgamization had headeount of 497 people predomnantly in

6
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Canada, the United States and China Our research and development expense was $63 6 million in fiscal 2011, $49 8 mullion 1n fiscal 2010 and
$42 2 million 1n fiscal 2009

Intellectual Property

We rely pnimanly on patent, trademark, copynght and trade secrets laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to
protect our technology As of December 31, 2011, we had 76 1ssued U 8 patents, 12 1ssued Chinese patents, 1 1ssued Japanese patent, 96 patent
applications pending for examination in the United States and 20 patent apphcations pending for examination in China We also license software
from third parties for inclusion m our products, including oper source software and other software available on commerciatly reasonable terms

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary nghts, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, vendors and
customers, and generally limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information However, we cannot assure you that the steps taken by
us will prevent misappropriation of our technology In addition, the laws of some foreign countnes do not protect our propnetary nghts to as
great an extent as the laws of the United States, and many foreign countnes do not enforce these laws as diligently as government agencies and
private partics in the United States

Our industry 1s characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related liigation regarding patent
and other intellectual property nghts In particular, leacing companies in the networking industry have extenstve patent portfolios From time-to-
ume, third parties, including certain of these leading companies, have asserted and may assert patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual
property nghts aganst us, our channel partners ot our end-customers Successful clarms of infringement by a third party could prevent us from
distnibuting certam products or performing certain services or require us to pay substantial damages (including treble damages if we are found to
have willfully infringed patents or copynghts), royalties or other fees Even f third parties may offer a license to their technology, the terms of
any offered license may not be acceptable and the failure to obtain a license or the costs associated with any hcense could cause our busimess,
operating results or financial condition to be matenally and adversely affected We typically indemmfy our end-customers, distnbutors and
certain resellers aganst claims that our products infringe the ntellectual property of third parties

Competition

The markets for our products are extremely competitive and are charactenzed by rapid technological change The principal competitive
factors in our markets include the following

. product performance, features, effectiveness, interoperability and rehability,
. technological expertise,

. price of products and services and total cost of ownership,

. brand recogmition,

. customer service and support,

. sales and distribution capabilities,

. compliance with industry standards and certifications,

. size and financial stabihity of operations, and

. breadth of product hne

Our competitors include networking companies such as Cisco Systems, Inc , Juniper Networks, Inc , and secunty vendors such as
Check Pont Software Technologies Ltd , McAfee Inc (acquired by Intel Corporauion), and SomcWALL, Inc (acquired by Thoma Bravo), Palo
Alto Networks, and other point solution secunty vendors

We believe we compete favorably based on our products’ performance, reliability and breadth, our ability to add and integrate new
networking and security features and our technological expertise Several competitors are sigmficantly larger, have greater financial, technical,
marketing, distribution, customer support and other resources, are more established than we are, and
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have significantly better brand recognition Some of these larger competitors have substantially broader product offerings and leverage their
relationships based on other products or incorporate functionality into exisung products in a manner that discourages users from purchasing our
products Based in part on these competitive pressures, we may lower prices or attempt to add incremental features and functionality

Conditions n our markets could change rapidiy and significantly as a result of technological advancements or continuing market
consohdauon The development and market acceptance of alternative technologies could decrease the demand for our products or render them
obsolete Our competitors may mtroduce products that are less costly, provide supenior performance or achieve greater market acceplance than
our products [n addition, our larger competitors often have broader product lines and market focus, are 1n a belter position to withstand any
significant reduction in capital spending by end-customers in these markets, and will therefore not be as susceptible to downturns in a particular
market The above competitive pressures are likely to continue to impact our business We may not be able to compete successfully m the future,
and competition may harm our business

Employees

As of December 31, 2011 , our total headcount was 1,583 people including payrolled contractors We had 497 in research and
development, 593 1n sales and marketing, 352 1n services and support, 29 1 manufactunng operattons, and 112 1n a general and admimistrative

capacity As of December 31, 2011, our headcount was 387 people in the United States, 555 m Canada, 89 n France, 192 in China and 360 1n
other countries

None of our US employees are represented by a labor union with respect to his or her employment with us, however, our employees n
France, Spatn and italy are represented by collective bargaining agreements We have not expenenced any work stoppages, and we consider our
relations with our employees to be good

Available Information

Our web site 1s located at www fortinet com, and our investor relations web site 1s located at http /imvestor fortinet com The
information posted on our website 15 not incorporated 1nto this Annual Report on Form 10-K Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on our investor relations web site as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electromcally file such matenal with, or furmsh 1t to, the SEC You may also access all of our public filings through the SEC’s website
at www sec gov Further, a copy of thus Annual Report on Form 10-K 15 located at the SEC's Pubhc Reference Room at 100 F Sireet, NE,
Washington, D C 20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtammed by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330

We webcast our earnungs calls and certain events we participate 1n or host with members of the investment community on our investor
relations web site Addiuionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings,
mvestor events, press and earnings releases, as part of our investor relations web site The contents of these web sites are not intended to be
meorporated by reference into this report or in any other report or document we file

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk You should carefully consider the following risks and all other
mformation contatned in this 10-K, meluding our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, before investing m our common stock
The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face Addittonal risks and uncertamnties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently beleve are not material, also may become important factors that affect us If any of the following risks materialize, our bustness,
financial conduion and results of operations could be materially harmed In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and
you may lose some or all of your mvestment

Risks Related to Our Business
Our quarterly operating resulls are hkely to vary sigmificantly and be unpredictable

Our operating results have tistonically vaned from period to penod, and we expect that they will continue to do so as aresult of a
number of factors, many of which are outside of our centrol and may be difficult to predict, including

. the level of demand for our products and services,
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the urming of channel partner and end-customer orders,

the timing of shipments, which may depend on many factors such as nventory levels and logistics, our ability to ship new
products on schedule and accurately forecast inventory requirements, and potential delays in the manufacturing process,

inventory imbalances, such as those related to new products and the end of hfe of existing products,

the mix of products sold, the mix of revenue between products and services and the degree to which products and services are
bundled and sold together for a package price,

the budgeting cycles and purchasing practices of our channel partners and end-customers,
seasonal buying patterns of our end-customers,

the iming of revenue recognition for our sales, which may be affected by both the mix of sales by our “sell-in™ versus our
“sell-through” channe! partners, and by the extent to which we bring on new distributors,

the accuracy and iming of point of sale reporting by our sell-through distributors, which impacts our ability to recognize
Tevenue,

the level of perceived threats to network security, which may fluctuate from peried to penod,
changes in end-customer, distributor or reseller requirements or market needs,
changes n the growth rate of the network secunty or UTM markets,

the urming and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the
competitive landscape of our industry, including consolidation among our competitors or end-customers,

deferral of orders from end-customers 1n anticipation of new products or product enhancements announced by us or cur
competitors,

increases or decreases 1n our expenses caused by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as a significant portion of our

expenses are incurred and paid in currencies other than the U S dollar,

decisions by potential end-customers to purchase network security solutions from larger, more established secunity vendors or
from their primary network equipment vendors,

price competition,
changes 1n customer renewal rates for our services,
changes 1n the length of services contracts sold,

selvency or credit difficulties confronting our customers, affecting their ability to purchase or pay for our producis and
Services,

disruptions 1n our channel or termination of our relationship with important channel partners,
nsolvency or credit difficulues confronting our key suppliers, which could disrupt our supply chain,
general economic conditions, both domestically and in our foreign markets, and

future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors referred to above may result in sigmificant
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fluctuations in our quarterly financial and other operating results, mcluding fluctuations in our key metncs This vanabihity and unpredictability
could result in our falling to meet our internal operating plan or the expectations of securities analysts or investors for any period If we fail to
meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our shares could fall substantially and we could face costly
lawswits, including securities class action swits [n addition, a significant percentage of our operating expenses are fixed 1 nature and based on
forecasted revenue trends Accordingly, in the event of revenue shortfalls, we are generally unable to mutigate the negative impact on margins in
the short term

Qur billings and revenue growth may slow ar may not continue

We may not be able to sustain profitability n future penods 1f we fail to increase bitlings, revenue or deferred revenue, do not
appropnately manage our cost structure, or encounter unanticipated liabilihies Billings and revenue growth may slow or decline for a number of
reasons, including a slow down 1n demand for our products or services, an increase i competition, a decrease n the growth of our overall
market, sofiness in demand 1n certain geographes, or iIf we fail for any reason to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities Any failure by
us to maintain profitability and continue our billings and revenue growth could cause the price of eur common stock to matenally decline

Reliance on a conceniration of shipments at the end of the quarter could cause our revenue to fall below expected levels.

As a result of customer-buying patterns and the efforts of our sales force and channel partners to meet or exceed quarterly quotas, we
have histonically received a substantial portion of each quarter's sales orders and generated a substantial portion of each quarter’s revenue during
the last two weeks of the quarter If expected revenue at the end of any quarter 1s delayed for any reason, including the failure of anticipated
purchase orders to materialize, or our logistics partners’ mability to ship products prior to quarter-end to fulfill purchase orders received near the
end of the quarter, our failure to manage inventory to meet demand, our inabihity to release new products on schedule, any failure of our systems
related to order review and processing, or any delays m sipments based on trade comphance requirements, our revenue for that quarter could
fall below our expectations or those of securities analysts and investors, resultmg mn a decline i our stock price

We rely significantly on revenue from subscription and support services which may decline, and because we recognize revenue Jrom
subscriptions and support services over the term of the relevant service period, downturns or upturns in sales are not tmmediately reflected 1n
full in our eperating results

Our services revenue has histoncally accounted for a significant percentage of our total revenue Sales of new or renewal subscription
and services contracts may dechine and fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, ncluding end-customers' level of sansfaction with our
products and services, the prices of our products and services, the prices of products and services offered by our competitors or reductions in our
customers' spending levels If our sales of new or renewal subscription and services contracts dechne, our revenue and revenue growth may
decline and our business will suffer In addition, we recogmze subscription and service revenue monthly over the term of the relevant service
period, which 1s typically one year but has been as long as five years As a result, much of the revenue we report each quarter 1s the recognition
of deferred revenue from subscription and services contracts entered into during previous quarters Consequently, a decline in new or renewed
subscription or service contracts in any one quarter will not be fully reflected in revenue in that quarter but wall negatively affect our revenue in
future quarters Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in new or renewed sales of our subscriptions or services 1s not reflected m full in
our results of operations until future periods Our subseription and service revenue also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue
through additional service sales in any period, as revenue from new and renewal service contracts must be recognized over the applicable service
period Furthermore mereases in the average term of services contracts would result in revenue for services contracts being recognized over
longer periods of time

Managing inventory of our products and product components 1s complex. Insufficrent inventory may result n lost sales opportunities or
delayed revenue, while excess inventory may harm our gross margins.

Our channe! partners may mncrease orders during periods of product shortages, cancel orders 1f their inventory 1s too high, retum
product or take advantage of price protection (1f any), or delay orders in anticipation of new products They also may adjust their orders in
response to the supply of our products and the products of our competitors that are avatlable to them and m response to seasonal fluctuations 1n
end-customer demand Furthermore, 1f the ime required to manufacture certain preducts or ship products increases for any reason, this could
result in imventory shortfalls Management of our inventory 1s further complicated by the sigmficant number of different products and models
that we sell

In addition, for those channel partners that have nghts of return, inventory held by such channel partners affects our results of
operations QOur inventory management sysiems and related supply chain visibility tools may be inadequate to enable us to effectively manage
inventory Inventory management remains an area of focus as we balance the need to mamtam
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imventory levels that are sufficient to ensure competitive lead times agamst the risk of inventory obsolescence because of rapidly changing
technology and customer requirements If we ulumately determine that we have excess inventory, we may have to reduce our prices and write-
down nventory, which in turn could result in lower gross margins Alternatively, insufficient inventory levels may lead to shortages that result in
delayed revenue or loss of sales opportunities aliogether as potential end-customers turn to competuters’ products that are readily avatlable For
example, we expertenced inventory shortages in the third quarter of 2011, based largely on more demand for certain preducts than we had
forecast If we are unable to effectively manage our mventory and that of our distribution partners, our results of operations could be adversely
affected

We rely on third-party channel partners to generate substantielly all of our revenue If our partners fail to perform, our atility to sell our
products and services will be imited, and if we fail to optimuze our channel partner model going forward, our operanng results will be
harmed

Substantially all of our revenue 1s generated through sales by our channel partners, which include distnbutors and resellers We depend
upon our channel partners to generate sales opportumties and manage the sales process To the extent our channel partners are unsuccessful in
selling our products, or we are unable to enter into arrangements with, and retain, a sufficient number of hugh quality channel partners in each of
the regions 1n which we sell products, and keep them motivated 1o sell our products, our ability to sell our products and operating results will be
harmed The termination of our relationship with any significant channel pariner may adversely impact our sales and operating results

We provide sales channel partners with specific programs to assist them in selling our products, but there can be no assurance that these
programs wil] be effective [n addition, our channel partners may be unsuccessful 1n marketing, selling and supporting our products and services
Qur channel partners generally do not have mimimum purchase requirements They may also market, sell and support products and services that
are competitive with ours, and may devote more resources to the marketing, sales and support of such products They may have incentives to
promote our competitors' products to the detriment of our own They may cease selling our products altogether We cannot assure you that we
will retain these channel partners or that we will be able to secure additional or replacement partners The loss of one or more of our sigmificant
channel partners or the failure to obtain and ship a number of large orders each quarter through them could harm our operating results In
addition, any new sales channel partner will require extensive traiming and may take several months or more to achieve productivity Our channel
partner sales structure could subject us to lawsuits, potential liabihity and reputational harm 1f, for example, any of our channel pariners
misrepresent the functionality of our products or services to end-customers or our channel partners violate laws or our corporate policies If we
fail to optimize our channel partner medel or fail to manage existing sales channels, our business will be seriously harmed

If we are not successful in continuing to execute our strategy o increase our sales to larger end-customers, our results of operations may

suffer

Animportant part of our growth strategy 1$ to ncrease sales of our products to large enterprises, service providers and governmental
entities Sales to enterprises, service providers and governmental entities involve risks that may not be present (or that are present to a lesser
extent) with sales to small-to-mid-s1zed enuties These risks include

. mcreased competitton from larger competitors, such as Cisco Systems, Inc , Check Point Software Technologies Ltd , McAfee,
Inc (acquired by Intel Corporation), Jumper Networks, Inc , that traditionally target enterprises, service providers and
governmental entities and that may already have purchase commitments from those end-customers,

. increased purchasing power and leverage held by large end-customers 1n negotiating contractual arrangements,

. more stnngent requirements 1n our support service contracts, including stncter support response times, and increased penalties
for any failure to meet support requirements, and

. longer sales cycles and the associated nisk that substantial time and resources may be spent on a potential end-customer that
elects not to purchase our products and services

Large enterpnises, service providers and governmental entities often undertake a significant evaluation process that results in a lengthy
sales cycle, in some cases over 12 months Although we have a channel sales model, our sales representatives typically engage n direct
interaction with our distributors and resellers 1n connection with sales to larger end-customers Due to the lengthy nature, the size and scope, and
stringent requiremnents of these evaluations, we typically provide evaluation products to these customers We may spend substantial time, effort
and money 1n our sales efforts without being
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successful 1n producing any sales If we are unsuccessful in converting these evaluations into sales, we may experience an increased inventory of
used products and potentially increased write-offs In addition, product purchases by enterprises, service providers and governmental entities are
frequently subject to budget constraints, muluple approvals, and unplanned administrative, processing and other delays Finally, enterprise,
service providers and governmental entiies typically have longer implementation cycles, require greater product functionality and scalability and
a broader range of services, ncluding design services, demand that vendors take on a larger share of nsks, sometimes require acceptance
provisions that can lead to a delay in revenue recogmition, and expect greater payment flexibility from vendors All these factors can add further
nisk to business conducted with these customers If sales expected from a large end-customer for a particular quarter are not realized 1n that
quarter or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be matenally and adversely affected

The average sales prices of our products may decrease, which may reduce our gross profits and adversely impact our financial results and
the trading price of our common stock.

The average sales prices for our products may dechine for a vanety of reasons, including competitive pricing pressures, discounts we
offer, a change in our mix of products, anticipation of the ntroduction of new products or promotional programs Competition continues to
increase n the market segments 1n which we participate, and we expect competition 1o further increase in the future, thereby leading to increased
pricing pressures Larger competitors with more diverse product offerings may reduce the price of products that compete with ours 1 order to
promote the sale of other products or may bundle them with other products Additionally, although we price our products and services worldwide
mU S dollars, currency fluctuations in certain countries and regions may negatively impact actual prices that partners and customers are willing
to pay in those countries and regions Furthermore, we anticipate that the average sales prices and gross profits for our products will decrease
over product life cycles We cannot assure yeu that we will be successful in developing and mtroducing new offerings with enhanced
functionality on a timely basis, or that our product offerings, 1f introduced, will enable us to maintain our prices and gross profits at fevels that
will allow us 1o maintain profitability

Defects or vulnerabilities tn our products or services, the fatlure of eur products or services lo prevent a virus or security breach, or misuse of
our products could harm our reputation and divert resources.

Because our products and services are complex, they have contamned and may contain defects or errors that are not detected until after
thetr commercial release and deployment by our customers Defects or vulnerabiliies may impede or block network traffic or cause our products
or services to be vulnerable to electronic break-ins or cause them to fail to help secure networks Because the techmques used by computer
hackers to access or sabotage networks change frequently and generally are not recogmzed unti] launched against a target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques In addition, defects or errors m our FortiGuard subscription updates or our FortiGate appliances could result in a
failure of our FortiGuard services to effectively update end-customers' ForuGate apphances and thereby leave customers vulnerable to attacks
Furthermore, our solutions may also fail to detect or prevent viruses, worms or simtlar threats due 1o 2 number of reasons such as the evolving
nature of such threats and the continual emergence of new threats that we may fail to add to our ForuGuard databases in ume to protect our end-
customers' networks Our ForuGuard or FortiCare data centers and networks may also experience technical failures and downume, and may fail
to distribute appropniate updates, or fail to meet the increased requirements of a growing customer base Any such techmical failure, downtime, or
farlures 1n general may temporanly or permanently expose our end-customers’ networks, leaving thewr networks unprotected against the latest
securnity threats

An actual or perceived secunity breach or mfection of the network of one of our end-customers, regardless of whether the breach 1s
attributable to the failure of our products or services to prevent the secunity breach, could adversely affect the market's perception of our secunty
products We may not be able to correct any security flaws or vulnerabilities promptly, or at all Our products may also be misused by end-
customers or third parties who obtain access to our products For example, our products could be used to censor private access to certain
information on the Internet Such use of cur products for censorship could result 1n negative press coverage and negatively affect our reputation,
even 1f we take reasonable measures to prevent any improper shipment of our products or if our products are provided by an unauthonzed third-
party Any defects, errors or vulnerabihities in our products, or misuse of our products, could result in

. expenditure of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, ehmmate or work-around
errors or defects or to address and ehminate velneratliies,

. loss of existing or potential end-customers or channel pariners,
. delayed or lost revenue,
. delay or failure to attain market acceptance,
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. negative publicity, which will harm our reputation, and

. litgation, regulatory inquinies or mvestigations that may be costly and harm our reputation

Our business and operations have expertenced rapid growth, and if we do not appropriately manage any future growth, or are unable to
umprove our systems and processes, our operating results will be neganvely affected,

We have a high volume business that has grown over the last several years We rely heavily on information technology systems to help
manage critical functions such as order processing, revenue recognition, financial forecasts, inventory and supply chain management and trade
comphance reviews However, we have been slow to adopt and implement certain automated functions, like Electronie Data Interchange, which
could have a negative impact on our business For example, a large part of our order processing relies on the manual processing of emals
internally and from our customers Combined with the fact that we may receive a majonty of our orders in the last few weeks of any given
quarter, a significant interruption m our email service or other systems could result in delayed order fulfillment and decreased revenue for that
quarter To manage any future growth effectively, we must continue to improve and expand our information technology and financial
infrastructure, operating and admimstrative systems and controls, and continue to manage headcount, capital and processes in an efficient
manner We may not be able to successfully implement improvements 1o these systems and processes in a imely or efficient manner In
addition, our systems and processes may not prevent or detect all errors, omissions or fraud Our failure to improve our systems and processes, or
their farlure to operate n the tended manner, may result in our mability to manage the growth of our business and to accurately forecast our
revenue, cxpenses and earnings, or to prevent certan losses Qur productivity and the quality of our products and services may be adversely
affected 1f we do not integrate and train our new employees quickly and effectively Any future growth would add complexity to our
organization and require effective coordination throughout our organization Failure to manage any future growth effectively could result in
increased costs and harm our results of operations

If our estimates or Judgments relanng to our critical accounting polictes are based on assumptions that change or prove 1o be incorrect, our
operating results could fall below expectations of securities analysts and mvestors, resulting in a decline in our stock price

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported m the consohdated financial statements and accompanying notes We base our
estimates on historical expenence and on vanous other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ in this Form 10-K, the results of which form the
basts for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and lizbilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Our operating
results may be adversely affected 1f our assumptions change or 1f actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause
our operating results to fall below the expectations of secunties analysts and mvestors, resulung 1n a decline n our stock price Sigmficant
assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue recognition, stock-based
compensation, valuation of inventory, warranty habilities, and accounting for income taxes

We offer retroactive price protection to certain of our major distrnibuters, and if we fal to balance their mventory with end-customer demand
for our products, our allowance for price protection may be inadequate, which could adversely affect our resalts of operations

We provide certain of our major distnbutors with price protection nghts for inventones of our products held by them If we reduce the
list price of our products, certain distributors recerve refunds or eredits from us that reduce the price of such products held in their inventory
based upon the new hist price Future credits for pnice protection will depend on the percentage of our price reductions for the products in
ventory and our ability to manage the levels of our major distnbutors' mventones If future price protection adjustments are higher than
expected, our future results of operations could be matenally and adversely affected

If we are unable to hure, retain and motivate qualified personnel, our business will suffer

Our future success depends, 1n part, on our abulity to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel The loss of the services of
any of our key personnel, the mability to attract or retan qualified personnel, or delays in hinng required personnel, particularly m engineering
and sales, may seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations From time to time, we have expenenced turnover n
our management-level personnel None of our key employees has an employment agreement for a specific term, and any of our employees may

terminate their employment at any ime Our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled persennel will be cnitical to our future success
Competition for highly skilled
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personnel 1s frequently mtense, especially in the locations where we have a substantial presence and need for highly-skilted personnel the San
Francisco Bay Area, Vancouver, Canada and Beijing, China A large portion of our employee base 1s substantially vested 1n significant stock
option grants, and the abihity to exercise those options and sell their stock may result in a larger than normal turnover rate We may not be
successful n attracting, assimilating or retaiming quahified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs Also, to the extent we hire personnel
from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or divulged proprietary or other confidential
informantion

We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management, the loss of any of whom could adversely affect our
bustness, operanng results and financial condition.

Qur future performance depends on the continued services and continmng contributions of our semor management to execute ot our
business plan, and to idenufy and pursue new opportuniiies and product innovations The loss of services of sentor management, particularly
Ken Xie, our Co-founder, President and Chief Executive Officer, Michael Xie, our Co-founder, Vice President of Engineenng and Chief
Techmical Officer, and Ken Goldman, our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of
our development and strategic objectives In addition, key personnel may be distracted by activities unrelated to our business The loss of the
services, or distraction, of our senior management for any reason could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations

Adverse economic conditions or reduced information technology spending may adversely unpact our business

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology and on the economic health of our current and prospective
customers In addition, the purchase of our products 1s ofien discretionary and may ivolve a significant commitment of capital and other
resources Weak global economic conditions, weak economic conditions 1n certain geographies, or a reduction m information technology
spending regardless of macro-economic conditions, could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations in a
number of ways, including longer sales cycles, lower prices for our products and services, higher default rates among our distributors, reduced
umit sales and lower or no growth

Because we depend on several third-party manufacturers to build our products, we are susceptible to manufacturing delays that could
prevent us from shipping customer orders on time, if at all, and may result in the loss of sales and customers

We outsource the manufacturing of our secunty apphance products to a variety of contract manufactuning partners and onginal design
manufactuning partners

Our reliance on our third-party manufacturers reduces our control over the manufactunng process, exposing us to nisks, including
reduced control over quality assurance, product costs and product supply and timing Any manufacturing disruption by our third-party
manufacturers could impair our ability to fulfill orders If we are unable to manage our relationships with these third-party manufacturers
effectively, or if these third-party manufacturers experence delays, increased manufacturing lead-times, disruptions, capacity constraints or
quality control problems in their manufacturing operations, or fail to meet our future requirements for timely delivery, our abihity to ship
products to our customers could be impatred and our business would be seriously harmed

These manufacturers fulfill our supply requirements on the basis of individual purchase orders We have no long-term contracts or
arrangements with certain of our third-party manufacturers that guarantee capacity, the continuation of particular payment terms or the extension
of credit imits Accordingly, they are not obligated to continue to fulfill our supply requirements, and the prices we are charged for
manufactunng services could be increased on short notice If we are required to change third-party manufacturers, our ability to meet our
scheduled product deliveries to our customers would be adversely affected, which could cause the loss of sales and existing or potential
customers, delayed revenue or an increase m our costs which could adversely affect our gross margins Qur individual product lines are generally
manufactured by only one manufacturing partner Any production interruptions for any reason, such as a natural disaster, epidemic, capacity
shortages, or quality problems, at one of our manufacturing partners would severely affect sales of our product lines manufactured by that
manufactunng partner

Our propnetary FortiASIC, which 1s the key to the performance of our appliances, 1s fabncated by contract manufacturers in foundnes
operated by UMC and Faiwan Semiconductor Manufactuning Corporation, or TSMC Faraday (using UMC's foundry), K-Micro (using TSMC's
foundry) and Renesas (using UMC's foundry) manufacture our ASIiCs on a purchase order basis, and these foundnes do not guarantee any
capacity and could reject orders from Faraday, K-Micro or Renesas or try to increase pncing Accordingly, the foundries are not obligated to
continue to fulfitl our supply requirements, and due to the long lead time that a new foundry would require, we could suffer temporary or long
term inventory shortages of our Forn ASIC as well as increased costs Our suppliers may also pniontize orders by other companies that order
higher
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volumes of products If any of these suppliers materially delays its supply of ASICs or specific product models to us, or requires us to find an
alternate supplier and we are not able to do so on a umely and reasonable basis, or 1f these foundries materially increase their prices for
fabrication of our ASICs cr specific product models, our business would be harmed

In addition, our reliance on third-party manufacturers and foundries limits our control aver environmental regulatory requirements such
as the hazardous substance content of our products and therefore our ability to ensure compliance with the EU RoHS and other similar laws

Because some of the key components tn our products come from hmited sources of supply, we are susceptible to supply shortages, long lead
times for components, and supply changes, each of which could disrupt or delay our scheduled product deliveries to our customers, result in
inventory shortage, and may result in the loss of sales and customers.

We and our contract manufacturers currently purchase several key parts and components used 1n the manufacture of our products from
limmited sources of supply We are therefore subject to the nsk of shortages and long lead times n the supply of these components and the nsk
that component suppliers discontinue or modify components used 1n our products We have in the past experienced, and are currently
experiencing, shortages and long lead times for certain components Certain of our limited source components for particular apphances and
supphers of those components include specific types of central processing units from Intel Corporation, Advanced Micro Devices, Inc,
RMI/Netlogic Corporatien and VIA Technologtes, Inc , network chips from Broadcom Corporation, Marvell Technology Group Ltd and Intel,
and hard dnives from Western Digital Technologies, Inc The introduction by component suppliers of new versions of their products, particularly
if not anticipated by us or our contract manufacturers, could require us to expend sigmficant resources to mcorporate these new components into
our products In addition, if these suppliers were to discontinue production of a necessary part or component, we would be required to expend
significant resources and time in locating and mtegrating replacement parts or components from another vendor Quahfyng additional supphers
for hmited source parts or components can be time-consurming and expensive

Our manufacturing pariners have cxperienced long lead times for the purchase of components incorporated into our products Lead
times for components may be adversely impacted by factors outside of our control, such as natural disasters and other factors For example, lead
times for some components are currently being extended by the impact of flooding m Thailand on certam suppliers Our reliance on a mited
number of suppliers involves several additional nisks, including

’ a potential inability to obtain an adequate supply of required parts or components when required,
. financial or other difficulties faced by our suppliers,

. mfringement or misappropnation of our mtellectual property,

. price increases,

. failure of a component to meet environmental or other regulatory requirements,

. farlure to meet delivery obligations 1n a tiunely fashion, and

. farlure 1n component quality

The occurrence of any of these would be disruptive to us and could seriously harm our business Any interruption or delay in the supply
of any of these parts or components, or the mabihity to obtain these parts or components from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a
reasonable amount of tme, would harm our abihty to meet our scheduled product deliveries to our distributors, resellers and end-customers Thus
could harm our relationships with our channel partners and end-customers and could cause delays in shipment of our products and adversely
affect our results of operations

We are expased to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could neganvely affect our financtal condiron and results of operations

A majonty of our operating expenses 15 meurred outside the United States These expenses are denominated in foreign currencies and
are subject to fluctuations due to changes n foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes i the Euro and Canadian dollar For example,
during the second and third quarters of 2011, we were impacted by the weakening of the dollar against the Canadian dollar and the Euro, which
caused our operating expenses to increase Although we have been hedgimg currency exposures relating to certain balance sheet accounts

and have penodically entered into cash flow hedges relating to certain operating expenses incurred outside of the United States, if we stop
hedging against any of these nsks or1f
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our attempts to hedge agamst these currency exposures are not successful, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected In addition, our sales contracts are primarily denomimated in U S dollars and therefore substantially all of our revenue 15 not subject to
foreign currency nsk However, a strengthening of the U S dollar could mcrease the real cost of our products to our customers ouiside of the
United States, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

We generate a majority of revenue from sales to distributors, resellers and end-customers outside of the United States, and we are therefore
subject to a number of risks associated with international sales and eperanons.

We market and sell our products throughout the warld and have established sales offices m many parts of the world Therefore, we are
subject to risks assoctated with having worldwide operations We are also subject to a number of nisks typically associated with international
sales and operations, mcluding

. economic or political instability 1n foreign markets,

. greater difficulty 1n enforcing contracts, accounts recervable collection and longer collection periods,

. changes 1n regulatory requirements,

. difficulues and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations,

. the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries,

. costs of compliance with foreign policies, laws and regulations and the risks and costs of non-compliance with such policies,

laws and regulations,

. costs of complying with U § laws and regulations for foreign operations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, import
and export control laws, tanffs, trade barriers, and economic sanctions,

. other regulatory or contractual imitations on our ability to sell our products i certain foreign markets, and the rnisks and costs
of non-comphance,

. heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business practices 1n certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements
that may impact financial results and result in restatements of financial statements and irregulanties in financial statements,

. the potential for political unrest, terronsm, hostilities or war,
. management communication and mtegration problems resulting from cultural differences and geographic dispersion, and
. multiple and possibly overlapping tax structures

Product and service sales may be subject to foreign governmental regulations, which vary substantially from country to country
Further, we may be unable to keep up-to-date with changes 1n government requirements as they change from time to time Failure to comply
with these regulations could result in adverse effects to our business In many foreign countnies 1t 1s common for others to engage 1n business
practices that are prohubited by our internal policies and procedures or U S regulations applicable to us Although we implemented policies and
procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws and policies, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors, channel
partners and agents will comply with these laws and policies Violations of laws or key control policies by our employees, contractors, channel
partners or agents could result in delays i revenue recognition, financial reporting musstatements, fines, penalties, or the prohibition of the
importation or exportation of our products and services and could have a matenal adverse effect on our business and results of operations

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject us to ability or impair our ability to compete in tnternational
markets

Because we mncorporate encryption technology into our products, certain of our products are subject to U S export controls and may be
exported outside the U $ only with the required export license or through an export hicense exception If
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we were 10 fail to comply with U § export heensing, U $§ Customs regulations, U S economic sanctions and other laws, we could be subject to
substantial civil and cnminal penaities, ncluding fines for the company and incarceration for responsible employees and managers, and the
possible loss of export or import pnvileges [n addition, 1f our channel partners fail to obtain appropriate import, export or re-export licenses or
permits, we may also be adversely affected through reputational harm and penalues Obtamning the necessary export icense for a paricular sale
may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportumties

Furthermare, U S export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products to U S embargoed or
sanctioned countries, governments and persons Even though we take precautions to prevent our product from being shipped to U S sanctions
targets, our products could be shipped to those targets by our channel partners, despite such precautions Any such shipment could have negative
consequences including government inveshgations and penalties and reputauonal harm In addition, various countries regulate the import of
certain encryption technology, meluding import permitung/licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that could limut our ability to distribute
our products or could limit our customers' ability to implement our products 1n those countries Changes n our products or changes in export and
import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our products in international markets, prevent our customers with international
operations from deploying our products globally or, i some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries,
governments or persons altogether Any change in export or import regulations, econormic sanctions or related legislation, shift m the
enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change n the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations,
could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential customers with
international operations Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products would hikely adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations

If we faul to comply with environmental requirements, our business, financial condition, operaung results and reputation could be adversely
affected.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations including laws governing the hazardous matenal content of our products
and laws relating to the recychng of electncal and electronic equipment The laws and regulations to which we are subject include the European
Umien, or EU, RoHS and the EU Waste Electncal and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Directive as well as the implementing legislation of the
EU member states Simular laws and regulations have been passed or are pending 1n China, South Korea, Norway and Japan and may be enacted
1n other regions, mncluding in the United States, and we are, or may n the future be, subject to these laws and regulations

The EU RoHS and the similar laws of other junisdictions ban the use of certain hazardous materals such as lead, mercury and cadmium
in the manufacture of electrical equipment, mncluding our products We have incurred costs to comply with these laws, including research and
development costs, costs associated with assuring the supply of compliant components and costs associated with wntng off noncompliant
inventory We expect to incur more of these costs in the future With respect to the EU RoHS, we and our competitors rely on an exemption for
lead in network infrastructure equipment [t 1s possible this exemption will be revoked in the near future [f tus exemption 1s revoked, 1f there are
other changes to these laws (or thew interpretation) or 1f new similar laws are passed 1n other junisdictions, we may be required to reengineer our
products to use components compatible with these regulations This reengineering and component substitution could resuft in additional costs 10
us or disrupt our ¢perations or logistics

The EU has also adopted the WEEE Directive, which requires electronic goods producers to be responsible for the collection, recychng
and treatment of such products Although currently our EU International channel partners are responsible for the requirements of this directive as
the importer of record in most of the European countries in which we sell our products, changes 1n interpretation of the regulations may cause us
to icur costs or have additronal regulatory requirements 1n the future to meet i order to comply with this directive, or with any similar laws
adopted 1n other jurisdictions

Our failure to comply with these and future environmental rules and regulations could result n reduced sales of our products, increased
costs, substantial product inventory wnite-offs, reputational damage, penalties and other sanctions

A portion of our revenue 15 generated by sales to governmental entities, which are subject to a number of challenges and risks

Sales to U S and foreign federal, state and local governmental agency end-customers have accounted for a portion of our revenue 1n
past periods, and we may 1n the future increase sales to governmental entities Sales to governmental entities are subject to a number of nisks
Selling to governmental entities can be highly competiuive, expensive and time consuming, often requirmg sigmificant upfront time and expense
without any assurance that we will win a sale Government demand and payment
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for our products and services may be negatvely impacted by numerous factors and requirements unique to selling to government agencies, such
as public sector budgetary cycles and funding authonzations and requirements unique to government agencies, with funding or purchasing
reductions or delays adversely affecting pubhc sector demand for our products To date we have had limited traction mn salesto U S federal
government agencies, and any future sales to governmental entities 15 uncertain All of our sales to governmental entities have been made
indirectly through our distribution channel Govemmental entities may have contractual or other legal nghts to terminate contracts with our
distributors and resellers for convenience or due to a default, and any such termination may adversely impact our futere results of aperations For
example, 1f the distributor receives a significant portion of its revenue from sales to such governmental entity, the financial health of the
distnbutor could be substantialty harmed, which could negatively affect our future sales to such distnbutor Governments routinely investigale
and audit government contractors' administrative processes, and any unfavorable audit could result in the government refusing to continue
buying our products and services, a reduction of revenue or fines or civit or crimunal hability tf the audit uncovers improper or illegal activities
Any such penalties could adversely impact our results of operations 1 a material way Fmally, purchases by the U 8§ government may require
certain products to be manufactured 1n the United States and other high cost manufacturing locations, and we may not manufacture all products
1n locations that meet the requirements of the U S government

False detection of viruses or securily breaches or false wentificatton of spam or spyware could adversely affect our business

Our antivirus and our intrusion prevention services may falsely detect viruses or other threats that do not actually exist This nisk s
heightened by the inclusion of a “heunstics™ feature n our products, which attempts to identify viruses and other threats not based on any known
signatures but based on charactenstics or anomalies that may mdicate that a particular item 1s a threat When our end-customers enable the
heuristics feature 1n our products, the nisk of falsely idenufying viruses and other threats significantly increases These false positives, while
typical 1n the mdustry, may impair the perceved rehability of our products and may therefore adversely impact market acceptance of our
products Also, our antispam and anuispyware services may falsely 1dentify emails or programs as unwanted spam or potentiaily unwanted
programs, or altemmatively fail to properly identify unwanted emails or programs, partcularly as spam emails or spyware are often designed to
circumvent antispam or spyware products Parties whose emails or programs are blocked by our products may seek redress against us for
labeling them as spammers or spyware, or for interfering with their business In addition, false 1dentification of emails or programs as unwanted
spam or potentially unwanted programs may reduce the adoption of our products 1f our system restricts important files or applications based on
falsely identifying them as malware or some other 1tem that should be restricted, this could adversely affect end-customers' systems and cause
material system failures Any such false 1dentification of important files or applications could result in negative pubhcity, loss of end-customers
and sales, 1ncreased costs to remedy any problem, and costly itigation

If our internal network system 1s compromused by computer hackers, public perception of our products and services will be harmed.

We will not succeed unless the marketplace 1s confident that we provide effective network secunty protection Because we provide
network secunty products, we may be a more attractive target for attacks by computer hackers Although we have not experienced significant
damages from unauthonzed access by a third-party of our internal network, 1f an actual or perceived breach of network security occurs in our
nternal systems it could adversely affect the market perception of our products and services In addition, such a secunity breach could wnpair our
abilily to operate our business, including our ability to provide subscription and support services to our end-customers If this happens, our
revenue could decline and our business could suffer

Our abiluy to sell our products is dependent on the quality of our technical support services, and aur fadure to offer high quality technical
support services would have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations,

Once our products are deployed withm our end-customers’ networks, our end-customers depend on our technical support services, as
well as the support of our channel partners, to resolve any 1ssues relating to our products If we or our channel partners do not effectively assist
our customers n deploying our products, succeed 1n helpmg our customers quickly resolve post-deployment 1ssues, and provide effecuve
ongoing support, our abihity to sell additional products and services to existing customers would be adversely affected and our reputation with
potential customers could be damaged Many enterpnse, service provider and governmental entity end-customers require higher leveis of support
than smaller end-customers If we fail to meet the requirements of the larger end-customers, it may be more difficult to execute on our strategy to
increase our penetration with larger end-customers

As a result, our failure to matntain fugh quality support services would have a matenial adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations
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Changes in our provision for income taxes or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income tax returns could adversely affect
our results,

Our provision for income taxes 1s subject to volatility and could be adversely affected by several factors, many of which are outside of
our control, including

. eamnings being lower than anticipated 1n countries that have lower tax rates and higher than anticipated n countries that have
higher tax rates,

. changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and habilities,

. expiration of, or lapses in the research and development tax credit laws,

. transfer pricing adjustments including the effect of acquisitions on our tntercompany research and development and legal
structure,

. an increase i non-deductible expenses for tax purposes, including certan stock-based compensation expense, write-offs of

acquired in-process research and development, and impairment of goodwill,
. tax costs related to intercompany realignments,

. tax assessments resulting from mcome tax audits or any related tax interest or penalties that could significantly affect our
mncome tax provision for the period in which the settlement takes place,

. a change n our decision to indefimtely reinvest foreign earnings,
. changes n accounting principles, or
. changes in tax laws and regulations including possible changes 1n the United States to the taxation of earnings of our foreign

subsidiaries, and the deductibility of expenses attributable to foreign income, or the foreign tax credit rules, or changes to the
United States income tax rate, which would necessitate a revaluation of our deferred tax assets and habilities

Significant judgment 1s required to determine the recognition and measurement attribute prescnbed in Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") 740-10 In addition, ASC 740-10 applies to all income tax positions, including the potential recovery of previously paid
taxes, which 1f settled unfavorably could adversely impact our provision for income taxes or additionai paid-in capital Further, as a result of
certain of our ongoing employment and capital investment actions and commitments, our INCOMe 1n certain countnes 1s subject to reduced tax
rates and 1n some cases 15 wholly exempt from tax Our failure to meet these commitments could adversely impact our provision for income
taxes In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax
authonties We regularly assess the likehhood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our
provision for income taxes There can be no assurance that the outcomes from these continuous exarmunations will not have an adverse effect on
our results of operations

Although we released our entire valuation allowance n fiscal 2009, we may n the future be required to estabhsh a new valuation

allowance We will continue to assess the need for a valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset by evaluatng both positive and negative
evidence that may exist

Forecasting our estimated annual effective tax rate s complex and subject to uncertainty, and there may be material differences between our
forecasted and actual tax rates.

Forecasts of our income tax positton and effective tax rate are complex and subject to uncertamnty because our income tax position for
each year combines the effects of a mix of profits earned and losses incurred by us 1n various tax jurisdictions with a broad range of tncome tax
rates, as well as changes 1n the valuation of deferred tax assets and hiabilinies, the impact of vanous accounting rules and changes to these rules
and tax laws, the results of examinations by various tax authonties, and the impact of any acquisition, business combination or other
reorganization or financing transaction To forecast our global tax rate, we estimate our pre-tax profits and losses by junsdiction and forecast our

tax expense by junsdiction [f the mix of profits and losses, our ability to use tax credits, or effective tax rates by junsdiction 1s different than
those estimated, our actual tax rate
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could be matenially different than forecasted, which could have a material impact on our results of business, financial condition and results of
operations

As a multinational corporation, we conduct our business in many countnes and are subject to taxation in many junisdictions The
taxation of our business 1s subject 10 the apphcation of multiple and sometimes conflicting tax laws and regulations as well as multinational tax
conventions Our effective tax rate 1s mghly dependent upon the geographic disinbution of our worldwtde carmings or losses, the tax regulations
and tax hohdays 1n each geographic region, the availability of tax credits and carryforwards, and the effectiveness of our tax planning strategies
The application of tax laws and regulations 1s subject to legal and factual interpretauion, judgment and uncertainty Tax laws themselves are
subject to change as a result of changes 1n fiscal policy, changes in legislation, and the evolution of regulations and court rulings Consequently,
taxing autherities may impose tax assessments or judgments against us that could matenally impact our tax habihty and/or our effective income
tax rate

In addition, we may be subject to exarmnation of our income tax returns by the Intemal Revenue Service and other tax authonties If tax
authonties challenge the relative mix of U § and intemational income, our future effective income tax rates could be adversely affected Whale
we regularly assess the hkehhood of adverse outcomes from such examinations and the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, there can be
no assurance that such provision 1s sufficient and that a determination by a tax authority will not have an adverse effect on our business, financial
conditton and results of operations

Our inability to acquire and integrate other businesses, products or technologies could seriously harm our competitive posiron,

In order to remain compenitive, we may seek to acquire additional businesses, products, or technologies and intellectual property, such
as patents If we idenufy an appropniate acquisition candidate, we may not be successful in negouiating the terms of the acquisition, financing the
acquisition, or effectively integrating the acquired business, product, technology or intellectual property into our existing business and
operations We may have difficulty imcorporating acquired technologies, intellectual property or products with our existing product lines and
maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies Our due diligence may fail to idenufy all of the problems, hatwlities or other
shortcommgs or challenges of an acquired business, product or technology, mncluding 1ssues with intellectual property, product quality or product
architecture, regulatory complhance practices, revenue recogrition or other accounting practices or employee or customer 1ssues In addition, any
acquisitions we are able to complete may not be accretive to earmings and may not result in any synergies or other benefits we had expected to
achieve, which could result in write-0ffs that could be substantial Further, completing a potential acquisition and integrating acquired
businesses, products, technologies or intellectual property will significantly divert management time and resources

Our business s subyect to the risks of warranty claims, product returns, product iabiity and product defects.

Our products are very complex and, despite testing prior to their release, have contained and may contain undetected defects or errors,
especially when first introduced or when new versions are released For example, one of our high-end product models experienced a defect in
limited deployments Product errors have affected the performance of our products and could delay the development or release of new products
or new versions of products, adversely affect our reputation and our end-customers' willingness to buy products from us, and adversely affect
markel acceptance or perception of our products Any such errors or delays 1n releasing new products or new versions of products or allegations
of unsatisfactory performance could cause us to lose revenue or market share, increase our service costs, cause us to incur substanuial costs n
redesigning the products, cause us to lose significant end-customers, subject us to hability for damages and divert our resources from other tasks,
any one of which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operauions and financial condition Our products must
successfully interoperate with products from other vendors As a result, when prablems occur 1n a network, 1t may be difficult to 1dentify the
sources of these problems The occurrence of hardware and software errors, whether or not caused by our products, could delay or reduce market |
acceptance of our products, and have an adverse effect on our business and financial performance, and any necessary revisions may cause us Lo i
incur significant expenses The occurrence of any such problems could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations '

Although we have imitation of habihity provisions in our standard terms and conditions of sale, they may not fully or effectively protect
us from claims as a result of federal, state or local laws or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decisions n the United States or other countnies
The sale and support of our products also entail the nsk of product liabihty claims We maintain insurance to protect against certain claims
associated with the use of our products, but our insurance coverage may not adequately cover any claim asserted agamst us In addition, even
¢claims that ulumately are unsuccessful could result 1n our expenditure of funds in htigation and divert management's ume and other resources
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Our business 15 subject to the nisks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods end other catastraphic events, and to interruption by manmade
problems such as civil unrest and terrorism,

A sigmficant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, a flood, or significant power outage could have a matenal adverse impact on
our busmess, operating results and financial condition Qur corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known
for seismic acuvity In addition, natural disasters could affect our manufacturing vendors or logistics providers' ability to perform services such
as obtaiming preduct components and manufacturning products on a imely basis and assisting with shipments on a timely basis In the event our
or our serviee providers' information technology systems or manufacturing or logistics abiiities are hindered by any of the events discussed
above, shipments could be delayed, resulting in missing financial targets, such as revenue and shipment targets, for a particular quarter In
addition, regronal instability, acts of terrorism and other geo-political unrest could cause disruptions in our business or the business of our
manufacturers, logistics providers, partners, or end-customers or the economy as a whole Given our typical concentration of sales at each
quarter end, any disruption 1n the business of our manufacturers, logistics providers, partners or end-customers that impacts sales at the end of
our quarter could have a sigmificant adverse 1mpact on our quarterly results All of the aforementioned nsks may be augmenlted 1f the disaster
recovery plans for us and our suppliers prove to be inadequate To the extent that any of the above results in delays or cancellations of customer
orders, or the delay in the manufacture, deployment or shipment of our products, our business, financial condition and results of operations
would be adversely affected

Risks Related to Qur Industry

The network security market is rapidly evolving and the complex technology incorporated in our products makes them difficult to develop If
we do not accurately predict, prepare for and respond prompily to technological and market developments and changing end-customer needs,
our competitive position and prospects will be harmed,

The network security market 15 expected to continue to evolve rapidly Moreover, many of our end-customers operate 1n markets
charactenized by raprdly changing technologies and business plans, which require them to add numerous network access ponts and adapt
increasingly complex enterprise networks, incorporating a vanety of hardware, software applications, operating systems and networking
protocols In addition, computer hackers and others who try to attack networks employ increasingly sophisticated techniques to gain access to
and attack systems and networks The technology 1n our products 1s especially complex because 1t needs to effectively idenufy and respond to
new and increasingly sophisticated methods of attack, while minimizing the impact on network performance Additionally, some of our new
products and enhancements may require us to develop new hardware archrtectures and ASICs that involve complex, expensive and time
consuming research and development processes Although the market expects rapid introduction of new products or product enhancements to
respond to new threats, the development of these products 1s difficult and the timetable for commercial release and availability 1s uncertain and
there can be long tme peniods between releases and availabihity of new products We have in the past and may 1n the future expenence
unanticipated delays in the availability of new products and services and fail to meet previously announced timetables for such availability If we
do not quickly respond to the rapidly changing and nigorous needs of our end-customers by developing and releasing and making available on a
timely basis new products and services or enhancements that can respond adequately to new secunty threats, our competitive position and
business prospects will be harmed

Our URL database for our Web filtering service may fau to keep pace with the rapid growth of URLs and may not categorize websttes tn
accordance with our end-customers’ expectations

The success of our Web filtenng service depends on the breadth and accuracy of our URL database Although our URL database
currently catalogs millions of umque URLS, 1t contains only a portion of the URLs for all of the websites that are available on the Internet In
addition, the total number of URLs and software applications 1s growing rapidly, and we expect this ramd growth to continue 1n the firture
Accordingly, we must identify and categorize content for our security risk categories at an exiremely rapd rate Our database and technologies
may not be able to keep pace with the growth in the number of websites, especially the growing amount of content utihzing foreign languages
and the increasing sophistication of malicious code and the delivery mechanisms associated with spyware, phishing and other hazards associated
with the Internet Further, the ongoing evolution of the Internet and computing environments will require us to continually improve the
functionality, features and relability of our Web filtering funcuion Any fatlure of our databases to keep pace with the rapid growth and
technological change of the Internet w1ll impair the market acceptance of our products, which m tum will harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations

In addition, our Web filtering service may not be successful in accurately categonzing Internet and application content to meet our end-
customers’ expectations We rely upon a combination of automated filtenng technology and human review to categonze websites and software
applications in our proprigtary databases Our end-customers may not agree with our determinations that particular URLs should be mcluded or
not included in specific categonies of our databases In addition, 1t1s
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possible that our filtering processes may place matenal that 1s objectionable or that presents a secunty nsk in categones that are generally
unrestricted by our users' [nternet and computer access policies, which could result in such matenal not being blocked from the network
Conversely, we may miscategonze websites such that access 1s demed to websites contaiming information that 1s important or valuable to our
customers Any miscategonzation could result in customer dissatisfaction and harm our reputation  Any failure to effectively categonze and
filter websites according to our end-customers' and channel partners’ expectations will impair the growth of our business

If our new products and product enkancements do not achieve sufficient market acceptance, our results of operations and competitive
positton will suffer

We spend substantial amounts of ime and money to research and develop new products and enhanced versions of our existing products
to incorporate additional features, improved functionality or other enhancements 1n order to meet our customers' rapidly evolving demands for
network security in our highly competitive industry When we develop a new preduct or an enhanced version of an existing product, we typically
mcur expenses and expend resources upfront to market, promote and sell the new offenng Therefore, when we develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, they must achieve high levels of market acceptance 1n order to jusufy the amount of our investment in developing and
bringing them to market

Our new praducts or product enhancements could fail (o attain sufficient market acceptance for many reasons, tncluding
. delays in releasing our new products or enhancements to the market,

. failure 1o accurately predict market demand in terms of product functionality and to supply products that meet this demand 1n a
timely fashion,

. failure of our sales force and partners to focus on selling new products,

. inability to interoperate effectively with the networks or applicatiens of our prospective end-customers,
. inability to protect against new types of attacks or techmiques used by hackers,

. defects, errors or fatlures,

. negative publicity about their performance or effectiveness,

. introduction or anticipated 1ntroduction of competing products by our competitors,

. poor business conditions for our end-customers, causing them to delay IT purchases,

. easing of regulatory requirements around secunty, and

. reluctance of customers to purchase products incorporating open source software

If our new preducts or enhancements do not achieve adequate acceptance in the market, our competitive position will be impaired, our
revenue will be dimimished and the effect on our operating results may be particularly acute because of the significant research, development,
marketng, sales and other expenses we incurred in connection with the new product or enhancement

Unless we continue to develop better market awareness of our company and our products, our revenue may nol continue 1o grow.

We are a relatively new entrant 1n the network secunty market, and we believe that we have not yet established sufficient market
awareness of our participation in that market Market awareness of our capabihities and products 15 essential to our continued growth and our
success n all of our markets, particularly for the large enterpnise, service provider and governmental entities markets {f our marketing programs
are nol successful i creating market awareness of our company and products, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be
adversely affected, and we will not be able to achieve sustained growth

Demand for Unified Threat Management producis may be limued by market perception that UTM proeducts are nferior to
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netwark security solutions from muluple vendars.

Sales of most of our products depend en increased demand for UTM products [f the UTM market fails to grow as we anticipate, our
business will be senously harmed Target customers may view UTM “all-in-one™ solutions as inferior to secunty solutions from multiple
vendors because of, among other things, their perception that UTM products provide security functions from only a single vendor and do not
allow users to choose “best-of-breed” defenses from among the wide range of dedicated security apphcations available Target customers might
also perceive that, by combining muluple secunty functions into a single platform, UTM soluuions create a “single point of failure” in their
networks, which means that an error, vulnerability or farlure of the UTM product may place the entire network at nsk In additien, the market
perception that UTM solutions may be suitable only for smalt and medium sized businesses because UTM lacks the performance capabilites and
functionahity of other solutions may harm our sales to large enlerprise, service provider, and governmental entity end-customers 1f the foregoing
concemns and perceptions become prevalent, even 1f there 1s no factual basis for these concerns and percepuions, or if other 1ssues anse with the
UTM market in general, demand for UTM products could be severely limited, which would limit our growth and harm our business, financial
condition and resulis of operations Further a successful and pubhicized targeted attack against us or another well known UTM vendor exposing a
“single pomt of fallure” could sigmificantly increase these concerns and perceptions and may harm our business and results of operations

We face intense competition in our market, especially from larger, better-known compamies, and we may lack sufficient financial or other
reseurces to maintain or improve aur competifive postion.

The market for network security products 1s intensely competitive, and we expect competitian to intensify 1n the future Our competitors
include networking companies such as Cisco Systems, Inc , Juniper Networks, Inc , and secunity vendors such as Check Point Softwarc
Technologies Lid , McAfee, Inc (acquired by Intel Corporation), and SonicWALL, Inc (acquired by Thoma Bravo), Palo Alto Networks, and
other point selution security vendors

Many of our existing and potential competitors enjoy substanhal competitive advantages such as

. greater name recogrition and longer operating histories,

. larger sales and marketng budgets and resources,

. broader distnibution and established relatonships with distnbution partners and end-customers,
. access to larger customer bases,

. greater customer support resources,

. greater resources to make acquisitions,

. lower labor and development costs, and

. substantially greater financial, techmecal and other resources

[n addition, some of our larger competitors have substanually broader product offerings and leverage their relationships based on other
products or incorporate functionality into existing products 1n a manner that discourages users from purchasing our products These larger
competiors often have broader product lines and market focus and are 1n a better position to withstand any significant reduction in capital
spending by end-customers 1n these markets Therefore, these competitors will not be as susceptible to downturns 1n a particular market Also,
many of our smaller competitors that specialize in providing protection from a single type of network secunity threat are often able to deliver
these specialized network security products to the market more quickly than we can Some of our smaller competitors are using third-party chips
designed to accelerate performance Conditions 1n our markets could change rapidly and significantly as a result of technological advancements
or continuing market consolidatien Qur current and potential competitors may also establish cooperative relationships among themselves or
with third parties that may further enhance their resources In addition, current or potential competitors may be acquired by third parties with
greater available resources, such as Juniper's acquisition of NetScreen Technologies, Inc, Intel's acquisition of McAfee and Check Point's
acquisiion of Nokia's security apphance business As a result of such acquisitions, our current or potential competitors might be able 1o adapt
more quickly to new technologies and customer needs, devote greater resources to the promotion or sale of their products and services, 1mtiate or
withstand substantial price competition, take advantage of acquisition or other opportumities more readily or develop and expand their product
and service offerings more quickly than we do In addiion, our competitors may bundle products and services
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competitive with ours with other products and services Customers may accept these bundled products and services rather than separatety
purchasing our preducts and services Due to budget constraints or economic downtums, orgamizations may be more willing to mcrementally add
selutions to their existing network security mfrastructure from competitors than to replace it with our solutions These competitive pressures in
our market or our failure to compete effectively may result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced revenue and gross margins and
loss of market share

If funcnionaluy sumilar to that offered by our products 15 mcorporated into existing network infrastructure products, organizations may
decide aganst adding our apphances to their network, which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Large, well-established providers of networking equipment such as Cisco Systems, Inc and Juniper Networks, Inc offer, and may
continue to introduce, network security features that compete with our products, esther in stand-alone secunity products or as additional features
in thewr network infrastructure products The inclusion of, or the announcement of an 1ntent to include, functionahity percgived to be similar to
that offered by our secunity solutions in networking products that are already generally accepted as necessary components of network
architecture may have an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell our products Furthermore, evenif the functionality offered by network
infrastructure providers i1s more hmited than our products, a significant number of customers may elect to accept such hmited functionality 1n
lieu of adding appliances from an additional vendor such as us Many organizations have invested substanual personnel and financial resources
to design and operate their networks and have established deep relationships with other providers of networking products, which may make them
reluctant to add new components to their networks, particularly from other vendors such as us n addition, an orgamzation's existing vendors or
new vendors with a broad product offering may be able 1o offer concessions that we are not able to match because we currently offer only
network security products and have fewer resources than many of our compeutors 1f organizations are reluctant to add additional network
infrastructure from new vendors or otherwise decide to work with their existing vendors, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affected

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our praprietary rights may be difficult to enforce, which could enable others to copy or use aspects of our products without compensating us

We rely primanly on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secrets laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to
protect our technology Vahd patents may not issue from our pending applications, and the claims eventually allowed on any patents may not be
suffictently broad to protect our technology or products, Any 1ssued patents may be challenged, mvahdated or circumvented, and any nights
granted under these patents may not actually provide adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages to us Patent applications 1n the
United States are typically not published until at least 18 months after filing, cr, 1o some cases, not at all, and publicatiens of discovertes in
industry-related literature lag behind actual discoveries We cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed i our
pending patent apphcations or that we were the first to file for patent protection Additionally, the process of obtaining patent protection 1s
expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a
timely manner In addition, recent changes to the patent laws in the United States may bring nto question the validity of certamn software patents
As a result, we may not be able to obtain adequate patent protection or effectively enforce our 1ssued patents

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary nghts, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or obtain and use
information that we regared as proprietary We generally enter ito confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, consultants, vendors
and customers, and generally limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information However, we cannot assure you that the steps taken
by us will prevent misappropriation of our technology Policing unauthonzed use of our technology or products 1s difficult In addition, the laws
of some foretgn countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as the laws of the United States, and many foreign countries
do not enforce these laws as diligently as government agencies and private parties in the Unuted States From time-to-time, legal action by us
may be necessary to enforce our patents and other inteliectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, to deterrme the validity and scope of
the proprietary nghts of others or to defend against claims of :infnngement or invalidity Such itigation could result 1n substantial costs and
diversion of resources and could negatively affect our business, operating results and financial condition [ we are unable 1o protect our
proprietary rights (including aspects of our software and products protected other than by patent nights), we may find ourselves at a competitive
disadvamage 10 others who need not incur the additional expense, ime and effort required to create the mnovative products that have enabled us
to be successful 1o date

Qur products contain third-party open source software components, and fatlure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source
software licenses could restrict our abslity to sell our products
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Our products conlain software modules licensed to us by third-party authors under “open source™ licenses, ncluding the GNU Pubhe
License (GPL), the GNU Lesser Public License (LGPL), the BSD License, the Apache License and others From time-to-time, there have been
claims against companies that distnbute or use open source software m their products and services, asserting that open source software infringes
the ctaimants' mntellectual property rights We could be subject to suiis by parties clarming infringement of miellectual property rights in what we
beligve to be licensed open source software Use and distnbution of open source software may entasl greater risks than use of thud-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement
claims or the quality of the code Some open source licenses contam requirements that we make available source code for modifications or
denvauive works we create based upon the type of open source software we use If we combine our proprietary software with open source
software 1n a certain manner, we could, under certamn open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to
the public This would allow our competitors to create similar products with lower development effort and ime and ultimatety could resuit in a
loss of product sales for us

Although we momtor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend, the terms of
many open source licenses have not been interpreted by Unuted States courts, and there 15 a risk that these licenses could be construed n a way
that could tmpose unanticipated conditiens or restrctions on our ability to commerciahize our products In this event, we could be required to
seck licenses from third parties to continue offering our products, to make generally available, in source code form, our propnetary code, to re-
engineer aur products, or to discontinue the sale of our products if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, any of which
could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial cendition

Clarms by others that we infringe thewr proprietary technology or other ingation matters could harm our business.

Patent and other intellectual property disputes are common 1n the network security industry Third parues have asserted and may 1n the
future assert claims of infningement of intellectual property nghts against us They may also assert such claims agamst our end-customers or
channel! partners whom we typically mndemnify against claims that our products infringe the intellectual property nights of third parties As the
number of products and competitors 1n our market mcreases and overlaps occur, mfringement claims may increase Any claim of infringement
by a third-party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim and could distract our
management from our business In addition, future htigation may imvolve patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners who have no
relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may therefore provide hittle or no deterrence or protection

Although third parties may offer a license to thesr technology, the terms of any offered license may not be acceptable, and the farlure to
obtain a license or the costs associated with any license could cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to be matenally
and adversely affected In addition, some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the same technology
licensed to us

Alternatively, we may be required 1o develop non-infringing technology, which could require significant time, effort and expense and
may ultimately not be successful Furthermore, a successful claimant could secure a jJudgment or we may agree to 2 settlement that prevents us
from thstributing cenan producets or performing certain services or that requires us to pay substanuat damages (including treble damages 1f we
are found to have willfully infringed such claimant’s patents or copynghts), royalties or other fees Any of these events could seriously harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations

We have been involved in patent disputes 1n the past, are currently involved in several patent disputes, and hkely will be involved in
addional disputes in the future [n May 2004, Trend Micro Incorporated filed a complaint agamst us alleging that we infringed a Trend Micro
patent related to antivirus software The International Trade Commussion, or ITC, subsequently instituted an investigation which resulted in an
exclusion order and a cease and desist order prohibiting us from selling a broad array of our products 1n the United States In January 2006, we
settled the lawsuit with Trend Micro, and subsequently the [TC terminated 1ts action and rescinded the orders Pursuant to the settlement and
hicense agreement, we imitially paid Trend Micro 815 0 milhon The settiement and heense agreement provides for additional quarterly royaity
payments We had a subsequent dispute with Trend Micro regarding the royalty payments and in December 2011, we entered nto a settlement
agreement with Trend Micro resolving the dispute for a one-time payment of $9 0 milhon The settlement agreement includes a fuliy-paid
license to the patents subject to the prior patent license agreement, with no continung obligation to pay royalties for those patents

As discussed in "Item 3-Legal Proceedings,” from time to time we are subject to lawswmits claiming patent infringement, and there are
lawsuits claiming patent infnngement currently pending We are also subject to other hitigation in
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addition to patent infringement claims If we are unsuccessful in defending any such ¢laims, our operating results and financial condition and
results may be matenally and adversely affected For example, we may be required to pay substantial damages and could be prevented from
selling certain of our products In addition to the lawsuits deseribed in “Legal Proceedings,” several other non-practicing patent holding
companies have sent us letters propesing that we license certain of their patents, and given this and the prohferation of lawsuits 1 our industry
and other similar industries by both non-pracuicing entities and operating entities, we expect that we will be sued for patent infringement in the
future, regardless of the ments of any such lawsuits The cost to defend such lawsuits and any adverse result in such lawsuits could have a
matenal adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition

We rely on the availability of third-party licenses

Many of our products inctude software or other 1nteliectual property licensed from third parties It may be necessary in the future to
renew licenses relating to various aspects of these products or to seek new heenses for existing or new products There can be no assurance that
the necessary licenses would be available on acceptable terms, 1f at all The inability to obtain certain licenses or other rights or to obtam such
licenses or nghts on favorable terms, or the need to engage 1n litigation regarding these matters, could result in delays in product releases until
equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed, 1f at all, and integrated 1nto our products and may have a matenal adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financial conditton Moreover, the inclusion i our products of software or other intellectual property
hicensed from third parties on a nonexclusive basis could hmit cur ability to differentiate our products from those of our competitors

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

As a public company, we are subject to compliance tmtiatives that will require substantial time from our management and result in
significantly increased costs that may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as well as other rules
implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market, impose various requirements on public comparues, mcluding requiring changes in
corporate governance practices These and proposed corporate governance laws and regulations under consideration may further increase our
comphance costs If comphance with these various legal and regulatory requirements diverts our management's attention from other business
concems, 1t could have a matenial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires,
among other things, that we assess the effectiveness of our mternal control over financial reporting annually and disclosure controls and
procedures quarterly We completed our evaluation of our internal controls over financial reporting for fiscal 2011 as required by Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Although our assessment, testing and evaluation resulted m our conclusion that as of December 31, 2011, our
mternal controls over financial reporting were cffective, we cannot predict the outcome of our testing 1n 2012 or future penods If our internal
conirots or disclosure controls are meffective in future penods, our business and reputation could be harmed We may meur additional expenses
and commitment of management's time 1 connection with further evaluations, both of which could matenally increase our operating expenses
and accordingly reduce our operating results

Changes n financial accounting standards may cause adverse unexpected fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations

A change in accounting standards or practices and varying interpretations of existing accounting pronouncements, such as changes to
standards related to revenue recogmuon adopted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") that went effective January 1, 2011, the
mereased use of fair value measure, the recent proposed change to revenue recogmition, lease accounting, financial nstrument accounting
standards, and the potential requirement that U S registrants prepare financial statements 1n accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS™), could have a significant effect on our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business Effective January 1,
2011, we started reporting revenue recognition based on the new revenue standards 15sued by the FASB [f we do not ensure that our systems
and processes for revenue recogmition are aligned with the new standards, we could encounter difficulties generating quarterly and annual
financial statements in a imely manner, which would have an adverse effect on our business and our ability to meet our reporting obhigations

If securittes or industry analysts stop publishing research or publish inaccurate or unfuvorable research about our business, our stock price
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend 10 part on the research and reports that secunties or mdustry analysts publish
about us or our business [f we do not maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock
or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock pnice would
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likely decline If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock
could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be volanle

The market price of our commen stock 15 subject to wide fluctuations in respense to, among other things, the nisk factors described in
this periodic report, and other factors such as rumors or fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us

Furtherinore, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuattens that have affected and continue to affect the market
prices of equity secunities of many companies These fluctuations ofien have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of
those companies These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, pohtical, and market conditions, such as recessions,
interest rate changes or international currency fluctuations, may negauvely affect the market price of our common stock

In the past, many companies that have expentenced volatihty in the market price of their stock have been subject to secunties class
action hiigation We may be the target of this type of liigation in the future Secunties litigation agatnst us could result in substantial costs and
divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business

Our failure to raise additional capual or generate the significant caprtal necessary to expand our operations and invest it new products could
reduce our abdity to compete and could harm our business

We expect that our exisung cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12
months After that, we may need to raise addinonal funds, and we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable
terms, 1f at all If we raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may expenence significant dilution of their ownership interests and the
per-share value of our common stock could decline Furthermore, if we engage 1n debt financing, the holders of debt would have prionty over
the holders of common stock and we may be required to accept terms that restnct our ability to incur additional indebtedness We may also be
required to take other actions that would otherwise be i the mterests of the stockholders and force us to maintain specified liquidity or other
rat10s, any of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condiion 1f we need additional capital and cannot raise 1t on
acceptable terms, we may not be able to, among other things

. develop or enhance our products and services,

. continue to expand our sales and marketing and research and development erganizations,
. acquire complementary technologies, products or businesses,

. expand operations, 1n the United States or intemmationally,

. hire, train and retain employees, or

. respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements

QOur failure to do any of these things could semously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations

Conceniration of ownership among our existing execufive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing
significant corporate decisions.

As of February 17, 2012 , our executive officers, directors and their affiliates beneficially owned, mn the aggregate, approximately
17 2% of our cutstanding common stock As a resuls, these siockholders are able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters
requining stockhelder approval, including the election of directors, amendment of our certificate of incorporation and approval of significant
corporate transactions This control could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of our company or changes in
managemert and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or tmpossible without the support of these stockholders

Anti-takeover provisions contained 1n our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a
takeaver attempt.
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Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult,
delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed undestrable by our board of directors Qur corporate governance documents include provisions

. creating a classified board of directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms,

. authonzing “blank check™ preferred stock, which could be 1ssued by the board without stockholder approval and may contain
voting, liquidation, dividend and other nghts superior to our common stock,

. limiting the hability of, and providing indemnification 1o, our directors and officers,
. ltmiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings,
. requinng advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for

nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors,
. controlting the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board and stockholder meetings, and

. providing the board of directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings and to cancel
previously scheduled special meetings

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes 1n control or changes in our management

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15 0% of our outstanding common stock from engaging i certain
business combinations without approval of the holders of a substantial majority of all of our outstanding common stock

Any provision of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in

control could Limtt the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our commen stock, and could alse affect the
price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock

ITEM1B  Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable
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ITEM2 Propertes

Our corporate headquarters are located at 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, California in an office consisting of
approximately 107,000 square feet The lease for this office expires in September 2013

In addition to our headquarters, we lease approximately 14,000 square feet of data center space and a total of approximately 72,000
square feet of office space in several buitdings 1n Bumaby, Canada under vartous leases that expire between March 2012 and July 2015,
approximately 16,000 square feet of office space in Ottawa, Canada under a lease that expires in February 2015, approximately 19,000 square
feet of office space in Sophia, France under a lease that expires in December 2013, and approximately 26,000 square feet of office space
in Beiying, China under a lease that expires in August 2012 We also lease sales and support offices 1n Australia, Austria, Belgium, Egypt,
Germany, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Phulippines, Poland,
Russia, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey, United Arab Emirates, and the United Kingdom We
believe that our existing properties are 1n good condition and are sufficient and suitable for the conduct of our business
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

In August 2009, Trend Micro filed a complaimt agatnst us in the Supertor Court of the State of California for Santa Clara County
alleging breach of contract and seeking a declaratory judgment that we are obligated to make certam royalty payments to Trend Micro pursuant
to a settlement and ticense agreement entered mto 1n January 2006 In December 2011, we entered into a settlement agreement with Trend Micro
resolving the dispute for a one-time payment to Trend Micro of $9 0 million The settlement agreement includes a fully paid license to the
patents subject to the prior patent license agreement with no continuing obhgation to pay royalties for those patents

In August 2009, Enhanced Secunty Research, LLC and Secunty Research Holdings LLC (collectively *ESR™), a non-practicing enuity.
filed a complant agamst us in the United States Distnct Court for the District of Delaware alleging infringement by us and other defendants of
two patents The plaintiffs are claiming unspecified damages and requesting an injunction against the alleged infringement In June 2010, the
Court granted our motion to stay pending the outcome of reexamination proceedings on both asserted patents The U § Patent and Trademark
Office ("PTO") rejected all of the claims of the patents in the sutt and ESR has appealed this result to the Board of Patent Appeals and
Interferences (“BPAI') We have determined that, as of this time, there 1s not a reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred

In Apnl 2010, an individual, a former stockholder of Fortinet, filed a class action lawsuit against us claiming unspecified damages in
the Califormia Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles alleging violation of various Cahforma Cerporations Code sections and related tort
clatms alleging misrepresentation and breach of fiducrary duty regarding the 2009 repurchase by Fortinet of shares of its stock while we were a
privatety-held company The plaintiffis claiming unspecified damages In September 2010, the Court granted our motion to transfer the case to
the California Superior Court for Santa Clara County and the plantiff has filed an amended complamnt in the Supenor Court to add mdividual ‘
defendants, among other amendments Currently the case 1s 1n the early stages, and we have determined that, as of thts ume, there 1s nota
reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred |

In July 2010, Network Protection Sciences, LLC ("NPS"), a non-practicing enuty, filed a complaint 1n the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas alleging patent ifringement by us and other defendants NPS 1s claimung unspecified damages, cluding treble
damages for willful infrmgement and requests an injunction against such alleged infringement In December 201 1, the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas ordered the case to be transferred to the Nerthern Distrnict of Califormia

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable

Part 11
ITEMS Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securihes
Our comimon steck 15 iraded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “FTNT " The following table sets forth, for the

ume penods indicated, the mgh and low closing sales price of our common stock, adjusted to reflect the two-for-one sphit effective June 1, 2011,
as reported on The NASDACQ Global Select Market I

2011 2010
High (8} Low (S} High ($) Low ($}
Fourth Quarter 2576 16 53 16 73 12 04
Third Quarter 28 17 16 25 12 61 800
Second Quarter 2729 18 94 932 750
First Quarter 22 08 16 55 10 06 785

Holders of Record

As of February 17, 2012, there were 105 holders of record of our common stock A substantially greater number of hoiders of our
commen stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose shares are held by banks, breokers and other

30




Table of Contents

financial institutions

Dividends

We have never declared or pard cash dividends on our capital stock We intend to retarn all available funds and any future earnings to
support the operation of and to finance the growth and development of our business We do not anticipate paywng any cash dividends n the
foreseeable future Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on

our finaneial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may
deem relevant

Stack Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securires Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
fthe "Exchange Act”), or incorporated by reference into any filing of Fortinet under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exchange
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing

The following graph shows a companson from November 18, 2009 through December 31, 201 |, of the cumulative total return for our
common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the NASDAQ Computer Index Such returns are based on histoncal results and are not
intended to suggest future performance Data for The NASDAQ Composite Index and The NASDAQ Computer Index assume remvestment of

dividends We have never declared or pad cash dividends on aur capital stock nor do we anticipate paying any such cash dividends in the
foreseeable future

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN~*
Among Fortinet, Inc, The NASDAQ Composite Index and
The NASDAQ Computer Index

£30

11/09 12/09 03/10 05/10 0s/10 12110 03/11 06/11 09/11 12/11

=;=Forinet — NASDAQ Composite - NASDAQ Computer

11/09  12/09 03710  06/10 0910 12710 O¥/11 0611 0911 12111
Fortinet, Inc § 100 $ 106 3106 $ 99 § 150 $ 195 § 266 § 328 § 202 § 263
NASDAQ Composite $100 $106 $112 S 98 S 110 $ 124 $ 130 § 129 § 113 S 121
NASDAQ Computer $ 100 $ 107 $ 110 § 98 § 111 8§ 127 $ 131 § 128 §$ 118 § 127

* $100 mvested on 11/18/09 1n stock or index, including remvestment of dividends
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Sales of Unregistered Securites

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None
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ITEM 6, Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected consolidated histonical financial data below in conjunction with the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and the consolidated financial statements, related
notes and other financial information included elsewhere 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K The selected financial data in this section 1s not
intended to replace the financial statements and 1s qualified 1n 1ts entirety by the consohdated financial statements and related notes thereto
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We made the decision in the first quarter of 2009 to change our financial reporting peniods from a fiscal to calendar basis This change
was implemented in the third quarter of 2009 upon completion of required system changes Accordingly, commencing in the third quarter of
fiscal 2009, we began operating and reporting financial results on a calendar quarter and year basis Qur third quarter of fiscal 2009 ended on
Septermber 30, 2009, and our fiscal year 2009 ended on December 31, 2009 This transition had the effect of increasing the number of days in our
twelve months ended December 31, 2009 by four days Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2009, our intenm fiscal quarters ended on the Sunday
closest to March 31, June 30 and September 30 of each year
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Consolidated Statement of Operations Data
Revenue
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Product ®
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total gross profit
Operating expenses
Research and development ™
Sales and marketing ®
General and admimstrative
Total operating expenses
Operatng income (loss)
[nterest income
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss} per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic

Diluted

n Cur fiscal years ended on December 31, 2011

Fiscal Year ™

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
($ amounts 1n 000's, except per share amounts)
197,408 135,140 98,686 94,587 70,131
220,268 172,046 139,172 105,292 74,152
15,900 17,510 14,257 11,912 11,083
433,576 324,696 252,115 211,791 155,366
73,201 51,944 42,166 41,397 35,948
35,486 26,967 22,265 19,441 15,941
4911 6,295 5,544 4,634 4,763
113,598 85,206 69,975 65,472 56,652
124,207 83,196 56,520 53,190 34,183
184,782 145,079 116,907 85,851 58,211
10,989 11,215 8,713 7,278 6,320
319,978 239,490 182,140 146,319 98,714
63,577 49,801 42,105 37,035 27,588
145,532 111,968 96,291 87,717 72,159
21,965 22,380 18,320 16,640 20,544
231,074 184,149 156,806 141,392 120,291
88,904 55,341 25,334 4,927 (21,577)
3,523 1,815 1,981 2,614 3,507
(354) (815) 198 1,710 (1,991}
92,073 56,341 27,513 9,251 (20,061)
29,581 15,096 (32,666) 1,888 1,781
62,492 41,245 60,179 7,363 (21,842)
041 029 097 018 0 57)
038 026 039 014 {057
152,581 140,726 52,668 40,034 38,552
163,781 156,406 130,438 53,284 38,552
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(2) Includes stock-based compensation expensc as follows

Cost of product revenue
Cost of services revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing

General and admimstrative

Total stock-based compensation

Consohdated Balance Sheet Data.
Cash, cash equivalents and investments
Working capital

Total assets

Convertible preferred stock

Common stock including treasury stock and
additional paid-in capital

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(S amounts in 000's)
183 101 102 67 553
1,790 929 658 400 416
4,691 2339 1,963 1,049 1452
9,325 3.810 3,020 2512 3,928
3,026 2,136 1,718 1,271 2,983
19,015 9315 7,461 5,299 9,332
As of Fiscal Year End
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(3 amounts i 000's)
518,688 387,460 260,314 124,190 90,161
256,706 201,776 161,652 38,193 12,862
734,747 545,422 387,213 199,105 145,192
— — — 94,368 94,368
314,187 249,000 201,340 20,854 13,438
358,354 232,454 142,452 (5,229) (18,925)
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ITEM7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

In additton to historical informanon, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Sectian 274 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 These statemenis iclude, among other things,
statements concerning our expectations regarding

. variability in sales i certamn product categonies from year to year and between quarters,

. continued sales into large enterprises,

. mux of billings between products and services,

. the significance of stock compensation as an expense,

. the praporition of our revenue that consists of our product and service revenues and future trends with respect to service

revenue as we renew existing services cantracts and expand our customer base,

. the impact of our product innovation strategy
. trends in revenue, costs of revenue, and gross margin,
. trends in our operating expenses, including personnel costs research and development expense sales and marketing expense

and general and admnustrative expense,

. our effective tax rate,

. our ability to generate taxable imcome and realize the tax benefits associated with our deferred tax assets,
. the impact of seasonality on our business, and

. the sufficiency of our existing cash and investments to meet our cash needs for at least the next 12 months,

as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condiion and prospects and business strategies These forward-
looking statements are subyect to certan risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those reflected 1n
the forward-lookmg statements Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences wnclude, but are not imuted to, those discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and, in particular, the risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” m Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form
10-K and those discussed i other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commussion We undertake no obligation to revise or
publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements Grven these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements

Business Overview

We provide network secunty solutions, which enable broad, integrated and high performance protection aganst dynarme secunty
threats while ssmplifying the IT security infrastructure for enterprises, service providers and governmental entities woridwide As of
December 31, 2011, we had shipped over 850,000 appliances via more than 10,000 channel partners to more than 125,000 end-customers
worldwide, mcluding a majonity of the 2011 Fortune Global 100

Our core UTM product line of FortiGate physical and wvirtual apphances ships with a set of security and networking capabiiities,
mcluding firewall, VPN, application control, antivirus, ntrusion prevention, Web filtening, antispam and WAN acceleration functionality We
denive a substantial majonty of product sales from our FortiGate apphances, which range from the FortiGate-20, designed for small businesses,
to the FortiGate-5000 series for large enterprises, telecommunications cartiers, and service providers Our UTM solution also includes our
FortiGuard security subscription services, which end-customers can subscribe to 1n order to obtain access to dynamic updates to the application
control, antivirus, intrusion prevention, Web filtering, vulnerability management and antispam functionality included in our appliances End-
customers can also choose to purchase FortiCare technical support services for our products End-customers also often use ForuManager and
FortiAnalyzer products in conjunction with a ForuGate deployment to provide centralized management, analysis and reporting capabiliies We
complement our core FortiGate product hine with other appliances and software that offer additional protection from secunity threats to other
critical areas of the enterprise, such as messaging, Web application firewalls, databases, employee
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computers and mobile devices Sales of these complementary products have grown in recent quarters, although these products stili represent less
than 10 0% of our total revenue Durnng fiscal 2011 , we expanded and enhanced our FortiGate UTM and FortlAP secure wireless access product
lines, as well as introduced software-based virtual appliances for many of our FortiGate and FortiManager product kines, which help secure the
end-customer's cloud-based network mfrastructures with the same functionality as the traditional physical apphiance 1 thewr respective product
hines

Fiscal 2011 was our second full year as a public company, following our initial public offering 1n November 2009 We beheve the
greater visibihity and brand recogmtion derived from being a public company, combmed with suceess 1n selhing to the enterprise and service
provider customers and new product introductions, served as contributors to the growth 1n our business durtng fiscat 2011 Sales of FortiGate
products have generally been balanced across entry-level (FortiGate-20 to -100 sentes), mid-range (FortiGate-200 to -800 seres) and high-end
(FortiGate-1000 to -5000 series) models with each product category representing approximately one-third of FortiGate sales, with some degree
of vaniabihity from year to year and between quarters During fiscal 2011 we executed well aganst our strategy to grow the high-end segment of
our business, consisting of sales to large enterprises, service providers and telecommunications companies The percentage of our FortiGate
related billings from the ligh-end category increased to 36 9% in fiscal 2011 from 34 3% 1n fiscal 2010, while the entry-level category
decreased from 35 0% to 32 1%, and the mid-range category remained relatively flat over the same period This shift towards the high-end
category positively impacted results in fiscal 2011

We also believe continued product innovation has strengthened our technology advantage as evidenced by the earlier introduction of
several noteworthy new FortiGate appliance models such as the FG-60C, FG-3040B, FG-3950B and FG-5001B During fiscal 2011 we also
made a sigmficant investment in our sales force to expand our global presence both geographically as well as by industry segment We believe
these factors have allowed us to penetrate mto larger enterprise and service provider accounts as evidenced by the increase 1n the number of
deals involving sales greater than $100,000

Billings {a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as total revenue plus the change in deferred revenue) were 3475 8 million in
fiscal 2011, an increase of 26 7% compared to fiscal 2010 Total revenue was $433 6 mullion for fiscal 201! , an increase of 33 5% compared to
fiscal 2010 Revenue for fiscal 2011 includes approximately $20 0 million, or 4 6%, positive impact related to the adoption of the new revenue
recognition rules, as described n our "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies included in - Footnote | of our Consolidated Financial
Statements " The increase in revenue resulting from our adoption of the new revenue recognition rules was attributable to both using "best
estimated sale price” 1n our allocation of arrangement consideration when we did not have vendor-specific objective evidence ("VSOE"), and
being able to recognize upon shipment certain product revenue, which would have been deferred under the previous revenue recognition rules
Product revenue was $197 4 million , an increase of 46 1% compared to fiscal 2010 , and a greater percentage of total revenue {45 5% i fiscal
2011, compared to 41 6% n fiscal 2010 ) Introduction of new products, including some non-FortiGate products, was one factor i the growth
of our preduct revenue Services revenue n fiscal 2011 was $220 3 million , an increase of 28 0% compared to fiscal 2010 Services revenue 1s
important to our future revenue and profitability as 1t provides a source of recurring revenue for us, representing 50 8% and 53 0% of total
revenue for fiscal 2011 and 2010 , respectively Ratable and other revenue 1n fiscal 2011 was $15 9 mullion , a decrease of 9 2% compared to
fiscal 2010 , pnmanly due to the dechine 1n ratable revenue amortization due to the new revenue recogmtion rules

We are a global, geographically diversified business, with 60 2% of our total revenue generated outside the United States, Canada and
Other Americas (" Amenicas™) regions i fiseal 2011 Our operating results were driven by strong performance across all geographies For fiscal
2011, Amencas generated $172 5 million , or 39 8% , of our total revenue, representing an ncrease of 39 2% from fiscal 2010 Europe, Middle
East and Africa ("EMEA"} generated $152 4 milhion , or 35 1%, of our total revenue dunng fiscal 2011 , representing an increase of 25 3% from
fiscal 2010 Asia Pacific and Japan ("APAC") generated $108 7 mullion , or 25 1%, of our total revenue during fiscal 2011, representing an
mcerease of 37 4% from fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2011 , our total operating expenses were $231 | rmillion, an in¢rease of 25 5% compared to fiscal 2010 The 33 5% wncrease In
revenues compared to the 25 5% increase in operating expenses in fiscal 2011 (as discussed under "Results of Operations” below) demonstrates
the leverage that we achieved from the efficiencies 1n our business operations during the past year Despite the negative impact of foreign
currency fluctuations expenenced during fiscal 2011, operating expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased to 53 4% from 56 7% duning
fiscal 2010 We are also experiencing improvements 1n productivity and efficiencies n our overall headcount as our annuahzed fiscal 2011
revenue pet employee, defined as annual revenue divided by average headcount, reached $297,000, up from $254,000 for fiscal 2010
Headcount increased from 1,336 at the end of fiscal 2010 to 1,583 at the end of fiscal 2011, as our pace of hiring mcreased during fiscal 2011 ,
particularly in sales and marketing and research and development

Our Business Model
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Qur sales strategy 18 based on a distribution medel whereby we pnmanly sell our products and services directly to distnbutors who sell
to resellers and service providers, who, in turn, sell to our end-customers [n certain cases, we sell directly to government-focused resellers, large
service providers and majer systems integrators, who have significant purchasing power and unique customer deployment requirements
Typicatly, ForuGuard security subscripuion services and ForuCare technical support services are purchased along with our physical and virtual
appliances We invoice at the time of our sale for the total price of the products and subscription and support services, and the invoice generally
becomes payable within 30 to 90 days We generally recognize product revenue up-front based on the allocated revenue value and defer revenue
for the sale of new and renewal subscription and support services contracts We recogmize the related services revenue over the service penod,
which 15 typicaily one year from the date the end-customer registers for these services (the date on which the services can first be used by the
customer), although it can be as long as five years Sales of new and renewal services increase our deferred revenue balance, which cantnibutes
significantly to our positive cash flow from operations

Key Metrics

We monitor the key financial metrics set forth below to help us evaluate growth trends, estabhsh budgets, measure the effectiveness of
our sales and marketing efforts, and assess operational efficiencies Our total deferred revenue increased by $42 2 million from $252 6 million at
December 31, 2010 to $294 8 million at December 31, 2011  Revenue recognized plus the change in deferred revenue from the beginning to the
end of the period 15 a usefut metric that management 1dentifies as billings Billings for services dnve deferred revenue, which 1s an important
mdicater of the health and visibihity of our business, and has mstoncally represented a majonty of the revenue that we recognize tn a typrcal
quarter We also ended fiscal 2011 with $538 7 mullion in cash, cash equivalents and investments and have had positive cash flow from
operations every fiscal year since 2005 We discuss revenue, gross margin, and the components of operating tncome and margin below under
“Components of Operating Results,” and we discuss our cash, cash equivalents, and investments under “Liquidity and Capital Resources ™
Deferred revenue and cash provided by operating activities are discussed immecdhately below the following table

Fiscal Year or as of Fiscal Year End

2011 2010 2009
(3 amounts in 000's)
Revenue 433,576 324,656 252,115
Gross margin 73 8% 73 8% 72 2%
Operating income " 88,904 55,341 25,334
Operating margin 20 5% 17 0% 10 0%
Total deferred revenue 294,833 252,631 201,930
Increase in total deferred revenue 42,202 50,701 30,313
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 538,687 387,460 260,314
Cash provided by operating activities 132,842 103,383 61,971
Free cash flow ® 135,218 99,607 57,382
{1 Includes
Stock-bascd compensation expense 19.015 9,315 7.461
Non-cash assct acquisition related write-offs — — 2 387
Patent scttlement income 1,911 — -

{2) Sec below for defimition of free cash flow

Deferred revenue Our deferred revenue consists of amounts that have been invoiced but that have not yet been recognized as revenue
The majonity of our deferred revenue balance consists of the unamortized portion of services revenue from subscnption and support service
contracts We monitor our deferred revenue balance because 1t represents a significant portion of revenue to be recogmized in future periods The
following table reflects the calculation of billings as discussed above
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts 1n 000's)
Billings’
Revenue 433,576 324,696 252,115
Increase 1n deferred revenue 42202 50,701 30,313
Total billings (Non-GAAP) 475,778 375,397 282,428

Cash provided by operating activities We monttor cash provided by operating activities as a measure of our overall business
performance Our cash provided by operating activities 1s driven in large part by advance payments for both new and renewal contracts for
subscription and support services Momtoring cash provided by operating activities enables us to analyze our financial performance without the
non-cash effects of certain items such as depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensatton expenses, thereby allowing us to better
understand and manage the cash needs of our business Free cash flow, an alternative non-GAAP financial measure of liquidity, 15 defined as net
cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)

Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,842 103,383 61,971

Less purchases of property and equipment (3,624) (3,776) (4,589)
Free cash flow (Non-GAAP) 129,218 99,607 57,382
Net cash provided by (used in) investng activities (166,826) (283,710) 13,757
Net cash provided by financing activities 19,797 34,019 78,049

Other Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with U S GAAP, we consider certain financial measures
that are not prepared 1n accordance with GAAP, including non-GA AP gross margin, non-GAAP operating income and non-GAAP operating
margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP free cash flow These non-GAAP financial measures are not
based on any standardized methodology prescnbed by GAAP and are not necessanly comparable to similar measures presented by other
companies

We use these non-GA AP financial measures internally in analyzing our financial results and believe they are useful to investors, as a
supplement to GAAP measures, 1n evaluating our ongoing operational performance and enhancing an overall understanding of our past financial
performance, as they help illustrate underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the expenses that we
exclude in these non-GAAP financial measures Furthermore, we use many of these measures to establish budgets and operational goals for
managing our business and evaluating our performance We also believe that the use of these non-GAAP financial measures provides an
add:tional tool for investors to use 1n comparing our recurmng core business operating results over multiple periods with other companies 1n our
industry, many of which present similar non-GAAP financial measures Lo 1nvestors

These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in 1solation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared 1n
accordance with GAAP There are a number of himitations related to the use of these non-GA AP financial measures versus the nearest GAAP
equivalent of these financial measures Furst, these non-GAAP financial measures exclude certain recurring charges including, but not imited to,
stock-based compensation expense, asset acquisition related write-offs, and patent settlements Stock-based compensation has been, and wili
continue to be for the foreseeable future, a sigmificant recurnng expense in our busmess and 1s an important part of our employees’ overall
compensation Second, the expenses that we exclude 1n our calculation of these non-GAAP financial measures may differ from the expenses, 1f
any, that our peer companies may exclude when they report their results of operations We compensate for these hmuations by providing the
nearest GAAP equivalents of these non-GAAP financial measures and descnbing these GAAP equivalents in our Results of Operations below
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Non-GAAP gross margin 15 gross profit as reported on our consolidated statements of operations, excluding the impact of stock-based
compensation expense, which 1s a non-cash charge Non-GAAP income from operations 1s operating income, as reported on our consolidated
statements of operations, excluding the impact of stock-based compensation expense, asset acquisition related write-offs, and the income we
received from a patent settlement Non-GAAP operating margm 1s non-GAAP operating income divided by revenue The following table
reconciles GAAP gross profit, operating income, and operating margin to non-GAAP gross profit, non-GAAP operating income, and non-GAAP
operating margin for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year

2011 2010 2009
% of % of % of
Amount (5) Revenue Amount (§) Revenue Amount (§) Revenue
($ amounts in 000°s)
Total revenue 433,576 324,696 252,115
GAAP gross profit and margin 319,978 738 239,490 738 182,140 722
Stock-based compensation expense 1,973 05 1,030 03 760 03
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-offs — — — — 2,387 09
Non-GAAP gross profit and margin 321,951 743 240,520 741 185,287 734
GAAP operating income and margin 88,504 205 55,341 170 25,334 100
Stock-based compensation expense
Cost of revenue 1,973 04 1,030 03 760 03
Research and development 4,691 i1 2,339 09 1,963 08
Sales and marketing 9,325 22 3,810 12 3,020 12
General and administrative 3,026 06 2,136 04 1,718 07
Total stock-based compensation 19,015 43 9,315 28 7.461 3o
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-offs — —_ — — 2,387 09
Patent settlements {1,911 04 — — — —
Non-GAAP operating income and margin 106,008 244 64,656 198 35,182 13 9
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Non-GAAP operating expenses exclude the impact of stock-based compensation expense and the impact of the patent settlements The
following table reconciles GAAP operating expenses to non-GAAP operatimg expenses for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009

% of % of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount () Revenue Amount (§) Revenue

(S amounts n 000's)

Operating Expenses.
Research and development expenses

GAARP research and development expenscs 63,577 147 49,801 153 42,195 167

Stock-based compensation (4,691) an (2,339) 09 {1,963) (0 8)

Non-GAAP research and development

expenses 58,886 136 47,462 144 40,232 159
Sales and marketing expenses

GAATP sales and marketing expenses 145,532 36 111,968 345 96,291 382

Stock-based compensation (9,325) 22 (3,810) (12) (3,020) {12

Non-GAAP sales and marketing expenses 136,207 3l4 108,158 333 93,271 370
General and administrative expenses

GAAP general and admimstrative expenses 21,965 51 22,380 69 18,320 73

Stock-based compensation (3,026) {0 6) {2,136) 0 4) (1,718) "N

Patent settlements 1,911 04 — -— — -

Non-GAAP general and administrative

expenses 20,850 49 20,244 65 16,602 66
Total operating expenses

GAAP operating expenses 231,074 534 184,149 567 156,806 622

Stock-based compensation (17,042) 39 (8,285) (25 (6,701} 27

Patent settlements 1,911 04 — — — —

Non-GAAP operaung expenses 215943 499 175,864 542 150,105 595

Non-GAAP net income 15 net income, as reported in our consolidated statements of operations, excluding the impact of stock-based
compensation expense, asset acquisition related write-offs, and patent settlements The following table reconciles GAAP ret income as reported
on our consolidated statements of operations to non-GAAP net income for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ and share amounts in 000's, except per share amounts}
Net Income,

GAAP net income 62,492 41,245 60,179
Stock-based compensation expense 19,015 9315 7,461
Non-cash asset acquisition related wnite-offs — — 2,387
Patent settlements ™ .91 — —
Proviston for income taxes 29,581 15,096 (32,666)
Non-GAAP income before provision for income taxes 109,177 65,656 37,361
Tax effects related to non-GAAP adjustments * (36,028) (21,010) (6,877

Non-GAAP net income 73,149 44 646 30,484

Non-GAAP net income pet share - diluted 045 029 023

Shares used n per share calculation - diluted 163,781 156,406 130,438
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M Stock-based compensation expense and non-cash a<set acquisition related wnie-offs arc added back to GAAP net income ta reconcile to non-GAAP mcome before taxes

() The patent setttement income 15 removed from GAAP net income to reconeile to non-GAAP mmcome before taxes

3 Provision {or income taxes as our GAAP provision that must be added to GAAP net income to reconcile to non-GAAP income before taxes The provision for fiscal 2009
included a $37 8 mallion tax benefit from the reversal of our valuation allowance

{4 We used a 33% effective tax rate in fiscal 2011 to calculate non-GAAP nct income for fiscal 2011 The 33% and 32% cffective tax rates for fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010

respectively, both reflect the exclusion of GAAP based stock option benefits as well as the reinstated Federal R&D Credit

Components of Operating Results

Revenue

We denve our revenue from sales of our products and subsctiption and support services In fiscal 2011, we recogmized our revenue n
accordance with the gmdance in ASC 985-605-25 which ts discussed in further detaid in “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-—
Revenue Recognition™ below According to ASC 985-605-25, revenue 1s recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the price 15 fixed or determunable and collection 15 probable

Our total revenue 1s comprised of the following

Product revenue Product revenue 1s generated from sales of our appliances and software The substantial majority of our
product revenue has been generated by our ForuGate line of apphances, and we do not expect this to change n the foreseeable
future Product revenue also includes revenue derived from sales of ForuManager, FortiAnalyzer, ForuSwitch, ForuiMail,
ForuDB, ForuWeb, FortAP, FortiScan, ForuCarrier, FortiBalancer, ForuCache, ForttBnidge, and FortAuthenticator
appliances, and our FortiChent and virtual domain, or VDOM, sofiware Additionally, we generate revenue from the
TalkSwitch line of telephony products We recognize product revenue on sales to distnbutors that have no general night of
returnt and direct sales to end-customers upon shipment, once all other revenue recogmition criteria have been met We also
recogmze revenue upon sell-through for distributor agreements that allow for nghts of return Such returns are estimated and
recorded as a reduction to revenue As a percentage of total revenue, we expect our product revenue may vary from quarter-to-
quarter based on seasonal and cyclical factors discussed below under “—Quarterly Results of Operations™ but generally may
remain at relatively comparable levels or decline modestly over ime, as services revenue becomes a larger portion of our
business as our customers renew existing services contracts and we expand our customer base

Services revenue Services revenue 15 generated pnmanly from FortiCare technical support services for software updates,
maintenance releases and patches, Internet access to technical content, telephone and Internet access to techmical support
personnel and hardware support, and FortiGuard secunty subscniption services related to application control, antivirus,
ntrusion prevention, Web filtering, antispam and vulnerability management updates We recognize revenue from subscription
and support services over the service performance period Our typical contractual support and subscription term 1S one year
from the date of registration, although we do offer mulu-year support and subscription contracts We also generate a small
portion of our revenue from professional services and training services, and we recognize this revenue as the services are
provided As a percentage of total revenue, we expect our services revenue to remain at comparable levels or increase as our
customers renew existing service contracts and we expand our customer base Qur services revenue growth rate depends
sighificantly on the growth of our customer base and the renewal of service contracts by our current customers

Ratable and other revenue Ratable and other revenue 15 generated from sales of our products and services in cases where the
fair value of the services berng provided cannot be separated from the value of the entire sale In these cases, the value of the
entire sale 15 deferred and recognized ratably over the service performance pertod See “—Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates—Revenue Recognition " Ratable and other revenue was formerly referred to as Ratable product and services
revenue In 2011, this category includes a $2 6 milhon sale of previously-acquired patents during the third quarter of fiscal
2011 In fiscal 2011 and 2010 , ratable and other revenue represented approximately 4% and 5% of total revenue, respectively
Over time we expect this category to continue to dechne due to the new revenue recognition rules, which allow us to use best
estimate of selling price ("BESP") 1n our allocation of arrangement consideration when we do not have VSOE

Our total cost of revenue 1s comprised of the following
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. Cost of product revenue A substantial majonty of the cost of product revenue consists of third-party manufactunng costs Our
cost of product revenue also includes product testing costs, wnite-offs for excess and obsolete inventory, royalty payments,
amortization and any impairment of applicable acquired mtangible assets, warranty costs, shipping and allocated facihities
costs, stock-based compensation costs, and personnel costs associated with logisucs and quality control Personnel costs
nclude cash-based personnel costs such as salanes, benefits and bonuses Royalties reflect amounts related to the Trend Micro
hugation, which was settled 1in December 2011, as discussed in “Ttem 3 - Legal Proceedings ™

. Cost of services revenue Cost of services revenue 1s primanly compnsed of cash-based personnel costs associated with our
FortiGuard Labs team and our technical suppont, professional services and trainmng teams, as well as depreciation, supplies,
data center, data communications, facility-related costs and stock-based compensation costs We expect our cost of services
revenue will increase as we continue 10 invest in subscription and support services to meet the needs of our growing customer
base

. Cost of ratable and other revenue Cost of ratable and other revenue 1s comprised pnmarily of deferred product costs and
services-related costs

Gross profit Gross profit as a percentage of revenue, or gross margin, has been and will continue to be affected by a vanety of factors,
ncluding the average sales price of our products, any excess mventory write-offs, manufactunng costs, the mix of products sold and the mix of

revenue between products and services We believe our overall gross margin for the near term will remain at comparable levels compared to that
achieved in fiscal 2011

Services revenue has historically increased as a percentage of total revenue since inception, and this trend has had a positive effect on

our total gross margin given the higher services gross margins compared to product gross margins We generally marmntained consistent services
gross margns in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010

Operating expenses Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing and general and admimustrative
expenses Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of cash-based personnel costs such as salartes,
benefits, bonuses and, with regard to the sales and marketing expense, and sales commussions They also include non-cash charges, specifically,
stock-based compensation We expect personnel costs to continue to increase in absolute dollars as we hire new employees

. Research and development Research and development expense consists primarily of cash-based personnel costs Additional
research and development expenses include ASIC and system prototypes and certification-related expenses, depreciahion of
capital equipment, facility-related expenses and stock-based compensation expenses. The majonty of our research and
development 15 focused on both software development and the ongoing development of our hardware platform We record ail
research and development expenses as incurred, except for capual equipment which 1s depreciated over time Qur development
tcams are primanly located in Canada, China, and the United States We expect our spending for research and development to
increase in absolute dollars but remain comparable as a percentage of total revenue compared to fiscal 2011 results

. Sales and marketing Sales and marketing expense 15 the largest component of our operating expenses and primanly consists
of cash-based personnel costs including salary, benefits and commissions Additional sales and marketng expenses mclude
stock-based compensation, promotional and other marketing expenses, travel, depreciation of capital equipment and facility-
related expenses We intend to hire additional personnel focused on sales and marketing and expand our sales and marketing
efforts worldwide 1n order to 1ncrease our presence in new geographic markets and enterpnse verticals, add new customers and
increase penetration within our existing customer base Accordingly, we expect sales and marketing expenses to increase n
absolute doliars and to continue to be our largest operating expense but remain comparable as a percentage of total revenue
compared to fiscal 2011 results

. General and admimstrative General and admimsirative expense consisis of cash-based personnel costs as well as professional
fees, stock-based compensation, depreciation of capital equipment and software, and facility-related expenses General and
administrative personnel include our executive, finance, human resources, information technotogy and legal erganizations Our
professional fees principally consist of outside legal, auditing, accounting, information technology and other consulting costs
We expect that general and administrative expense will increase 1n absolute dollars as we hire additional personnel, make
improvements to our information technology nfrastructure, and defend our ntellectual property, but remam

43




Table of Content
comparable as a percentage of total revenue compared to fiscal 2011 resuits, barring unforeseen hngation

Interest ncome Interest income consists of income eamned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments We have histonically invested
our cash tn money market funds, commercial paper, corporate debt secunties, municipal bends, term deposits, and U § government and agency
debt securities

Other income {expense), net  Other income (expense), net consists primanly of foreign exchange and related hedgimg gains and losses
Foreign exchange gains and losses relate to foreign currency exchange re-measurement The hedging gans and losses are related to our settled
balance sheet hedges

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes We are subject to tax n the United States as well as other tax junisdictions or countries in
which we conduct business Earnings from our non-U 8 activities are subject to income taxes in the local country which are generally lower than
U S tax rates, and may be subject to current U S income taxes Our effective tax rates differ from the U § statutory rate pnmanly due to foregn
income subject to different tax rates than the U S, research and development tax credits, withholding taxes, nondeductible compensation and
expenses and adjustments related to our intercompany transfer pnicing

The income tax provision for fiscal 2011 was comprised primarily of domestic income taxes, foreign income taxes and withholding
taxes The 2011 effective tax rate was impacted by the inclusion of stock option benefits, which affected the transfer pricing calculations
between some of our foreign subsidiaries as well as the reinstated U S Federal Research and Development Tax Credit The mcome tax provision
for fiscal 2009 reflected a tax benefit related to the release of the valuation allowance, which resulted in the recognition of deferred tax asseis As
a result of fully reversing our valuation allowance, we expect that our effective tax rate will approximate the U S federal statutory tax rates plus
the impact of state taxes, research and development tax credits (when applicable), withholding tax, nondeductible compensation and adjustments
related to intercompany transfer pricing

Critical Accounting Polictes and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements, which have
been prepared m accordance with US GAAP These principles require us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, lhabihties, revenue and expenses, cash flow and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabiliies Our estimates mclude those related
to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, valuation of inventory, warranty liabihties and accounting for income taxes We base our
estimates on historical expenence and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may
differ from these estimates To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and our actual results, our future financial
statements will be affected

We belteve that of our sigmficant accounting policies, which are described in Note 1 to the financial statements included n this 10-K,
the following accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment and complexity Accordingly, we believe these are the most cnitical to
fully understand and evaluate our financial condition and results of operations

Revenue Recogmtion

In October 2009, the FASB amended the ASC as summarized in Accounting Standards Update ("ASU™) No 2009-14, Software (Topic
985) Certaun Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements , and ASU No 2009-13, Revenue Recogrition (Topic 605) Multiple-
Delverable Revenuie Arrangements  ASU 2009-14 amends mdustry specific revenue accounting gwidance for software and software related
transactions to exclude from 1ts scope tangible products containing software components and non-software components that function together to
deliver the product’s essentral functionality ASU 2009-13 amends the accounting for multiple-element arrangements to provide guidance on
how the deliverables 1n an arrangement should be separated and ehminates the use of the residual method ASU 2009-13 also requires an entity
to allecate revenue using the relative selling price method The standard establishes a hierarchy of evidence to determine the stand-alone selling
price of a deliverable based on VSOE, third-party evidence ("TPE"), and the BESP If VSOE 15 available, 1t would be used to determine the
selling price of a deliverable If VSOE 1s not available, the entity would determine whether TPE 1s available 1f so, TPE must be used to
determme the selling price If TPE 1s not available, then the BESP would be used

For all transactions onginating or matenally modified after December 31, 2010, we recogmze revenue n accordance with ASU 2009-
13 Certain arrangements with multiple deliverables may continue to have software deliverables that are subject to ASC 985-605 along with non-
software deliverables that are subject to the ASU 2009-13 When a sales arrangement contains muluple elements, such as hardware apphances,
software, customer support services, and/or professional services, we
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allocate revenue to each clement based on the aforementioned selling price lierarchy In multiple element arrangements where software 1s more-
than-incidental, revenue 15 allocated to each separate unit of accounting for each of the non-software deliverables and to the software
dehverables as a group using the relative selling prices of each of the deliverables in the arrangement based on the selling price hierarchy m ASU
2009-13

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangement 1s based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when
sold separately In determiming VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the setling pnces for a service fall within a reasonably narrow
pricing range, generally evidenced by a substantial majonty of such historical stand-alone transactions falling within a reasonably narrow range
of the med:an rates In addition, we consider major segments, geographies, customer classifications, and other vanables 1 determuining VSOE

We are typically not able to determine TPE for our products or services TPE 15 determaned based on competitor prices for similar
deliverables when sold separately Generally, our go-to-market strategy differs from that of our peers and our offerings contain a significant level
of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality cannot be obtained Furthermore, we are unable to
reliably determine what similar competitor products' selling prices are on a stand-alone basis

For our hardware appliances we use BESP as our selling pnce For our support and services, we generally use VSOE as our selling
price. When we are unable to establish a selling price using VSOE for our support and services, we use BESP 1n our allocation of arrangement
consideration The objective of BESP 1s to deiermine the price at which we would transact a sale 1f the product or service were sotd on a stand-
alone basis We determine BESP for a product or service by considering muluple factors including, but not imited to, cost of products, gross
margin objectives, pnicing practices, geographies, customer classes and distribution channels We review our BESP estimates on a quarterly
basis to comcide with our VSOE review process

We derive revenue from sales of products, incleding apphances and software, and services, including subscription, support and other
services Our apphances include operating system software that 1s integrated into the apphiance hardware and 15 deemed essential to 11s
functionality As a result, we account for revenue in accordance with ASC 985-605 and all related interpretations See *“—Summary of
Sigmificant Accounting Policies in the notes to the consohdated financial statements” for a discussion of new revenue recognition standards that
we adopted 1n fiscal 2011

Revenue can be recognized when all of the following critenia have been met

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists Binding contracts or purchase orders are generally used to determine the
existence of an arrangement

. Delrvery has occurred Delivery occurs when we fulfill an order and title and nisk of loss has been transferred or upon delivery
of the service contract registration code

. The fee 15 fixed or deternunable We assess whether the fee 1s fixed or determinable based on the payment terms associated
with the transaction In the event payment terms differ from cur standard business practices, the fees are deemed to be not
fixed or determinable and revenue 15 recognized when the payments become due, provided the remaining critena for revenue
recognition have been met

. Collectabiiity 1s probable We assess collectability based pnmarily on creditworthiness as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as payment history Payment terms generally range from 30 to 90 days from invoice date

For arrangements which include end-customer acceplance criterta, revenue 1s recognized upon acceptance We recognize product
revenue on sales to distnbutors that have no general right of return and direct sales to end-customers upon shipment, once all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met We also recognize revenue upon sell-through for distnbutor agreements that allow for nghts of return Such
returns are estimated and recorded as a reduction to revenue Substantially all of our products have been sold in combination with services,
which consist of subseriptions and/or support Subscription services provide access to our antivinzs, nlrusion prevention, web filtering, and anti-
spam functionality Support services include nghts to unspecified software upgrades, maintenance releases and patches, telephone and Internet
access o technical support personnel, and hardware support

The subscription and support services start on the date the customer registers the appliance The customer 1s then entitled to service for
the stated contractual period beginming on the registration date

45




Table of Contents

We offer certain sales incentives to channel partners We reduce revenue for estimates of sales returns and allowances Additionally, in
limited circumstances, we allow our customers to return our products, subject to varying limitations, for a refund within a reasonably short
period of tume from the date of purchase We estumate and record reserves for sales incentives and sales returns based on histonical experience

At December 31, 2011, our allowance for sales returns was $2 4 rmilion compared to $2 0 mithon at December 31,2010 If our
allowance {or sales returns had increased by 10 0%, or $0 2 muliton , our net revenue wouid have decreased by $0 2 mullien  fiscal 2011

Stock-Based Compensation

Employees We have accounted for stock-based awards to employees 1n accordance with ASC 718, which requires compensation
expense related 1o share-based transactions, including employee stock options, to be measured and recognized 1n the financial statements based
on a determination of the fair value of the stock options The grant date fair value 1s determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-
Scholes™) pricing mode! For all employee stock options, we recognize expense over the requisite service period using the streaight-line methad
Our option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility, expected term, and
forfeiture rate Any changes in these highly subjective assumptions could significantly impact stock-based compensation expense

Employee Stock Purchase Plan We apply ASC 718 to stock purchase nights, which requires compensation expense related to share-
based transactions, including stock purchase nights under our employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP"), to be measured and recognized wn the
financial statements based on fair value The grant date fair value 1s determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes™) pricing
model Our ESPP provides for consecutive six-month offering periods, with the first offering penod having commenced on August 15, 2011 and
ended on February 14, 2012

Valuation of Inventory

Inventory 1s recorded at the lower of cost (using the first-in, first-out method) or market, after we give appropriate consideration to
obsolescence and nventory 1 excess of anticipated future demand In assessing the ulimate recoverability of inventory, we are required to make
estimates regarding future customer demand, the timing of new product introductions, economic trends and market conditions [ the acal
product demand 15 sigmficantly lower than forecasted, we could be required to record additional inventory write-downs which would be charged
to cost of product revenue Any wnte-downs could have an adverse impact on our gross margins and profitability

Warranty Liabilities

We generally provide a one-year warranty on hardware products and a 90-day warranty on software A provision for estimated future
costs related to warranty activities 1s charged to cost of product revenue based upon historical product failure rates and hustonical costs incurred
in correcting product failures If we expenence an increase in warranty claims compared with our historical experience, or 1f the cost of servicmg
warranty claims 1s greater than expected, our gross margin could be adversely affected

Accounting for Income Taxes

We record income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recogmtion of deferred tax assets and habihities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recogmzed 1n our financial statements or tax returns In estimating future tax
consequences, generally all expected future events other than enactments or changes 1n the tax law or rates are considered Valuation allowances
are provided when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized

We operate in various tax junsdictions and are subject to audit by vanous tax authonties We provide for tax contingencies whenever it
1s deemed more likely than not that a tax asset has been impaired or a tax hability has been incurred for events such as tax claims or changes m
tax laws Tax contingencies are based upon their technical merits, relevant tax law and the specific facts and circumstances as of each reporting
period Changes in facts and circumstances conld result in matenial changes to the amounts recorded for such tax contmgencies

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740-10, which defines the confidence level that a tax position must
meet i order to be recognized i the financial statements ASC 740-10 requires that the tax effects of a position be recognized only 1f 1t 15 “more

likely than not” to be sustained based solely on 1ts technical ments as of the reporting date We
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consider many factors when evaluating and esumating our tax pesitions and tax benefits, which may require penod:c adjustments and which may
nol accurately anticipate actual outcomes

As part of the process of prepanng our consohdated financial statements, we are required te estimate our taxes in each of the
Junsdicttons 1 which we operate We estimate actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing
treatment of 1tems, such as accruals and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes These differences result in deferred tax assets,
which are included 1n our consohdated balance sheets In general, deferred 1ax assets represent future tax benefits 1o be receved when certain
expenses previously recognized in our consohdated statements of operations become deductible expenses under apphcable income tax laws, or
loss or credit carryforwards are utihzed

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether 1t 1s more hikely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets 1s dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
dunng the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 we concluded that 1t was
more likely than not that we would be able to realize the benefit of our deferred tax assets in the future We based this concluston on historical
and projecied operating performance, as well as our expectation that our operations will generate sufficient taxable income n future periods to
realize the tax benefits associated with the deferred tax assets As a result, we released all of the valuation allowance on our net deferred tax
assets We will continue to assess the need for a valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset by evaluating both positive and negative evidence
that may exist Any adjustment 10 the net deferred 1ax asset valuauon allowance would be recorded n the income statement for the penod that
the adjustment 1s determined to be required

We make estimates and judgments about our future taxable income that are based on assumptions that are consistent with our plans and
esumates Should the actual amounts differ from our estimates, the amount of our tax expense and liabilities could be matenally impacted

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our total revenue for those
periods The peniod-to-period comparison of financial resuits 1s not necessanly indicative of financial results to be achieved in future pertads
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Fiscal Year
01 2010 2009 ™
($ amounts 1n 000's)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data.

Revenue

Product 197,408 135,140 98,686

Services 220,268 172,046 139,172

Ratable and other revenue 15,900 17,510 14,257
Total revenue 433,576 324,696 252,115
Cost of revenue

Product 73,201 51,944 42,166

Services 35,486 26,967 22,265

Ratable and other revenue 4,911 6,295 5,544
Total cost of revenues 113,598 85,206 69,975
Gross profit

Product 124,207 83,196 56,520

Services 184,782 145,079 116,907

Ratable and other revenue 10,989 11,215 8,713
Total gross profit 319,978 239,490 182,140
Operating expenses

Research and development 63,577 49,801 42,195

Sales and marketing 145,532 111,968 96,291

General and admimstrative 21,965 22,380 18,320
Total operating expenses 231,074 184,149 156,806
Operating income 88,904 55,341 25,334
[nterest income 3,523 1,815 1,981
Other income (expense), net (354) (815) 198
Income befere income taxes 62,073 56,341 27,513
Prowvision for (benefit from) income taxes 29,581 15,096 (32,666)
Net mncome 62,492 41,245 60,179
(1) Commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, we began operating and reporting financial results on a catendar quarter and year basts This change in

peried end had the effect of increasing the number of days in fiscal 2009 by four days
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
(as % of revenue)

Revenue

Product 455 416 391

Services 508 530 552

Ratable and other revenue 37 54 57
Total revenue 100 0 1000 1000
Total cost of revenue 262 262 278
Total gross profit 738 738 722
Operating expenses

Research and development 147 153 167

Sales and marketing 336 346 382

General and administrative 51 69 73
Total operating expenses 534 568 62 2
Operating 1ncome 205 170 100
Interest income 08 07 08
Other income (expense), net oD {02) 01
Income before provision for income taxes 212 175 109
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 68 46 (130
Net income 144 129 239

Fiscal Years 2011 and 2010

Revenue
Fiscal Year
01 2010
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue § Change % Change
($ amounts in 000’s)

Revenue

Product 197,408 455 135,140 41 6 62,268 46 1

Services 220,268 508 172,046 530 48,222 280

Ratable and other revenue 15,900 37 17,510 54 (1.610) 92
Total revenue 433,576 1000 324,696 1000 108,880 335
Revenue by Geography

Americas 172,494 398 123,961 182 48,533 352

EMEA 152,385 351 121,604 375 30,781 253

APAC 108,697 251 79,131 2413 29,566 374
Total revenue 433,576 1000 324,696 1000 108,880 335

Total revenue increased 3108 9 mullion , or 33 5% , 1n fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 The adoption of the new revenue
recognition rules, described in Note lof our Consolhidated Financial Statements in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
contributed $20 0 nuillion of the increase, primanly with respect to product revenue The Amencas and APAC regions contributed the largest
poruion of our revenue growth on a percentage basis Product revenue increased $62 3 million , or 46 1% , compared to fiscal 2010 The increase
n product revenue was pnimartly dnven by greater sales volume and higher average sales prices 1n our FortiGate product famly due to increased
demand for our high-end products from enterprise and service provider customers The impact of adopting the new revenue recogmition rules
referenced above also contnbuted to the increase in product revenue Services revenue increased $48 2 million , or 28 0% , in fiscal 2011
compared to fiscal 2010 due to the recognitton of revenue from our increased focus on contract renewals and our growing deferred revenue
balance consisting of subscription and support contracts sold to a larger customer base Ratable and other revenue was $4 2 million lower due to
the impact of no longer deferming ratable revenue as a result of the above-mentioned adoption of new revenue recognition rules,
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offset by a 32 6 million sale of previcusly-acquired patents

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
(S amounts in 000's)

Cost of revenue

Product 73,201 51,944 21,257 409

Services 35,486 26,967 8,519 316

Ratable and other revenue 4911 6,295 (1.384) (22 0)
Total cost of revenue 113,598 85,206 28,392 333
Giross margin (%)

Product 629 616 13

Services 8319 8413 (0 4)

Ratable and other revenue 69 1 640 51
Total gross margin 738 738 —

Total gross margin remained consistent in fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 Product gross margin increased 1 3 percentage points in
fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 pnmanly due to a greater mix of our high-end products From time to ime, we have expenienced sales of
previously reserved inventory During fiscal 2011, we expenenced a positive tmpact of 0 4 percentage points 1n our product gross margin due Lo
the sale of fully reserved inventory compared to a positive impact of 0 7 percentage points 1n fiscal 2010 Services gross margin was relatively
fiat as we conunued to make wnvestiments 1n our support, professional services and ForuGuard global secunty orgamzations at a rate shghtly
greater than the increase 1n revenue 1n order to umprove service capabthties Services cost increased by 38 5 million pnmanly due to a $6 1
mullion increase 1n cash-based personnel costs related to headcount increases, a $0 9 mullion 1ncrease 1n stock-based compensation, a $0 8
millien increase 1n warranty and other expenses and a $0 7 milhion increase in professional services costs Ratable and other revenue gross

margin increased 5 1 percentage points as a result of a $2 6 million sale of previously-acquired patents duning fiscal 2011, which had a dwect
posilive 1mpact to gross margins

Operating Expenses
Fiscal Year
2011 2010
% of % of
Amount {§) Revenue Amount {§) Revenue 3 Change % Change
(S amounts 1n 000's)

Operating expenses

Research and development 63,577 147 49,801 153 13,776 217

Sales and marketing 145,532 36 111,968 345 33,564 300

General and administrative 21,965 51 22,380 69 {415) (19N
Total operating expenses 231,074 534 184,149 567 46,925 255

Revearch and development expense

Rescarch and development expense increased $13 8 mullion , or 27 7% , 1n fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 pnmanly due to an
increase 1n cash-based personnel costs and siock-based compensation expense Cash-based personnel costs increased by $9 7 million as a result
of increased headcount to support continued enhancements of our existing products Stock-based compensation expense increased by $2 4
million pnmanly due to the increase in headcount and stock price, and the introduction of the ESPP in fiscal 2011 In addition, we mcurred
increases in product development expenses, such as non-recurnng engineening (NRE), testing and certifications of $0 8 million, depreciation
expense of $0 6 million, occupancy-related costs of $0 2 million and other expenses of S0 1 mitlon The increase 1n the Canadian dollar
exchange rate agamst the US dollar also significantly contributed to the increase in research and development expenses by $2 0 milhon
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Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased $33 6 million , or 30 0% , n fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 as we continued to increase our
sales headcount 1n order to expand our global footprint Cash-based personnel costs increased by $21 3 million pnmanly as a result of ncreased
headcount Stock-based compensation expense ncreased by $5 5 mullion pnmanly due to the increase in headcount and stock price, and the
introduction of the ESPP 1n fiscal 2011 In addition, we incurred increases 1n marketing-related expenses of $2 9 million and travel of 51 3
mullion to support our averall revenue growth of 33 5% We also had a combined $1 6 million tncrease 1n depreciation and other expenses and a
$0 8 millien increase 1n occupancy-related costs As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expenses decreased 0 9 percentage poimnts due
to the leverage we are achteving from the investment tn our sales force n fiscal 2011, as evidenced by revenue growth of 33 5% exceeding sales
and marketing expenses growth of 30 0%

General and administrative expense

In fiscal 2011, general and admimistrative expense decreased $0 4 milhon , or | 9% , compared to fiscal 2010 Cash-based personne!
costs increased $1 5 million, stock-based compensation expense increased $0 9 million and occupancy-related costs and other expenses
increased a combined $0 1 milhon, partially offset by $2 0 milhion 1n royalties received from a patent settlement and a $1 ¢ milhion decrease in

legal expenses compared to fiscal 2010

Interest income and other income (expense), net

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 § Change % Change
($ amounts 1n 000's)
Interest income 3,523 1,815 1,708 94 )
Other expense, net (354) (815) 461 (56 6)

The $1 7 miliion increase n interest income 1n fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 was pnimanly due to interest earned on our higher
balances of cash, cash equivalents and investments The change in other income (expense), net for fiscal 2011 when compared to fiscal 2010 was
the result of lower foreign exchange losses in fiscal 2011

Provision for (benefit from} income taxes

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provision for income taxes 29,581 15,096 14,485 960
Effective tax rate (%) 321 268 — 53

Our cffective tax rate was 32 1% for fiscal 2011, compared with an effective tax rate of 26 8% for fiscal 2010 The provision for
ncome taxes for fiscal 2011 was compnsed primarily of federal, state and foreign income taxes The 2010 effective tax rate 1s impacted by the
inclusion of stock option benefits, which affected the transfer pricing calculations between some of our foreign subsidianes, as well as the
remnstated U S Federal Research and Development Tax Credit The increase in the provision for income taxes for fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal
2010 was primanly due to an increase n profits subject to U § tax
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Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009

Revenue
Fiscal Year
2010 2009
% of % of
Amount (5) Revenue Amount (8) Revenue § Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)

Revenue

Product 135,140 416 08,686 391 36,454 369

Services 172,046 530 139,172 552 32,874 236

Ratable and other revenue 17,510 54 14,257 57 3,253 228
Total revenue 324,696 1000 252,115 100 0 72,581 288
Revenue by Geography

Americas 123,961 382 92,621 367 31,340 338

EMEA 121,604 375 95,886 381 25,7118 268

APAC 79,131 243 63,608 252 15,523 244
Total revenue 324,696 1000 252,115 1000 72,581 28 8

Total revenue increased $72 6 million, or 28 8%, in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 The Amenicas region contributed the largest
portion of this growth Product revenue increased $36 5 million, or 36 9%, compared to fiscal 2009 The increase in product revenue was driven
by higher product sales volume across all regions A greater mix of our hugh-end products and increased sales to enterprise and service provider
customers contributed to a 79% increase 1o the number of $500,000+ deals 1n fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 Services revenue increased
£32 9 mullion, or 23 6%, in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 due to the recognition of revenue from our growing deferred revenue balance
consisting of subscription and support contracts sold to a larger customer base and our increased focus on contract renewals The growth in
services revenue tends to lag growth in billings and product revenue due to amortization of revenue over the service peried The growth in
ratable and other revenue was due to a slight decrease in the weighted-average service penod as a result of a decrease in the average contractual
term of support contracts for arrangements 1n which we recognized product and services revenue ratably

Cost af revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 $ Change % Change
($ amounts tn 000's)

Cost of revenue

Product 51,944 42,166 9,778 232

Services 26,967 22,265 4,702 211

Ratable and other revenue 6,295 5,544 751 135
Total cost of revenue 85,206 69,975 15,231 218
Gross margin (%)

Product 616 573 43

Services 843 840 03

Ratable and other revenue 640 611 29
Total gross margin 738 722 t6

Total gross margin increased 1 6 percentage points in fiscal 2010 pnmanly due to improved product margins i fiscal 2010 compared to
fiscal 2009 Product gross margin increased 4 3 percentage points in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 primarily due 10 a greater mix of our
high-end products and the absence of asset acquisition related wnite-offs compared to a $2 4 million wrate-off in fiscal 2009 From time to time,

we have expenenced sales of previously reserved inventory During fiscal 2010, we expenenced a positive impact of 0 7 percentage pomts due
to the sale of fully reserved inventory compared to a
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posiive impact of 1 1 percentage points in fiscal 2009 Services gross margin was relatively flat as we continued to make investments in our
support, professional services and FortiGuard global security research organizations to support the growing revenue base Services cosl increased
by $4 7 million primanily due to a $2 9 million increase in cash-based personnel costs related to headcount increases Travel, depreciation and
other expenses increased a combined $0 & million In addition, occupancy-related costs increased $0 7 milhion and stock-based compensation
increased SO 3 million Ratable and other revenue gross margin increased 2 9 percentage points as a result of leverage achieved from cost
reductions with respect to overhead

Operating expenses

Fiscal Year
2010 2009
% of % of
Amount (§) Revenue Amount (8) Revenue $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000’3}

Operating expenses

Research and development 49,801 153 42,195 167 7,606 180

Sales and marketing 111,968 345 96,291 182 15,677 163

General and administrative 22,380 69 18,320 73 4,060 222
Total operating expenses 184,149 567 156,806 622 27,343 17 4

Research and development expense

Research and development expense increased $7 6 multion, or 18 0%, in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 primanly due to an
increase of $5 2 million in cash-based personnel costs as 2 result of increased headcount to support continued enhancements of our products,
higher occupancy-related costs of $1 7 rmilion due to a move mto a new office facihty 1n Vancouver with significantly increased square footage,
plus early terminatton and moving costs, an increase of $0 4 mithon in stock-based compensation expense, and an increase of 30 3 mithon 1
preduct development related expenses, such as non-recurning engineering (NRE), testing and certifications A 10% increase 1n the Canadian
dollar exchange rate against the US dollar also sigmificantly contnibuted to the inerease in research and development expenses

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased $15 7 matlion, or 16 3%, 1n fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 as we continued to increase our
sales headcount i order to expand our global footpnint The increase consisted of cash-based personnel costs of $14 5 million as a result of
increased headcount, a $1 3 milhion increase in travel as a result of our overall sales growth of 29% and particularly sales growth in the Americas
of 34%, a 50 8 million increase 1n stock-based compensation expense, and a $0 2 mullion increase 1n professional services These increases were
partially offset by a 81 1 million decrease in marketing-reiated expenses As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expenses decreased
3 7 percentage powmnts due to the leverage we are achieving from the investment in our sales force during the past year, as evidenced by revenue
growth of 29% exceeding sales and marketing expenses growth of 16%

General and adminstrative expense

In fiscal 2010, general and administrative expense increased $4 1 million, or 22 2%, compared to fiscal 2009 The increase was
pnmanly due to a $t 8 mathon increase in legal expenses 10 support vanous patent hugation matiers and a $0 6 milhon increase mn accounting-

related expenses due to being a public company In addition, cash-based personnel costs mereased $1 3 muillion and stock-based compensation
expensc increased $0 4 million

Interest income and other income (expense), net

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 § Change % Change
(S amounts 1n 000's)
Interest income 1,815 1,981 {166) 84
Other income {expense), net (815) 198 {1,013) (511 6)
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The $0 2 million decrease in interest income 1n fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 was due to lower interest rates carned, despite
higher balances of cash, cash equivalents and investments The change in other income (expense), net for fiscal 2010 when compared to fiscal
2009 was the result of foreign exchange losses 1n fiscal 2010 due 1o the weakening of the U S dollar against the Austrahian Dollar, Chinese
Yuan, and Japancse Yen

Provision for (benefit from) incame taxes

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provisien for (benefit from) income taxes 15,096 (32,666) 47,762 *
Effective tax rate (%) 268 (1187 *

*not meaningful

Our effective tax rate was 26 8% for fiscal 2010, compared with an effective tax rate of negative 118 7% for fiscal 2009 The provision
for income taxes for fiscal 2010 1s compnsed primanly of federal, state and foreign income taxes The 2010 effective tax rate 1s impacted by the
mnclusion of stock option benefits, which affected the transfer pncing caleulations between some of our foreign subsidianes, as well as the
reinstated U S Federal Research and Development Tax Credit The increase 1n the provision for income taxes for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal
2009 reflected the release of the valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets 1n fiscal 2009 We generated pretax income in fiscal
2009 and 2008 As a result of this positive earnings trend and projected future taxable income, we reversed approximately $44 2 milhon of
deferred tax asset valuation allowance in fiscal 2009 afier having deterrnined that it was more hkely than not that our deferred tax assets would
be realized This reversal resulted in recognition of an mcome tax benefit totaling $37 8 millien Our estimates of future taxable income
represent critical accounting estimates because such estimates are subject to change and a downward adjustment could have a sigmficant impact
on future earnings Furthermore, we continue to evaluate our net deferred tax asset position, in regards to the likelihood of realization of our
deferred tax assets
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the last eight fiscal quarters The information for
each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basts as the audited annual financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report
and, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments, which includes only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair
presentation of the results of operations for these periods This data should be read m conjunchion with our audited conschidated financial
statements and related notes ncluded elsewhere m this annual report These quarterly operating resuits are not necessarily indicative of our
operating results for any future period

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

($ amounts in 000's, except per share amounts)
Consohdated Statements of
Operations Data:

Revenue
Product 27,110 31,037 35913 41,080 40,165 46,687 53,093 57,463
Services 38,625 40,964 44,527 47,930 48,686 52,671 57,835 61,076
Ratabie and other
revenue 4,060 4,330 4,531 4,589 4,415 3,665 5,498 2322
Total revenue 69,795 76,331 84,971 93,599 93,266 103,023 116,426 120,861
Cost of revenue
Product ¥ 11,314 11,822 13,263 15,545 14,075 16,591 20,606 21,929
Services © 6,468 6,818 6,565 7,116 7,781 8,596 9,438 9,671
Ratable and other
revenue 1,593 1,525 1,615 1,562 1,560 1,371 1,095 886
Total cost of revenue 19,378 20,165 21,443 24223 23416 26,558 31,139 32,486
Total gross profit 50,420 56,166 63,528 69,376 69,850 76,465 85,287 88,375

Operating expenses
Research and

development 11,934 12,676 12,389 12,802 14,421 15,942 16,834 16,379

Sales and marketing 26,723 27,777 26,987 30,481 32,718 35,896 36,934 39,984

General and

administrative ™ 5,059 5,933 5,993 5,395 §,266 5,848 5,359 5492
Total operating expenses 43,716 46,386 45,369 48,678 52,405 57,686 59,127 61,855
Operating income 6,704 9,780 18,159 20,698 17,445 18,779 26,160 26,520
Interest ncome 268 399 514 634 793 863 904 963
Other income (expense), net (250) 87 (402) (250} 9% (207) 60 (112)
Income before income taxes 6,722 10,266 18,271 21,082 18,143 19,435 27,124 27371
Provision for income taxes 2,504 3,397 4,254 4,941 4,556 4,941 9,207 10,877
Net income 4,218 6,869 14,017 16,141 13,587 14,494 17,917 16,494

Net income per share
attributable to common
stockholders ™

Basic 003 005 010 01t 009 010 012 011
Diluted “ 003 005 009 010 008 009 011 010
n Duning the third quarter of fiscal 2011 we have changed the caption Ratable product and services on our consclidated statement of operations to Ratable and other

revenue We have made this change to reflect a $2 6 mitlion sale of previously-scquired patents
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(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense and patent settlement as folows
Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 on 2011 2011 2011
(3 amounts in 000's)
Cost of product revenue 24 26 26 25 22 43 64 54
Cost of services revenue 208 234 242 245 198 362 564 666
Research and
development 554 587 600 598 453 985 1,516 1,737
Sales and marketing 866 897 1,017 1,030 1,960 1,681 2,708 3,036
General and
admimstrative 496 520 549 571 497 799 882 848
Total stock-based compensation 2,148 2,264 2.434 2,469 3,070 3,870 5734 6,341
Patent settlement e — — — 477 478 478 478
Total stock based compensation
and patent settlement 2,148 2,264 2,434 2,469 3,547 4,348 6,212 6,819
(3 See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
{4) Effective June 1, 2011, we completed a two-for-one stock split of our outstanding common shares m the form of a stock dividend In accordence with GAAP all shares

and per share information referenced throughout the consohidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock spht
Seasonality, Cyclicality and Quarterly Revenue Trends

Our quarterly results reflect seasonality 1n the sale of our products, subscriptions and services In general, a pattern of increased
customer buying at year-end has positively impacted sales activity 1n the fourth quarter In the first quarter we generally expenience lower
sequential billings and product revenues, which results in lower product revenue Qur product revenue in the third quarter can be negatively
affected by reduced economic activity 1n Europe during the summer months Duning fiscal 2011, the growth in the Amenicas during the third
quarter more than offset the shght decline in Europe, but this may not always be the case Similarly, our gross margins and operating income
have been affected by these historical trends because expenses are relatively fixed i the near-term Although these seasonal factors are common
in the technology sector, historical patterns should not be considered a reliable ndicator of our future sales activity or performance On a
quarterly basis, we have usually generated the majority of our product revenue 1n the final month of each quarter and a significant amount n the
last two weeks of a quarter We believe this ts due to customer buying patterns typical in this industry

Our total quarterly revenue over the past twelve quarters has increased sequentially in each quarter except the first quarter of 2011
which was essentially flat Product revenue 1n all of the quarters of fiscal 2011 was higher as compared to the same periods 1n fiscal 2010 , which
we believe was due 1n part to the investments made 1n our sales orgamzation, continued product mnovation and improvements in overall
corporate IT spending, as well as the adoption of the new revenue recognition rules 1n fiscal 2011
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Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

(5 amounts in 000's)

Consohdated Statements of
Operations Data

Revenue
Product 27,110 31,037 35913 41,080 40,165 46,687 53,003 57,463
Services 38,625 40,964 44,527 47,930 48,686 52,671 57,835 61,076
Ratable and other
revenue 4,060 4,330 4,531 4,589 4415 3,665 5,498 2,322
Total revenue 69,795 76,331 84,971 93,599 93,266 103,023 116,426 120,861

As a percentage of revenue:
Revenue (%)

Product 388 407 423 439 431 4513 456 475

Services 553 537 524 512 522 511 497 506

Ratable and other

revenue 59 56 53 49 47 36 47 19
Total revenue 1000 100 0 1000 1000 100 0 100 0 100 0 100 0

Quarterly Gross Margin Trend

Total gross margin has fluctuated on a quarterly basis primarily due to shufts 10 the mix of sales between products and services Product
gross margin vari¢s based on the types of products sold and the average selling prnces of our products Services gross margins have remained
relatively consistent as we continue to mnvest 1n our support organizations at a rate shghtly greater than the merease 1 service revenue

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 10, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2000 2011 2011 2011 2011
Gross Margin by
Component of Revenue
Gross margin (%)
Product 583 619 631 622 650 645 612 618
Services 833 834 853 852 840 837 837 842
Ratable and other
revenue 60 8 648 64 4 660 64 7 62 6 801 618
Total gross margin 722 736 74 8 741 749 74 2 733 731

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 o 2010 2011 2011 001 2011

Reconciliation of GAAP to
non-GAAP gross margin
GAAP Gross margin (%) 7212 736 748 741 749 7412 733 731

Stock-based

compensation 04 03 03 03 02 04 05 06
Non-GAAP gross margin 726 739 751 744 751 746 738 737
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Liquidity and Capual Resources

As of Fiscal Year End

201 2010 2009
($ amounts tn 000's)
Cash and cash equivalents 71,990 66,859 212,458
[nvestments 466,697 320,601 47 856
Total cash, cash equivalents and mvestments 538,687 387,460 260,314
Working capital 256,706 201,776 161,652
Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
(5 amounts in 000's)
Cash provided by operating activities 132,842 103,383 61,971
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (166,826) (283,710) 13,757
Cash provided by financing activities 39,797 34,019 78,049
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (682) 709 2,110
Net increase (decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents 5,131 (145,559) 155,887

At December 31, 2011, our cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $538 7 mllion were held for working-capital purposes and were
invested pnmarily in money market funds, commercial paper, corporate debt secunities, municipal bonds, term deposits and U § government
and agency debt secunities At December 31, 2011, $24 3 mullion of our cash was held by our mtemnational subsidianes and 1s therefore not
immediately available to fund domestic operations unless the cash 1s repatrated While we do not 1intend to do so, should this amount be
repatnated, 1t would be subject to U § federal income tax which would be partially offset by foreign tax credits We do not enter imto
investments for trading or speculative purposes We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated
cash needs for at least the next 12 months Our future caprtal requirements will depend on many factors including our growth rate, the tming and
extent of spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the intreduction of new and enhanced
preducts and services offerings, the costs to ensure access to adequate manufactunng capacity and the continuing market acceptance of our
products In the event that additional financing 15 required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise 1t on terms acceptable to us or at all
If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
(S amounts wn 000's)

Net income 62,492 41,245 60,179

Adjustments for non-cash charges * 18,712 16,593 (15,166)
Net income before non-cash charges 81,204 57,838 45,013

Increase in deferred revenue 42,177 50,701 30,313

Increase (decrease) 1n income tax payable and deferred tax assets, net 28,090 11,739 {6,996)
Increase 1n accounts payable and accrued liabilities, net 8,566 4,800 5,203

Increase 1n accrued payroll and compensation 4,773 5,465 630

(Increase) decrease 1n deferred cost of revenues 3,817 364 (1,063)
Increase 1n deferred settlement and other habilities — — -

Increase 1n accounts receivable {23,246) (17,784) (8,508)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, net (6,505) (3,794) (609)
Increase 1n iInventornies (6,034) (5,946) (2,012)
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,842 103,383 61,971

m Non-cash charges pnmanly consist of stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amartization, wnte-off of intangible assets, loss on disposal of fixed asscts,

amortization of investment premwums excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans and reversal of the vatuation in fiscal 2009 For additional tnformation
regarding such non-cash charges, see our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flaws m Pant 1f, Ttem 8 of this
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Operating Activities

In fiscal 2011 , operating activities provided $132 8 mulhion in cash as a result of our strong performance pnmanly dniven by bitlings
growth, profitability, and the ability to successfully manage our working capital Net income was $62 5 million , increased by non-cash
adjustments of $18 7 million and sources of cash of $87 4 million partially offset by uses of cash of $35 5 mithon Non-cash adjustments consist
of stock-based compensation expense of $19 0 million , amortization of investment premiums of $12 5 million , and depreciation and
amortization of $7 0 million , partially offset by an excess tax benefit from employee stock eption plans of $19 8 milhon  Sources of cash were |
related to a $42 2 million increase n deferred revenue which was attnbutable pnmanly to increased sales of our subscnption and support ‘
services, which have yet to be recogmzed n income, a $28 1 million increase in income tax payable and deferred tax assets, due to our continued
profitabnlity and uming of tax payments, a $8 6 million increase 1n accrued lhabilities and accounts payabte related to uming of payments, a 34 7
million increase 1n accrued payroll and compensation pnmanly related to increased headcount and employer taxes related to the exercise of
stock opuions, a $3 8 milhon decrease 1n deferred cost of revenues, and a $0 0 mullion increase i other habilities, mainly due to the deferral of
the patent hitigation settlement, which 1s bemng amortized over three years Uses of cash were related to a $23 2 million mecrease m accounts
receivable due to the overall growth of our business with days sales outstanding remaining flat (71 days), a $6 5 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other assets, and a $6 0 million increase 1 mventory primanly to support new product releases combined with the overall growth
of our business Days sales outstandmg 1s calculated as the ratio of ending accounts receivable, net of allowances, divided by average daily sales
for the preceding 90 days

In fiscal 2010, operating activities provided $103 4 million in cash as a result of our strong performance pnimanly driven by billings
growth, profitability, and the ability to successfully manage our working capital Net income was $41 2 milhon, increased by non-cash
adjustments of $16 6 millon and sources of cash of $73 | million, partially offset by uses of cash of 527 5 million Non-cash adjustments consist
of stock-based compensation expense of $9 3 million, amortizauon of investment premiums of $7 3 million, and depreciation and amortizatton
of 5 7 mulhon, partially offset by an excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans of $5 7 million Sources of cash were related 10 a
$50 7 million increase n deferred revenue which was attributable primanly 10 increased sales of our subscription and support services, which
have yet to be recognized 1n income, an $11 7 million increase 1n 1come tax payable and deferred tax assets, due to our continued profitability
and timmg of tax payments (cash pard for taxes was $2 5 million), a $5 5 mullion increase n accrued payroll and compensation pnmanly related
to increased headcount and employer taxes related to the exercise of stock options, a $4 8 million increase in accrued hiabihities and accounts
payable related to iming of payments, and a $0 4 milhon decrease 1n deferred cost of revenues Uses of cash were related to a $17 8 million
increase in accounts receivable due to the overall growth of our business with days sales outstanding remainng flat (70 days), 2 $5 9 mullion
mcrease 1n inventory primarily to support new product releases in the latter part of the year combined with the overall growth of our business,
and a $3 8 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets

In fiscal 2009, operating activities provided $62 0 mithon in cash as a result of net income of $60 2 million , decreased by non-cash
adjustments of $15 2 million , increased by sources of cash of $36 1 million, and parually offset by uses of cash of $19 2 million Non-cash
adjustments consist of a tax benefit from the release of our valuation allowance of $30 2 million and excess tax benefit from employee stock
option plans of $1 6 million , offset by stock-based compensation of $7 5 million , depreciation and amortization of $5 9 million , write-off of
mtangible assets of 32 4 million , and amortization of investment premiums of $0 8 mullion  Sources of cash were refated to a $30 3 nullion
increase 1n deferred revenue which was attributable primanly to increased sales of our subscription and support services, a $5 2 million increase
Im accounts payable and accrued habilities due to iming of payments, and a $0 6 million increase in accrued payroll and compensation primanly
related to mcreased headcount Uses of cash were related to an $8 5 millton increase 1n accounts receivable due to the overall growth of our
business with days sales outstanding remaining flat (69 days), a $7 0 million decrease in Income tax payable and deferred 1ax assets, a $2 0

mullion wncrease 1n mventory, a $1 1 million mcrease i deferred cost of revenues and a $0 6 milhion increase 1n prepaid expenses and other
assets

Investing Activities '

In fiscal 2011, our investing acuvities consisted primarily of purchases and sales of itnvestments, and to a much lesser extent, capital
expenditures The $166 8 million of cash used by mvesting activities was due to net purchases of investments of $160 6 million , $3 6 milhon
used for capital expenditures, and $2 6 million used for the purchase of TalkSwitch

In fiscal 2010, our investing activities consisted primanly of purchases and sales of investments, and 10 a much lesser extent, capital
expenditures The $283 7 mullion of cash used by investing activities was due to net purchases of investments of $280 0 million reflecting
primanly the transfer of funds from money market to corporate bonds, agency notes and commercial
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paper duning the period This was offset by $3 8 maillion used for capital expenditures

In fiscal 2009, our investing activities consisted pnmanly of purchases and sales of investments associated with our investment
balances and capital expenditures The $13 8 mullion of cash provided by investing activities was due primanly to net maturities of short-term
investments of $18 9 million Additionally, we used cash of $4 6 mithon for capital expenditures and $0 5 mullion for the purchase of certain
technology assets

Financing Activities

In fiscal 2011, our financing activities resulted 1n net cash provided of $39 8 mullion as a result of recerving proceeds of $20 0 mallion
from the exercise of stock options to purchase our commeon stock and an excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans of $19 8 milhon
related to ophion exercises

In fiscal 2010, our financing activities resulted in net cash provided of $34 0 million as a result of receiving proceeds of $29 | million
from the exercise of stock options and warrants to purchase our common stock and an excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans of
$5 8 millon related to option exercises, partially offset by $0 9 million of 1ssuance costs paid 1n connection with our imtial pubkic offening,
which had been accrued as of December 31, 2009

In fiscal 2009, our financing activities resulted n net cash provided of $78 0 million as a result of receiving proceeds of $91 5 miltion,
net of 1ssuance costs paid of $3 3 mulhion, from the sale of common stock in connection with our ymitial public offenng in November 2009 In
addition, we received proceeds of $4 0 mullion from the exercise of stock options and warrants to purchase our common stock and had an excess
tax benefit from employee stock option plans of $t 6 mullion, all partially offset by $15 8 mullion related to the repurchase of our preferred and
common stock 1n the first half of fiscal 2009

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2011

Payments Duc by Period

Total 2012 2013 - 2014 2015 - 2016
($ amounts in 000's)

Operating leases 16,665 7,308 7,753 1,604
Purchase commitments 25,993 25,993 — —

Total ™ 42,658 33,301 7,753 1,604
(1 Consists of contractual obligations from non-cancelable office space under eperating leases
(2} Consists of mummum purchase commitments with independent contract manufacturers
(3 No amounts related to ASC 740-10 are mcluded As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $19 | midlion of long-term tax habiliues, including interest, related to

uncertain tax positions Because of the hugh degree of uncertamty regarding the settlement of these habilities, we are unable to estimate the years in which future cash
outflows may occur

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Dunng fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 , we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships,
such as structured finance or special purpose entities that would have been estabhished for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or himited purposes
Recent Accounnng Pronouncements

See Note 1 of Notes to Conschidated Financial Statements for recent accounting pronouncements that could have an effect on us

ITEM 7A. Quantitatnive and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk
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The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve prnincipal, provide hiquidity and maximize income without ‘
sigmficantly increasing risk Some of the secunities we invest 1n are subject to market nsk This means that a change in prevaihng interest rates
may cause the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate To minimize this nsk, we mamitain our portfoho of cash, cash equivalents and
short-term \nvestments in a variety of secunties, including commercial paper, money market funds, government and corporate debt secunities and
certificates of deposit The nsk associated with fluctuating interest rates 1s hmited to our investment portfolio A 10% decrease 1n interest rates in
2011, 2010 and 2009 weuld have resulted in a decrease mn our interest tncome of approximately $0 4 milhion, $0 2 million and 30 2 milhon,
respectively

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Qur sales contracts are primarily denominated in U § dollars and therefore substanhally all of our revenue 15 not subject to foreign
currency translation nsk However, a substantial pertion of our operating expenses tncurred outside the U § are denomunated n foreign
currencies and are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Canadian Dollar (CAD),
Euro (EUR), British Pound (GBP), and Japanese Yen (JPY) To help protect against significant fluctuations in the value and the volauhty of
future cash flows caused by changes in currency exchange rates, we engage 1n foreign currency risk management acuivities to hedge balance
sheet items denominated in EUR, GBP, and CAD We do not use these contracts for speculative or trading purposes All of the derivative
instruments are with high quality financial institutions, and we monitor the creditworthiness of these parties These contracts typically have
maturities between one and three months We account for our hedges under ASC 815 Derwvantives and Hedging We record changes wn the fair
value of forward exchange contracts related to balance sheet accounts as other income (expense), net i the consolidated statement of operations
We recognized an expense of $0 4 million n other income (expense), net in fiscal 2011 due to foreign currency transaction losses

Our hedging activiites are intended 1o reduce, but not ehminate, the impact of currency exchange rate movements As our hedging
activities are relatively short-term in nature, long-term material changes 1n the value of the U S dollar versus the EUR, GBP, CAD, or JPY could
adversely impact our operating expenses 1n the future

Inflation Risk

Our monetary assets, consisting primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, are not affected significantly by
nfiation because they are short-term We believe the impact of inflation on replacement costs of equipment, furniture and leasehold
improvements will not matenally affect our operations The rate of inflation, however, affects our cost of revenue and expenses, such as those
for employee compensation, which may not be readily recoverable 1n the price of products and services offered by us
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, [nc
Sunnyvale, Califormia

We have audited the accompanying consohdated balance sheets of Fertinet, Inc and subsidianes (the "Company”) as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the related consohdated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive mcome, and cash flows for each
of the three years n the period ended December 31, 2011 Qur audits also included the financial statement schedule histed in the Index at Item
15 These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management Qur responsibility 1s to
express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in acgordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unuted States) Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matertal
misstatement An audtt includes examining, on a lest basts, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opimion

in our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial position of Fortinet, Inc and
subsidianies as of December 31, 201 1and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years m the pened
gnded December 31, 2011, in conformmty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amenca Alse, in our opinion,
such financial statement schedule, when considered 1a relation to the basic consohidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein

As discussed 1n Note | to the conselidated financial statements, 1n the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company changed its method
of recognizing revenue for muluple element arrangements i accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) 2009-13, Mulnple-Deliverable Revenve Arrangemenits and ASU 2009-14, Certain Revenue Arrangements that include Software
Elements

We have also audited, m accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Umited States), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on Internal Control-Integrated Framework 1ssued by the
Commuttee of Sponsoring Orgamizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion
on the Company's mternal control over financial reporting

/s/ DELOITTE & TQUCHE LLP

San Jose, Cahforma
February 27, 2012
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FORTINET, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(tn thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments

Accounts recetvable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $336 and $303 at December 31,

2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively
Inventory
Deferred tax asset
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred cost of revenues
Total current assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net
DEFERRED TAX ASSET—Non-current
DEFERRED COST OF REVENUES
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued habihities
Accrued payroll and compensation
Deferred revenue
Total current Liabihties
DEFERRED REVENUE—Non-current
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Total habilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock, $0 001 par value — 300,000 shares authonzed, 156,401 and 150,172 shares 1ssued and
154,992 and 148,763 shares outstanding at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively

Additional paid-in-capatal

Treasury stock

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Retamed earmings (accumulated deficit)
Total stockholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31, Decernber 31,
2011 2010
b 71,990 % 66,859
318,283 246,651
95,522 72,336
16,249 13,517
7,578 8,158
11,808 8,849
2,140 3,788
523,570 420,158
7,966 7,056
46,523 37,443
3,375 5,543
148,414 73,950
4,899 1,272
i 734747 % 545,422
$ 19,768 § 12,761
15,971 16,303
24,197 19,670
206,928 169,648
266,864 218,382
87,905 82,983
21,624 11,603
376,393 312,968
156 150
317,026 251,845
(2,995) (2,995)
402 2,181
43,765 (18,727)
358,354 232,454
h 734,747 § 545422
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FORTINET, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(tn thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
REVENUE
Product b3 197,408 § 135,140 3 98,686
Services 220,268 172,046 139,172
Ratable and other revenue 15,900 17,510 14,257
Total revenue 433,576 324,696 252,115
COST OF REVENUE
Product 73,201 51,944 42,166
Services 35,486 26,967 22,265
Ratabie and other revenue 4,911 6,295 5,544
Total cost of revenue 113,598 85,206 69,975
GROSS PROFIT
Product 124,207 83,196 56,520
Services 184,782 145,079 116,907
Ratable and other revenue 10,989 11,215 8,713
Total gross profit 319,978 239,490 182,140
OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development 63,577 49 801 42,195
Sales and marketing 145,532 111,968 96,291
General and admimistrative 21,965 22,380 18,320
Total operating expenses 231,074 184,149 156,806
OPERATING INCOME 88,904 55,341 25,334
INTEREST INCOME 3,523 1,815 1,981
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE}—Net (354) (815) 198
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 92,073 56,341 27,513
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAXES 29,581 15,096 (32,666)
NET INCOME $ 62,492 $§ 41,245 § 60,179
Net income per share attnbutable to common stockholders (Note 7)
Basic $ 04} 029 097
Dituted £ 038 026 039
Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic 152,581 140,726 52,668
Diluted 163,781 156,406 130,438

See noles to consohidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 , DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

(1n thousands)

Accumulated

Treasury Stock  Additional

Shares  Amount

Shares

Paid-In-

Amount Shares Amount Capital

Other
Comprehensive {Accumunlated
Income (loss)

Retained
Earmngs

Deficit)

Stockholders’

Total

Equity
(Deficit)

Comprehensive
Income (loss}

BALANCE—
December 28, 2008
Repurchase of

convertible preferred
shares

80,960 94,368

{6.008) (3.183)

Repurchase of common
shares —_— —

Convertible preferred
shares converted 10
common shares in
caonnection with initial

public offenng (74,952 (91 185)

Proceeds from initial
public offenng, net of
1ssuance costs —_ —

Exercise of warranis —_ —_—
Exercise of stock

Opllonﬁ — -—
Proceeds from ssuance

of common stock — —

Warrants issued —_ _

Stock-based
compensation — —

Income tax benefit
from employze stock
option plans —_ —
Net unrealized gain
©on 1nvestments—net
of taxes — —_
Net change in
cumulative
translation
adjustments —_ —_

Net income —_ —

Comprehensive
income — —

41 440

74,952

15314
300

2,828

200

41 —-— — 20,813

(9,585)

—  (1409)  (2.995) -

91110

87,373
1,875

2,692

162
725

7,461

1,574

{300)

(33)

1,417

{120,151)

60,179

(5229

(12,768}

(2,995)

87,388
1,876

2,695

162
725

7,461

1,574

(33)

1,417
60,179

:3

(33)

1,417
60,179

61,563

BALANCE—December
31 2009 —_ —

Exercise of stock
options and warranis — -—

Stock-based
compensation — .

[ncome tax benefit

from employee stock

eption plans - —
Netunrealized gain
on investments - net
of taxes — —_

Net unrealized gan

on dertvatives

qualifying as eash

flow hedges

Net change in

cumulative

translation

adjustments — —

Net mcome - —

Comprehensive
income - e

135034

15,138

(1,409)  (2,995) 204 200
29,094

9,315

9.235

98

4

925

(59.972)

41,245

142,452
29,109

9315

9,235

98

74

925
41,245

5

98

74

925
41,245

42 342

BALANCE—December
31,2010 —_ s =

Exercise of stock
opuons —_— -

150,172

6,229

$ 150 (1.409) $(2995) $251844 S

19,962

2,188

$

(18,727

5

232,453

19 968




Stock-based
compensation - — — — -— — 19,015 — _ 19,015

Encomc tax benefit
from employee stock
ophion plans — — — — — — 26 205 — — 26,205
Net unrcahzed loss
on investments - net
of taxes — — — — — —_ — (1,153) — (1,153) (1153)
Net unrealized loss
on dermatives
qualtfying as cash
fMlow hedges — — — — — — - (74) — (74) (74)
Net change tn
cumulanve
translation
adjustments - — — — — — — (552) — (552) (552)

Net income — _ — —_ — — — — 62492 62 492 62 492

Comprchensive _ ___ _ - —_ 60,713
ncome — — _ oy -

31 SANCE ~December — S — 156401 § 156  (1409) S$(2,995) $317.026 § 202 S 43765 8 358354

See notes to consohidated financial statements
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FORTINET, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(1n thousands)

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income s 62,492 41,245 60,179
Adjustments to reconcile net tncome to nei cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortizarion 6,989 5.6596 5935
Wnie-off of intangible asscis — — 1387
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 12 14 —
Amortization of investment premiums, net of discounts 12,515 7.349 836
Stock-based compensation 19015 9,315 7461
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans (19,829) (5.781) (1574
Income tax benefit from release of valuation allowance — — (30 211)
Changes \n operating assels and habilines
Accounts reccivable—net {23 246) {17 784) (8 508)
Tnventory {6,034) {5,946) 2012)
Deferred tax assets (7.8714) (4.278) (9.578)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4.565) (3 849) (190)
Deferred cost of revenues 3.817 364 {1,063}
Other asscts {1,340} 55 (419}
Accounts payablc 6801 2437 3046
Accrued hatnlities 1,765 2,363 2,157
Accrued payroll and compensation 4773 5,465 630
Deferred revenue 42 177 50,701 30,313
Income taxes payable 35,964 16,017 2582
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,842 103,383 61 971
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments (516 906) (416 376) (137 231)
Maturnities and sales of investments 356 327 136,380 156 126
Purchase of property and eguipment 3,624) 37716) {4 589)
Payments made 1n connection with acquisition, net (2,623) - (549}
Change tn restncted cash - 62 —
Nel cash provided by (used i) investing actuivitics (166.826) (283 710) 13757
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Procecds from exercise of stock options and warranis 19,968 29,110 3,978
Proceeds from mitial public offenng — — 91.565
Offering costs paid 1n connection with ininal pubhic offering — {872) (3 305)
Repurchase of convertible preferred shares — — (12.768)
Repurchase of common shares - —_ (2.995)
Excess tax benefit from employec stock option plans 19,829 5,781 1574
Net cash provided by finaneing activities 39,797 34019 78 049
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (682) 709 2110
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5131 {145,599) 155 837
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year 66,859 212,458 56 571
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS —End of year s 71,990 66 859 212,458
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid (refunded) for taxes 5 (305) 2,483 4,746
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment not yet paid s 440 135 849
Acerued offenng costs not yet pad 5 — — 872
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FORTINET, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business —Fortinet, Inc (“Fortinet’ ) was incorporated 1n Delaware in November 2000 and 15 a leading provider of network secunity
apphances and UTM network security sofutions to enterprises, service providers and governmental entities worldwide Fortnet’s solutions are
designed to integrate multiple levels of secunty protection, including firewall, virtual private networking, application control, anuvirus, mtruston
prevenuon, web filtering, antispam and WAN acceleration

Basis of Presentation and Preparation —The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Fortinet and 1ts wholly owned
subsidianes (collectively, the “Company,” “we,” “us” or *our”™) All intercompany transactions and balances have been ¢elimmated m
consolidation Beginning 2005 fiscal year, we adopted a 52- to 53-week year ending on the Sunday closest to December 31 of each year
Commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, we began operating and reporting financial results on a calendar quarter and year basis Qur
2009 fiscal year ended on December 31, 2009 Fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 were compnsed of 365 days, 365 days and 368 days, respectively

Effective June 1, 20i 1, we completed a two-for-one stock split of our outstanding common shares in the form of a stock dividend Ail
shares and per share information referenced throughout the consolidated financial statements have been reiroactively adjusted to reflect this
stock sphit

Use of Estimates —The preparation of consolidated financral statements in conformity with accounting prninciples generally accepted
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts and habilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Such
management estimates include implicit service periods for revenue recognition, litigation and settlement costs and other loss contingencies, sales
returns and allowances, reserve for bad debt, mmventory wnie-offs, reserve for warranty costs, valuaton of deferred 1ax assets, and tangible and
intangible assets We base our estimates on historical experience and also on assumptions that we believe are reasonable Actual results could
differ from those estimates

Certain Sigmificant Risks and Uncertammties —We are subject to certain nisks and uncertainties that could have a matenal adverse
effect on our future financial position or results of operations, such as the following changes in level of demand for our products and services,
the timing and success of new product and service mtroductions by us or our competitors, price and sales competitton and our ability to adapt to
changing market conditions and dynamices such as changes in end-customer, distnbutor or reseller requirements or market needs, changes in
expenses caused, for example, by fluctuations 1n foreign currency exchange rates, management of inventory, internal control over financial
reporting, market acceptance of our new products and services, demand for UTM products and services 1n general, seasonality, failure of our
channel partners to perform or other disruption in our channel, the quality of our products and services and the market perception of our response
to new viruses or security breaches, general economuc conditions, challenges 1n doing business outside of the Umited States of Amenica, changes
in customer relationships, htigation, or claims against us based on intellectual property, patent, product regulatory or other factors (Note 9),
product obsolescence, and our ability to attract and retain quahfied employees

We rely on sele supplers and independent contract manufacturers for certatn of our components and one third-party logisucs company
for certain distnibution of our products The mabihty of any of these parties to fulfill our supply and logistics requirements could negatively
impact our future operating resulis

Concentration of Credit Risk —Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit nsk consist pnmanly of cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments, and accounts receivable We maintan our cash and cash equivalents n fixed income secunties with major
financial instituttons, which our management assesses to be of gh credit quality, 1n order to hmit the exposure of each investment Deposits
held with banks may exceed the amount of 1nsurance provided on such deposits

Credit risk with respect to accounts recetvable 1n general 15 diversified due to the number of different entities comprnising our customer
base and their location throughout the world We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do not require collateral on

accounts reccivable We maintain reserves for estimated potential credit losses

At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of net accounts receivable
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

Duning fiscal 2011 and 2010, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total net revenues Dunng fiscal 2009 , one customer
accounted for 12% of total net revenues

Financial Instruments and Fair Value —We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and habilities and non-financial assets
and habiliues that are recogmized or disclosed at fair value 1n the financial statements on a recurnng basis Due to their short-term nature, the
carrying amounts reported 1 the consolidated financial statements approximate the fair value for accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
compensation, and other current liabilities

Comprehensive Income (Loss) —ASC 220 establishes standards for the reporting and displaying of comprehensive income and s
components Comprehensive income ncludes certain changes 10 equity from non-owner sources that are excluded from net income  Specifically,
cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized gans and losses on available-for-sale investments, and unreahized gawns and
losses on derivatives are included in comprehensive income 1n stockholders' equity

Foreign Currency Translation —Assets and habilities of foreign subsidianies are translated mto U S dollars using the exchange rates
s effect at the balance sheet dates and revenue and expenses are translated using average exchange rates during the penod The resulting foreign
translation adjustments are recorded 1n accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) of $(0 4)
rmillion , $(0 8) mrlhon and $0 1 million, are ncluded 1n other income {expense), net for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectively

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Avalable-for-sale Investments —We consider all highly hiquid investments, purchased with onginal
matunities of three months or less, to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on-hand, balances with banks, and hghly
hquid investments 1n money market funds, commercial paper, and certificates of deposit

We classify our investments as available-for-sale at the time of purchase since 1t 15 our intent that these investments are available for
current operations, and include these 1nvestments on our balance sheet as either short-term or fong-term mvestments depending on their maturity
at the ime of purchase Investments with original maturities greater than three months that mature less than one year from the consolrdated
balance sheet date are classified as short-term mvestments Investments with maturities greater than one year from the consolidated balance sheet
date are classified as long-term investments

Investments are considered to be impaired when a dechne 1n farr value 1s judged to be other-than-temporary We consult with our
mvestment managers and consider available quantitative and qualitative evidence in evaluating potential impairment of our investments on a
quarterly bawis 1f the cost of an individual mmvestment exceeds s fait value, we evaluate, among other factors, general market conditions, the
duration and extent to which the fair value is less than cost, and our 1ntent and ability to hold the investment Once a decline in fair value 1s
determined to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge 1s recorded and a new cost basis in the investment 1s established

For debt secunities m an unreahzed loss posiion which are deemed to be other-than-temporary, the difference between the secunty's
then-current amortized cost basis and fair value 1s separated into (1) the amount of the impairment related to the credit loss (1 ¢ , the credit loss
component) and (11) the amount of the impairment related to all other factors (1 ¢, the non-credit loss component) The credit loss component 1s
recogmized in earmings The non-credst loss compenent 1s recogmized in accumulated other comprehensive loss

Inventory —Inventory 1s recorded at the lower of cost {using the first-in, first-out method) or market, after we give appropriate
consideration to obsolescence and inventory in excess of anticipated future demand In assessing the ultimate recoverability of inventory, we are
required to make estimates regarding future customer demand, the timing of new product introductions, economuc trends and market conditions
1f the actual product demand 15 significantly lower than forecasted, we could be required to record additional inventory wnte-downs, which
could have an adverse impact on our gross margins and profitability

Deferred Cost of Revenues —Deferred cost of revenues represent the unamertized cost of products associated with services and
ratable and other revenue, which 1s based upon the actual cost of the hardware sold and 1s recognized over the service penods of the
arrangements Deferred cost of revenue associated with short-term deferred revenue 1s classified as short-term and deferred cost of revenue
associated with long-term deferred revenue s classified as long-term
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Property and Equipment —Property and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation 1s computed using the straight-hne method over
the eshmated useful hives of the assets, generally one to three years Evaluation umits are transferred from inventory at cost and are amortized
over one year from the date of transfer Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the
improvements or the lease term

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets —We evaluate events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of long-
lived assets, including intangible assets, may not be recoverable When such events or changes in circumstances occur, we assess the
recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrymg value of such assets will be recovered through undiscounted expected
future cash flows If the total of the future undiscounted cash flows 1s less than the carrying amount of those assets, we record an impairment
charge n the period in which we make the determination [f such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized 15
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets

Deferred Revenue —Deferred revenue consists of amounts that have been mvoiced but that have not yet been recogrized as revenue

Income Taxes —We record income taxes using the asset and hiability method, which requires the recognition of deferved tax assets and
hiabihiies for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax retums [n estimating
future tax consequences, generally all expected future events other than enactments or changes in the tax law or rates are considered We assess
the hikelihood that some portion or al] of our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income within the respective jurisdictions,
and to the extent we beheve that recovery does not meet the “more-hkely-than-not” standard, based solely on 1ts technical ments as of the
reporting date, we estabhish a valuation allowance We consider many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax benefits,
which may require penodic adjustments and which may not accurately antictpate actual outcomes

We operate 1n various tax junsdictions and are subject to audit by various tax authonties We provide for tax contingencies whenever it
1s deemed more hikely than not that a tax asset has been 1mpaired or a tax hability has been incurred for events such as tax claims or changes tn
tax laws Tax contingencies are based upon their technical menits, relevant tax law and the specific facts and circumstances as of each reporting
period Changes i facts and circumnstances could result in material changes to the amounts recorded for such tax contingencies

Stock-Based Compensation —We apply ASC 718 1o our stock option grants and stock purchase rights, which requires compensation
expense related to share-based transactions, mcluding employee stock options and stock purchase rights under our ESPP, to be measured and
recogmized 1n the financial statements based on fair value Under ASC 718, the fair value of each option award 1s estimated on the grant date
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model

Advertising Expense —Advertising costs are expensed when incurred and 15 included 1n operating expenses in the accompanying
consohdated statements of operations Our advertising expenses were not significant for any periods presented

Rescarch and Development Costs —Rcescarch and development costs are expensed as incurred

Software Development Costs —The costs to develop software have not been capitahized as we behieve our current software
development process 15 essentially completed concurrent with the establishment of technological feasibihty

Revenue Recogminon —In October 2009, the FASB amended the ASC as summanzed i ASU No 2009-13, Revenue Recognition
{Topic 605) Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, and ASU No 2009-14, Software (Topic 985) Cerrain Revenue Arvangements That
Include Software Elements  ASU 2009-13 amends the accounting for muluple-¢lement arrangements to provide guidance on how the
deliverables 1n an arrangement should be separated and eliminates the use of the residual method ASU 2009-13 also requires an entity to
allocate revenue using the relative sefhing pnce method The standard estabhshes a hierarchy of evidence to determine the stand-alone selling
pnce of a deliverable based on VSOE, TPE, and the BESP If VSOE 1s available, 1t would be used to determine the selling price of a deliverable
If VSOE 15 not available, the entity would determine whether TPE 1s available 1f so, TPE must be used to determine the seiling price I1f TPE s
not available, then the BESP would be used ASU 2009-14 amends industry specific revenue accounting guidance for software and software
related transactions to exclude from us scope tangible products contaming software components and non-sofiware components that funcuon
together to deliver the product's essenttal functionality
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Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted the provisions of ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 for new and matenally modified arrangements
orginating afier December 31, 2010 The adoption of ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14, increased revenues $20¢ 0 milhion for fiscal 2011 The
increase was primarly due to certain product revenue, which can now be recognized upon shipment, but would have been deferred under the
previous revenue recognition rules We expect the adoption of ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 to have an impact on future peniods, however,
we cannot reasonably estimate the effect of adopting these standards on future financial periods as the impact will vary depending on the nature
and volume of new or matentally modified arrangements in any given period

Thus gmdance does not generally change the units of accounting for our revenue transactions Most non-software products and services
qualify as separate units of accounting because they have value to the customer on a standalone basts and our revenue arrangements generally do
not include a nght of return relative to dehivered products

The majority of our products are hardware appliances containing software compenents that function together to provide the essential
functionality of the product, therefore, our hardware appliances are considered non-software deliverables and are no longer within the scope of
ASC 985-605

Qur product revenue also includes software products that may operate on the hardware appliances, but are not considered essential to
the functionaliy of the hardware and continue to be subject to the guidance at ASC 985-605, which remains unchanged This includes the use of
the residual method for multiple element arrangements Certain of our software, when sold with our apphances, 15 considered essential to its
functionabity and as a result 1s no longer accounted for under ASC 985-605, however, this same software 1f sold separately 1s accounted for
under the guidance at ASC 985-605

For all transactions onginating or matenally modified after December 31, 2010, we recognize revenue 1n accordance with ASU 2009-
13 Certain arrangements with multiple deliverables may continue to have software deliverables that are subject to ASC 985-605 along with non-
software deliverables that are subject to the ASU 2009-13 When a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as hardware appliances,
software, customer support services, and/or professional services, we allocate revenue to each element based on the aforementioned selling price
hierarchy In multiple element arrangements where software 1s more-than-incidental, revenue 1s allocated to each separate umt of accounting for
cach of the non-software deliverables and to the software deliverables as a group using the relative selling prices of each of the deliverables in
the arrangement based on the selling price hierarchy in ASU 2009-13

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangement 15 based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when
sold separatety In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majonty of the selling prices for a service fall within a reasonably narrow
prnicing range, generally evidenced by a substantial majonty of such historical stand-alene transactions falhng within a reasonably narrow range
of the median rates In addiion, we consider major segments, geographies, customer classifications, and other variables in determining VSOE

We are typically not able to determne TPE for our products or services TPE 1s determined based on competitor prices for similar
deliverables when sold separately Generally, our go-to-market strategy differs from that of our peers and our offerings contain a sigmficant level
of differentration such that the comparable pncing of products with sitmilar funcuonahty cannot be obtained Furthermore, we are unable to
reliably determine what similar competitor products’ selhng pnces are on a stand-alone basis

For our hardware appliances we use BESP as our selling price For our support and services, we generally use VSOE as our selling
price. When we are unable to establish a selhing price using VSOE for our support and services, we use BESP in our allocation of arrangement
consideration The objective of BESP 13 to determine the price at which we would transact a sale 1f the product or service were sold on a stand-
alone basis We determine BESP for a product or service by considering muluple factors including, but not imited to, cost of products, gross
margin objectives, pricing practices, geographies, customer classes and distribution channels We review our BESP estmates on a quarterly
basis to comneide with our VSOE review process

We recognize revenue for our software sales based on software revenue recognition guidance pursuant to ASC 985-605 Under ASC
985-605, we use the residual method to recognize revenue when a product agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered and VSOE
of fair value for all undelivered elements exists If evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue 1s
generally deferred and recognized when dehvery of those elements occurs or when fair value can be established When the undelivered element
for which we do not have VSOE of fair value 1s support, revenue for the entire arrangement 1s recognized ratably over the support period
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We derive revenue from sales of products, including apphiances and software, and services, including subscription, support and other
services Our apphances include operating system software that 1s integrated into the apphance hardware and 15 deemed essential to s
functionality As a result, we account for revenue in accordance with ASC 985-605 and all related snterpretations

Revenue 1s recognized when all of the following cniterta have been met

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists Binding contracts or purchase orders are generally used to determine the
existence of an arrangement

. Delivery has occurred Delivery occurs when we fulfill an order and itle and nisk of loss has been transferred or upon delivery
of the service contract registration code

. The fee 15 fixed or determinable We assess whether the fee 1s fixed or determinable based on the payment terms associated
with the transaction In the event payment terms differ from our standard business practices, the fees are deemed to be not
fixed or determinable and revenue 15 recognized when the payments become due, provided the remaining criteria for revenue
recognition have been met

. Collectability 1s probable We assess collectability based pnimanly on creditworthiness as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as payment history Payment terms generally range from 30 to 90 days from invoice date

For arrangements which include end-customer acceptance crilena, revenue 1s recognized upon acceptance We recogmze product
revenue on sales to distributors that have no general nght of return and direct sales to end-customers upon shipment, once all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met We also recogmze revenue upon sell-through for distmibutor agreements that allow for nights of return Such
returns are estimated and recorded as a reduction to revenue Substantially all of our products have been sold in combination with services,
which consist of subscriptions and/or support Subscription services provide access to our antivirus, intrusion prevention, web filtering, and anu-
spam functionality Support services include nghts to unspecified software upgrades, maintenance releases and patches, telephone and Internet
access to techmcal support personnet, and hardware support

The subscniption and support services start on the date the customer registers the apphiance The customer 1s then entitled to service for
the stated contractual penod beginning on the registration date

We offer certain sales incentives to channel partners We reduce revenue for estmates of sales returns and allowances Additionally, i
limited circumstances we may permit end-customers, distnibutors and resellers to return our products, subject to varying limitations, for a refund
within a reasonably short penod from the date of purchase We estimate and record reserves for sales mcentives and sales returns based on
historical expenence

Accounts Receivable —Trade accounts recervable are recorded at the invorced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts and
reserves for sales returns and allowances The allowance for doubtful accounts 1s based on our assessment of the collectability of customer
accounts We regularly review the allowance by considenng factors such as historical expenience, credit quality, age of the accounts recervable
balances and current econormic conditions that may affect a customer's ability to pay The reserve for sales returns and allowances 15 based on
specific entena mcluding agreements to provide rebates and other factors known at the time, as well as esumates of the amount of goods shipped
that will be returned To determune the adequacy of the reserves for sales returns and allowances, we analyze histenical experience of aciual
rebates and returns as well as current product return information

Warranties —We generally provide a one-year warranty on hardware products and a 90-day warranty on software A provision for
estimated future costs related to warranty activities 1s recorded as a component of cost of product revenues when the product revenues are
recogmized, based upon tustorical product fatlure rates and histonical costs incurred in correcting product farllures In the event we change our
warranty reserve estimates, the resulting charge against future cost of sales or reversal of previously recorded charges may matenally affect our
gross margins and operating resulis

Accrued warranty activities are summanzed as follows {$ amounts n 000's)
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Accrued warranty balance-—beginming of the period 1,878 2,257 2,882
Warranty costs incurred (1.778) (1,337) {1,502)
Provision for warranty for the year 2,103 1,069 1,169
Accruals related to changes tn estimates 379 (111) (292)
2,582 1,878 2,257

Accrued warranty balance—end of the period

Foreign Currency Derivatives —Our sales contracts are primanly denominated m U S dollars and therefore substantially all of our
revenue 1s not subject to foreign currency translation risk However, a substantial portion of our operating expenses incurred outside the U S are
denominated 1n foreign currencies and are subject to fluctuations due to changes n foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the
CAD, EUR, GBP, and JPY To help protect against significant fluctuations in value and the volatility of future cash flows caused by changes 1n
currency exchange rates, we engage n foreign currency nsk management activities to hedge balance sheet items denominated in EUR, GBP, and
CAD Woe do not use these contracts for speculative or trading purposes All of the derivative instruments are with high quality financial
nstituttons and we monitor the creditworthiness of these parties These contracts typically have maturities between one and three months We
account for our hedges under ASC 815 Derwvatives and Hedging We record changes 1n the fair value of forward exchange contracts related to
balance sheet accounts as other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations

Additionally, independent of any hedging activities, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognmze
transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations Our hedging activities are intended to reduce, but not ehminate, the
impact of currency exchange rate movements As our hedging activities are relatively short-term in nature, long-term maternal changes m the
value of the U S dollar versus the EUR, GBP, CAD or IPY could adversely impact our operating expenses n the future

The notional amount of forward exchange contracts to hedge balance sheet accounts as of December 31, 2011 was (amounts 1n 000's)

Buy/Sell Notional
To hedge balance sheet accounts. |
Currency I
EUR Buy 5,526
GBP Buy 1,545
CAD Buy 12,000

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure
Requirements n U S GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (Topic 820) — Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2011-04} ,to
provide a consistent defimtion of fair value and ensure that the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are symilar between U S
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards ASU 2011-04 changes certain fair value measurement principles and enhances the
disclosure requirements particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements This accounting update will be applicable to the Company beginning
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2012 and should be apphed prospectively The Company does not believe the adoption of this guidance will
have a matenial impact on 1ts consolidated financial statements

in June 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011§-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Presentation of Comprehensive Income (ASU
2011-05} , to require an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and
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the components of other comprehensive income either 1n a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or 1n two separate but
consecutive statements ASU 201 1-05 ehminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of
equity This accounting update will be applicable to the Company beginning 1 the first quarter of fiscal year 2012
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2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE

The following table summarizes our investments ($ amounts in 000's)

December 31, 2011

Amortized Unreahzed Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U S government and agency securities 38,500 10 2) 38,508
Corporate debt securities 339,110 219 (1,832) 337,497
: Commercial paper 51,025 7 (5) 51,027
Mumicipal bonds 20,473 36 (5) 20,504
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 18,762 1 (2) 18,761
Total 468,270 273 (1,846) 466,697

December 31, 2010

Amortized Unreahzed Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
U 8 government and agency securities 51,589 - {46) 51,543
Corporate debt secunties 213,237 159 — 213,396
Commercial paper 38,914 5 — 38,919
Municipal bonds 11,069 11 — 11,080
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 5,263 — — 5,263
Total 320,472 175 (46) 320,601

The following table shows the gross unreahzed losses and fair values of our investments, aggregated by investment category and length
of ime that individual securities have been 1nt a continuous unreahized loss position, at December 31, 2011 {§ amounts 1 000's)

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
U S government and agency securnities 10,996 ()] — — 10,996 {2)
Corporate debt sccunties 258,159 (1,832) — — 258,159 (1,832)
Commercial paper 9,279 5 — — 9,279 (5)
Municipal bonds 8,067 (5) — — 8,067 (5)
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 7,499 2) — — 7,499 (2)

Total available-for-sale securities 294,000 (1,846) — — 294,000 (1,8456)
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The contractual maturities of our investmenits are as follows (3 amounts 1n 000's)

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Due within one year 318,283 246,651
Due after one year 148,414 73,950
| Total 466,697 320,601

Available-for-sale secunities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit} and in total comprehensive mcome Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale secunities are included 1n other
imcome {expense), net in our consolidated statements of operations

Realized gains and losses from the sale of available-for-sale secunities were not significant in any period presented

Fair Value Accounting —We apply ASC 820 which estabhishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to fair value
measurement This lierarchy priontizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for :dentical assets or habihties

Level 2—Inputs are quoted prices for simular assets and liabihities 1n active markets or mputs that are observable for the assets or
hiabilities, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments

Level 3—Unabservable mputs based on our ewn assumptions used to measure assets and habilites at fair value The inputs require
significant management judgment or estimation

We measure the far value of money market funds using quoted prices i active markets for wdentical assets The fair value of all other
financial instruments was based on quoted prices for similar asserts 1n active markets, or model driven valuations using significant inputs derived
from or corroborated by observable market data

We classify investments within Level | 1f quoted prices are available 1in active markets for identical securities
We classify items within Level 2 tf the investments are valued using model driven valuations using observable inputs such as quoted
market prices, benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency

Investments are held by custodians who obtain tnvestment prices from a third-party pricing provider that incorporates standard inputs in various
asset price models

The following table presents the fair value of our financial assets as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 using the ASC §20
Input categones
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December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Quoted Quated
Prices in Significant yrices in Significant
Active Other Active Other
Aggregate Markets For Observeble Aggregate Markets For QObscrvable
Fuir Identical Remainlag Fair 1dentical Remaining
Value Assels Inputs Value Asscls Inputs
(Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 1} (Level 2)
Assets
U S government and agency sccunties 38,908 — 38,908 51,943 — 51,943
Corporate debt secunnes 337,497 — 337,497 213,396 — 213,396
Commercial paper 64,850 — 64,890 52,415 — 52,415
Municipal bonds 20,504 — 20,504 11,080 — 11,080
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 18,761 — 18,761 5,263 — 5,263
Money market funds 31,438 31,438 —_ 7,078 7,078 —
Foreign currency contracts — — — 74 — 74
Total 511,598 31,438 480,560 341,249 7,078 334171
Reported as
Cash equivalents 45,301 20,574
Short-term investments 318,283 246,651
Prepaid expenses and other current assets —_ 74
Long-term investments 148,414 73,950
Total 511,998 341,249

Subsequent to the 1ssuance of the 2010 consolidated financial statements, we determined that $5 3 rillion of term deposits classified as
Level | investments as of December 31, 2010 should have been classified as Level 2 as these investments are not actively traded Accordingly,
we have corrected the classification of term deposits from Level 1 to Level 2 in the table of fair value measurements as of December 31, 2010

We did not hold financial assets or habilines winch were recorded at fair value using mputs in the Level 3 category as of December 31,

2011 and December 31, 2010 There were no transfers between Level | and Level 2 of the fair value lierarchy during the year ended December
31, 2011

78




Table of Contents

3 INVENTORY

Inventory consisted of the following ($ amounts in 000's)

Raw matenals
Finished goods

Inventory

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net

Property and equipment consisted of the following ($ amounts in 000's)

Evaluation units

Computer equipment and software
Fumniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements and tooling

Property and equipment—naet

FORTINET, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20t1, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

December 31,

December 31,

Total property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

201 2010
3,447 2,593
12,802 10,924
16,249 13,517
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
13,912 10,607
12,219 9,561
1,307 1,087
4,381 4,548
31,819 25,803
(23,853) (18,747
7,966 7,056

Depreciation expense was 37 0 mullion, §5 7 muthon and $5 0 milhon 1n 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respectively
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5 ACQUISITIONS

On April 6, 2011, we completed the acquisition of TalkSwitch Corp (TalkSwitch), a pnvately held company that provides voice over
[P phane system technology, for a cash payment of 32 6 milhion We accounted for this acquisition as a purchase of a business and, accordingly,
the total purchase price has been allocated to TalkSwatch tangible and 1dentifiable intangible assets acquired and habilities assumed based on
their estimated fair market values as of the acquisiion date The purchase price allocation resulted in purchased tangible assets of approximately
$0 9 milhon and habihities of $0 | mullion and purchased identifiable intangible assets of approximately $1 8 million Identifiable intangible
assets consist of purchased technology The fair value assigned to wdentifiable intangible assets acquired 1s determined using the income
approach, which discounts expected future cash flows to present value using estinates and assumptions determined by us Purchased 1dentifiable
intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over three years The financial results of this acquisition are considered immatenal
for purposes of pro forma financial disclosures

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table presents the detail of our existing intangible assets with definite hives included in other asscts as of December 31,
2011 ($ amounts m 000's)

Accumulated
Gross Amortzation Net

Existing intangibles 1,772 394 1,378

Amortization expense, for the nine mornths post acquisition, was $0 4 million 1n fiscal 2011 The following table summanzes estimated
future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets with definite lives for the future fiscal year {($ amounts 1n 000's)

Amount
Fiscal Years
2012 563
2013 611
2014 204
Total 1,378

7. INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net mcome per share 1s computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the pertod Diluted net income per share 1s computed by dividing net income attnbutable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average nurmber of common shares outstanding, plus the dilutive effects of stock options and warrants Potentially
dilutive commaon shares are determined by applying the treasury stock method to the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options

Net income per share information for fiscal 2009 gives effect to the repurchase of convertible preferred shares (Note 10) The excess of
the fair value of the consideration paid for such preferred stock over the carrying value of the preferred stock represents a return to the preferred
stockholders and 1s treated 1n a manner sirmilar to the treatment of dividends paid to the holders of preferred stock in the computation of income
per share As a result, the premium paid 1s subtracted from net income attnibutable to common stockholders in determining nceme per share

In November 2009, all of our outstanding convertible preferred stock converted inte common stock 1n connection with our iminal public
offening For periods that ended prior to such conversion, net mcome per share nformation 15 computed using the two-class method The
convertible preferred shares were entitled to receive annual non-cumulative dividends of $0 02, $0 05, $0 12, $0 12 and $0 30 per share for
Series A, B, C, D, and E, respectively, payable prior and in preference to holders of common stock After the payment of such dividends,
converuble preferred shares were further entitled to receive a proportionate amount of any dividends paid on common stock on an if-converted
basis As a result of such dividend rights, the
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convertible preferred shares are considered to be participating securities Under the two-class method of computing income per share, net income
attnbutable to common stockholders 1s computed by an adjustment to subtract from net income the portion of current year earmings that the
preferred stockholders would have been entitled to receive pursuant to their dividend rights had all of the year’s earnings been distributed No

such adjustment to earnings 1s made during periods with a net loss, as the holders of the convertible preferred shares had no obligation to fund
losses

A reconcihation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share follows (3 and
share amounts 1n 000's, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year

2011 2010 2009
Numerator.
Net income 62,492 41,245 60,179
Premium paid on repurchase of convertible preferred shares — — {(9.266)
Net income attributable to common stockholders-basic and diluted 62,492 41,245 50,913
Denominator:
Basic shares
Weighted-average common shares outstandmg-basic 152,381 140,726 32,668
Dnluted shares
Weighted-average common shares outstanding-basic 152,581 140,726 52,668
Effect of potenhally dilutive securities
Employee stock options 11,200 15,524 11,742
Employee stock purchase rights — — —
Warrants to purchase common stock — 156 38
Convertible preferred stock - — 65,990
Wetghted-average shares used to compute diluted net income per share 163,781 156,406 130,438
Net income per share attnbutable to common stockholders
Basic 041 029 097
Dhluted 038 026 039
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The following weighted-average outstanding shares of options and employee stock purchase rights were excluded from the computation
of diluted net tncome per common share applicable to common stockholders for the periods presented, as their effect would have been
antidtlutive (1n 000's)

Fiscal Year
011 010 1009
Options to purchase common stock 3,893 3,006 9,168
Employee stock purchase rights 122 — —
8 DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following (§ amounts 1n 000's)
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Product 5,817 4.466
Services 272,843 219,022
Ratable and other revenue 16,173 29,143
Total deferred revenue 294,833 252,631
Reported As
Short-term 206,928 169,648
Long-term 87,905 82,983
Total deferred revenue 294,833 252,631

9 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases and Minimum Royalhes —We lease our facilities under various noncancelable operating leases, which expire through the year
2015 Rent expense was $8 2 million, $7 0 muliion and $6 T mullion for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively Rent expense 15 recogmized
using the straight-line method over the term of the lease The aggregate future noncancelable mimimum rental payments on operating leases as of
December 31, 2011 are as follows ($ amounts in 000's)

Rental
Payment
Fiscal Years
2012 7,308
2013 4,712
2014 3,041
2015 1,604
Total 16,665

Contract Manufacturer Commitments —Our independent contract manufacturers procure components and build our products based
on our forecasts These forecasts are based on estimates of future demand for our products, which are mn turn based on historicat trends and an
analysis from our sales and marketing organizations, adjusted for overall market conditions In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and
plan for adequate component supply, we may 15sue purchase orders to some of our independent contract manufacturers which may not be
cancelable As of December 31, 2011, we had $26 0 million of open purchase orders with our independent contract manufacturers that may not
be cancelable

Litigation —In August 2009, Trend Micro filed a complaint agaimst us in the Superior Court of the State of Califorma for Santa Clara
County allegmg breach of contract and seeking a declaratory judgment that we are obhgated to make certain royalty payments to Trend Micro
pursuant to a settlement and license agreement entered 1nto 1n January 2006 In December 2011, we entered into a settlement agreement with
Trend Micro resolving the dispute for a one-time payment of $9 0 million
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The settlement agreement includes a fully paid license to the patents subject to the prior patent license agreement with no continuing obligation
to pay royalties for those patents We had previously accrued a hability of $7 2 million as of the date of the settlement of our litigation with
Trend Micto The remaining $1 8 mitlion was recorded as a prepaid asset as of December 31, 2011, whach 1s being expensed as Cost of revenue
over the remaiming term of the related patents of four years

[n August 2009, Enhanced Secunity Research, LLC and Secunity Research Heldings LLC (collectively “ESR'), a non-practicing entity,
filed a complaint agaimst us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging infringement by us and other defendants of
two patents The plaintuiffs are clatming unspecified damages and requesting an injunction against the alleged infringement In June 2010, the
Court granted our motion to stay pending the outcome of reexamination proceedings on both asserted patents The PTQ has finally rejected all of
the claims of the patents in the suit and ESR has appealed this result to the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences (“BPAI”) We have
determuned that, as of this time, there 1s not a reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred

In April 2010, an individual, a former stockholder of Fortinet, filed a class action lawsuit against us claiming unspecified damages in
the California Supenor Court for the County of Los Angeles alleging violation of various Califorma Corporations Code sections and related tort
claims alleging misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty regarding the 2009 repurchase by Fortinet of shares of its stock while we were a
privately-held company The plaintiff is claiming unspecified damages In September 2010, the Court granted our motion to transfer the case to }
the Cahfornia Supenor Court for Santa Clara County and the plamufT has filed an amended complaimt in the Supenor Court to add individual
defendants, among other amendments Currently the case ts in the early stages, and we have determined that, as of this time, there 15 nota
reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred

In July 2010, Network Protection Sciences, LLC ("NPS"), a non-practicing entity, filed a complant in the Umited States District Court for
the Eastern Distnct of Texas alleging patent mfringement by us and other defendants NPS 15 claiming unspecified damages, including treble
damages for wiilful infringement, and requests an injunction against such alleged infringement In December 2011, m the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas ordered the case to be transferred to the Northern District of California Currently the case 1s 1n the early
stages, and we have determined that, as of this ime, there 15 not a reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred

Indemmficanon —Under the indemmfication provisions of our standard sales contracts, we agree to defend our customers against
third-party claims asserting infringement of certain mtellectual property nghts, which may include patents, copymights, trademarks, or trade
secrets, and to pay judgments entered on such claims Our exposure under these indemmification provisions 1s generally limited to the total
amount paid by our customer under the agreement However, certain agreements include indemnification provisions that could potentially

expose us to losses in excess of the amount received under the agreement To date, there have been no claims under such indemmification
provisions
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10 STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Shares Reserved for Issuance —At December 31, 2011 , we had reserved 46,789,659 common shares for 1ssuance

Stock Repurchase —While we were a privately-held company, during the first six months of fiscal 2009, our Board of Directors
approved a stock repurchase authorization This repurchase authonization allowed us to repurchase up to $20 0 rmilion of our cenvertible
preferred and common stock at $4 25 per share through June 17, 2009 This repurchase authorization expressly excluded our board members and
senior management We repurchased 1,409,264 shares of common stock and 6,008,330 shares of convertuble preferred stock for a total
consideration of $15 7 maithon in fiscal 2009

11, STOCK PLANS

2000 Stock Plan —During 2000, we adopted the 2000 Stock Option Plan (the Plan), which includes both incentive and non-statutory
stock options Under the Plan, we may grant options to purchase up to 21,500,000 shares of common stock to employees, directors and other
service providers at prices not less than the fair market value at date of grant for incentive stock options and not less than 85% of fair market
value for non-statutory options Options granted to a person who, at the ime of the grant, owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes
of stock shall be at no less than 110% of the faur market value and expire five years from the date of grant All other options generally have a
contractual term of 10 years Options generally vest over four years

2008 Stock Plan —On January 28, 2008, our Board of Directors approved the 2008 Stock Plan (the 2008 Plan) and French Sub-Plan,
which includes both incentive and non-statutory stock options The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be subject to options and
sold under the 2008 Plan and the French Sub-Plan 15 5,000,000 shares, plus any shares that, as of the date of stockholder approval of the 2008
Plan, have been reserved but not 1ssued under the 2000 Plan or shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under the 2000 Plan that
expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full or that are forfeited to or repurchased by us

Under the 2008 Plan and the French Sub-Plan, we may grant options to employees, directors and other service providers In the case of
an incentive stock option granted to an employee, who at the time of grant, owns stock representing more than 10% of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock, the exercise price shall be no less than 110% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant and expire five
years from the date of grant, and options granted to any other employee, the per share exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the fair market
value per share on the date of grant In the case of a nonstatutory stock option and options granted to other service providers, the per share
exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant

2009 Equity Incentive Plan —On November 17, 2009, our Board of Directors approved the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan {the 2009
Plan) and French Sub-Plan, which includes awards of stock options, stock appreciation nights, restncted stock, restricted stock units, and
performance units or performance shares The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be 1ssued under the Plan 1s 9,000,000 shares, plus
any shares subject to stock options or stmilar awards granted under the 2008 Stock Plan and the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan that
expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full and shares 1ssued pursuant to awards granted under the 2008 Stock Plan and
the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan that are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company, with the maximum number of shares to be
added to the Plan pursuant to such terminations, forfertures and repurchases not to exceed 21,000,000 shares The shares may be authorized, but
unissued or reacquired common stock The number of shares available for issuance under the 2009 Plan will be increased on the first day of each
fiscal year beginning wath the 2011 fiscal year, in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) 7,000,000 shares, (11) five percent (5%) of the outstanding
shares on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (111) such number of shares determined by the Board

Under the 2009 Plan and the French Sub-Plan, we may grant awards to employees, directors and other service providers In the case of
an meentive stock option granted to an employee who, at the time of the grant, owns stock representig more than 10% of the voting power of all
classes of stock, the exercise price shall be no less than 110% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant and expire five years from
the date of grant, and options granted to any other employee, the per share exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value per
share on the date of grant In the case of a non statutory stock option and options granted to other service providers, the per share exercise price
shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant Options granted to mdividuals owning less than 10% of the
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total combined voting power of all classes of stock generally have a contractual term of seven years and options generally vest over four years

Employee Stock Purchase Plan —In June 2011, our stockholders approved the ESPP The purpose of the ESPP 1s to provide elhigible
employees with the opportunity to purchase common stock through regular, systematic payroll deductions, up to a maximum of 15 0% of
employees’ compensation for each purchase penod at purchase prices equal to 85 0% of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock
at the first trading date of the applicable offering penod or the purchase date The first offening period under the ESPP began on August 15, 2011
and ends on February 14, 2012 At December 31, 2011, 8,000,000 shares were authorized and available for 15suance

Stock-based compensation under ASC 718 —Stock-based compensation 1s accounted for in accordance with ASC 718, which
requires compensation costs related to share-based transactions, including employee stock options and stock purchase nghts, 1o be recognized n
the financial statements based on fair value Under ASC 718, the fair value of each option award 15 estimated on the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing mode] We determined weighted-average valuation assumptions as follows

Valuation method —We estimate the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes valuation model

Expected Term —The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding As we do not
have sufficient hustorical experience for determining the expecied term of the stock option awards granted, we have based our expected term on
the simplified method available under ASC 718-10

Expected Volatility —The computation of expected volaulity for the periods presented includes the historical and implied stock
volaulity of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry and market capitalization data and to 2 lesser

extent, our weighted historical volatility following our IPO 1n November 2009

Fair Value of Common Stock —The fair value of our common stock 1s the closing sales price of the Common Stock {or the closing bid,
if no sales were reported) on the effective grant date

Risk-Free Interest Rate —We base the nisk-free interest rate used m the Black-Scholes valuauon model on the imphed yield available
on U S Treasury zero-coupon 1ssues with an equivalent remaining term

Expected Dividend —The expected dividend weighted-average assumption 15 based on our current expectations about our anticipated
dividend policy

The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions relating 1o our stock options as follows
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Expected term 1n years 41-46 46 45-46
Volatility (%) 40 - 57 38-43 43 - 52
Risk-free interest rate (%) 06-20 11-24 13-23
Dividend rate (%) — — —
Stock-based compensation expense 15 included in costs and expenses as follows {3 amounts m 000's)
Fiscal Year
2011 2010 209
Cost of product revenue 183 101 102
Cost of services revenue 1,790 929 658
Research and development 4,691 2,339 1,963
Sales and marketing 9,325 3,810 3,020
General and admimistrative 3,026 2,136 1,718
Total stock-based compensation 19,015 9,315 7,461
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A summary of the option activity under our stock plans and changes during the reporting periods are presented betow (in 000's, except
per share amounts)

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Shares Average Remaning Aggregate
Available Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
for Grant of Shares Price (5) Life (Years) Value (3)

Balance~—December 28, 2008 (18,250 shares were vested at a
weighted-average exercise price of $1 13 per share) 10,095 31,466 206

Additional shares authorized 13,774 — —

Granted {(weighted-average fair value of $1 43 per share) (8,406) 8,406 400

Forfeited 2,634 (2,634) 138

Exercised (aggregate intnnsic value of $10,490) — (2,828) 096
Balance—December 31, 2009 (20,504 shares were vested at a
welghted-average exercise price of $1 66 per share) 18,097 34,410 253

Granted (weighted-average fair value of $3 59 per share) (4,832) 4,832 970

Forfeited 1,825 (i,825) 556

Exercised (aggrepate intnnsic value of $117,934) — (14,928) 195
Balance—December 31, 2010 15,090 22,489 421

Additional shares authorized 7438 — —

Granted (weighted-average fair value of $8 10 per share) (6,526) 6,526 21 05

Forfeited 1,397 (1,397 1179
Exercised (aggregate intrinsic value of $113,590) — (6,229) j2l
Balance—December 31, 2011 17,399 21,389 %14
Options vested and expected to vest—December 31, 2011 20,394 890 417 265,552
Options exercisable—December 31, 2011 10,953 357 416 199,766

At December 31, 2011 , total compensation cost related to unvested stock-based awards granted to employees under our stock plans but
not yet recognized was $53 0 milhion , net of estimated forfeitures This cost 1s expected to be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted-
average period of 3 0 years Future option grants will increase the amount of compensation expense to be recorded in these penods

The total fair value of awards vested under our stock plans was $11 8 millton , $8 5 nullton and $5 5 milhon for fiscal 2011 , 2010 and
2009 , respecuvely
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

Addwonal information regarding options outstanding as of December 31, 2011 , 15 as follows

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted- Welghted-

Average

Number Contractual Number Exercise

Exercise Prices (§) Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable Price (§)
0081 20 3,064 317 081 3,064 081
372-465 8,724 370 376 6,696 375
550-6 25 262 4 82 561 97 565
8 43-8 99 2,770 526 858 %908 8 55
1528 581 585 1528 114 1528
2012-23 96 5,988 636 2107 74 20 23

21,389 10,953

Employee Stock Purchase Plan —During fiscal 2011, compensation expense recognized in connection with the ESPP was §1 6 million
The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions relating to our ESPP dunng fiscal 2011 as follows

12. INCOME TAXES

The pre-tax income for the perods ended 1s as follows ($ amounts 1n 000's)

Domestic
Foreign

Total Pre-Tax Income

Expected term 1n years
Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Dividend rate (%)
Estimated fair value ($)

38

05
599
007

6 56

December 31, December 31,  December 31,
2010 2009
85,411 50,556 22,667
6,662 5,785 4,846
92,073 56,341 27,513
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009

The provision for income taxes for the years ended 1s as follows (§ amounts 1n 000's)

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Current
Federal 34,856 10,633 4,882
State 2,785 (82) 1,003
Foreign 1,402 9,208 1,173
Total current 39,043 19,849 7,058
Deferred
Federal (9,326) (4,119) (35,331)
State (138) {626) (3.850)
Foreign — ®) (543)
Total deferred (9,462) (4,753) (39,724)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 29,581 15,096 (32,666)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate as follows ($
amounts 1 000's)

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Tax at federal statutory tax rate 32,225 19,719 9,629
Stock-based compensation expense {2,457) {2,308) 1,311
State taxes—net of federal benefit 2,222 (1,098) 821
Research and development credit (887) (948) (356)
Foteign income taxed at different rates (929) (1,066) (i,064)
Other (593) 797 1,202
Change 1n valuation allowance — — (44,209)
Total provision for income taxes 29.581 15,096 (32,666)

Significant permanent differences arise from the portion of stock-based compensation expense that 15 not expected to generate a tax
deduction, such as stock compensation expense on stock option grants to certain foreign employees, offset by the actual tax benefits in the
current periods from disqualifying dispositions of shares held by our U S employees For stock options exercised by our U S employees, we
receive an income tax benefit calculated as the difference between the fair market value of the stock 1ssued at the time of the exercise and the
option price, tax effected Due to this, our income taxes payable have been reduced by the tax benefits from employee stock plan awards The
mncome tax benefits for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 associated with dispositions from employee stock transactions of $26 2 million, $9 3 mullion
and 31 3 milhon, respectively, were recognized as additional paid-in capital

As of December 31, 2011, we did not recogmize deferred tax assets relating to excess tax benefits for stock-based compensation
deductions of $5 5 million and $1 | mullion, which related to California net operating losses and Califorma tax credits, respectively

Unrecogmized deferred tax benefits will be accounted for as a credit to additional pad-in-capital when realized through a reduction 1n ncome
taxes payable
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give nise to significant porttons of the deferred tax assets as of each of the years ended are
presented below (3 amount wn 000's)

December 31, December 31,
2011 010
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforward 1,830 1,920
Deferred revenue 31,234 25173
Nondeductible reserves and accruals 13,699 10,990
Depreciation and amortization 684 2,029
General business credit carryforward 356 1,243
Stock-based compensation 6,247 4,225
Other 12 21
Total deferred tax assets 54,102 45,601

In assessing the realizabiiity of deferred tax assets, we considered whether 1t 15 more likely than not that some portion or all of our
deferred tax assets will be reahzed This realization 1s dependent upen the generation of future taxable income durng the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible Management concluded that 1t 1s more hikely than not that we would be able to realize the benefit of
our deferred tax assets n the future

As of December 31, 2011, we had various state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $37 3 million These state net
operating loss carryforwards begm to expire 1n the year 2012 The state tax authorities impose significant restrictions on the utthzation of net
operauing loss tax credit carryforwards Our abihity to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset any future taxable income may be subject
to limitations if equity transactions occur that would result in a change of ownership As of December 31, 2011 , we have tax credit
carryforwards availabie to offset our future state taxes of approximately $1 6 million The state credits carry forward indefintely

The Company's policy with respect to 1ts undistributed foreign subsidianes' earmings 15 to consider those earnimgs to be indefinitely
renvested and, accordingly, no related provision of U S federal and state income taxes has been provided Upon distribution of those earnings in
the form of dividends or otherwise, we will be subject to both U S income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and
withholding taxes 1n the vartous foreign countries At December 31, 2011 we have not recorded U S income tax on approximately $24 3 milhon
of foreign earnings that are deemed to be permanently reinvested overseas

At December 31, 2011, we had §19 3 million of unrecognized tax benefits, of which, if recogmized, $18 5 millwon would favorably
affect our effective tax rate Qur policy 15 to include acerued wnterest and penalties celated to uncertarn tax benefits i mcome (ax expense As of
December 31, 2011, accrued interest and penalties were $0 6 million As of December 31, 2010, accrued interest and penalties were 30 2
milhon

The aggregate changes in the balance of unrgcognized tax benefits are as follows (§ amounts in 000's)

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 1009
Balance, beginning of year 12,083 3,387 1,952
Increases for tax positions related to the current year 9,049 8,696 440
Increases {decreases) for tax positions related to the prior year {1,363) — 995
Balance, end of year 19,269 12,083 3,387

As of December 31, 2011 and December 31,2010, $19 1 mullion and $11 2 milthon, respectively, of the amounts reflected above were
recorded as a liabihty and included in other non-current habihities in our consohdated balance sheet

As of December 31, 2011 , there were no unrecognized tax benefits that we expect would change sigmificantly over the next 12 months
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We file income tax returns in the U S federal junsdiction, and various U § state and foreign junsdictions As we have net operating
loss carryforwards for the U § Federal and state jurisdicuions, the statute of limitations 15 open for all tax years Generally, we are no longer
subject to non-U § income tax examinations by tax authortties for tax years prior to 2006

13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We have established a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan (the “401(k} Plan™) which perrmts participants to make contributions by salary
deduction pursuant to Sectien 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code Under the 401{k) Plan, participating employees may defer a portion of their
pre-tax earmings, up to the IRS annual contribution hmat ($16,500 for the calendar year 2011) In Canada, we have established a Group
Regstered Retirement Savings Plan program {the "RRSP Plan") which permits participants to make tax deductible contributions up to the
maximum RRSP contribution lirmuts under the Income Tax Act As of January 1, 2011, our board of directors approved 50 0% matching
contnibuttons on employee contributions, up to 4 0% of the employee’s eligible earnings Our matching contributions to the RRSP and 401(k)

Plans for fiscal 2011 was $1 5 maullion

14 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Duning fiscal 2009, we pud compensation of $166,000 to two employees who are directly related to a former board member This
indrvidual ceased being a board member as of October 2009

In February 2008, we entered into a 23-month non-cancelable facility lease agreement, determined to be an arm's length transaction,

with an entity affiliated with one of our former board members During fiscal 2009, we paid $917,000 for office rent and operating expenses
The lease expired on December 31, 2009
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15 SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280 estabhshes standards for reporung information about operating segments QOperating segments are defined as components of
an enterprise about which separate financial information 15 available that 1s evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker 1n deciding
how to allocate resources and 1n assessing performance Our chief operaung decision maker 15 our chief executive officer Our chief executive
officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by informauon about revenue by geographic region for
purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance We have one business activity, and there are no segment managers who
are held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the consohdated umit level Accordingly, we are
considered to be 1n a single reportable segment and operating unit structure

Revenue by geographic region 1s based on the lilling address of the customer The following tables set forth revenue and property and
equipment by geographic region (§ amounts in 000's}

Fiscal Year
Revenue 2011 2010 2009
Amencas

United States 120,456 92,097 73,172
Other Americas 52,038 31,864 19,449
172,494 123,961 92,621
EMEA 152,385 121,604 95,886
APAC 108,697 79,131 63,608
Toi revenue 433,576 324,696 252,115

December 31,

December 31,

Property and Equipment 2011 2010
Americas
United States 2,225 1,639
Canada 4,062 3,933
Other Americas 33 13
6,320 5,585
EMEA 805 616
APAC 841 855 |
Total property and equipment—net 71,966 7,056 1
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ITEMY9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None

ITEM9A  Controls and Procedures
Management's Report an Internal Cantral Qver Firancial Reporting

Our management 1s responsible for estabhishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financsal reporting, as defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework 1n Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the
Treadway Commussion Based on this evaluanon, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2011 Management reviewed the results of its assessment with our Audit Committee The effectiveness of our internal control
over financal reporting as of December 31, 2011 has been audited by Deloitte & Teuche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated 1n 1ts report, which appears m this Item under the heading “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ™

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined m Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(¢) under the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Repert on Form 10-K In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls
and procedures, management recogrized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achteving the desired control objectives [n addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the
fact that there are resource constrants and that management 1s required to apply 1ts judgment 1n evaluating the benefits of possible controls and
procedures relative to ther costs

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2011 to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
submut under the Exchange Act 1s recarded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Secunties and Exchange
Commssion rules and forms, and that such information 1s accumulated and communicated to cur management, including our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes n our internal control over financial reporting (as defined i Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange

Act) during our fourth fiscal quarter that have matertally affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial
repotting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, Inc
Sunnyvale, Califorma

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Fortinet, Inc and subsidianies (collectively, the “Company™) as of
December 31, 2011, based on critenia established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commattee of Sponsonng
Organizations of the Treadway Commssion The Company’s management 1s responsible for mantammng effective mtemnal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether effective intemal control over financial
reporting was mamntained 1n all matenal respects Our audit included obtamning an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessmg the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 1n the circumstances We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinton

A company's internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabihity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only 1n accordance with authonzations of management and directors of the company, and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets
that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent linmitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibihity of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future penods are subject to the nisk that the
controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opimion, the Company maintained, n all matenal respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on the criteria established n faternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsoring Orgamizations of the
Treadway Commission

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and consolidated finaneial statement schedule listed 1n the Index at Item 15 as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2011, of the Company and our report dated February 27, 2012 expressed an ungualified opiion on those financial statements and
financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph relating to the change 1n the Company’s method for recogmizing revenue for
multiple element arrangements

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2012
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ITEM9B. Other Information

None

Part 111
ITEM 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Executive Officers and Drrectors

Information responsive to this item 15 incorporated herein by reference to Fortinet's defimtive proxy statement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC witin 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form
10-K

As part of our system of corporate governance, our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics The code
applies to all of our employees, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions), agents and representatives, mcluding our independent directors and consultants, who are not
employees of the Company, with regard to their Fortimet-related acuvities Our code of business conduct and ethics 1s available on our website at
www fortinet com under “About Us—Investor Relations—Corporate Governance ™ We will post on tius section of our website any amendment
to our code of business conduct and ethics, as well as any waivers of our code of business conduct and ethics, that are required to be disclosed by
the rules of the SEC or the NASDAQ Stock Market

ITEM11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to this wem 1s incorporated hecein by reference to Fortinet's defitutive proxy statement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days afier the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form
10-K

ITEM 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information responstve to this item 1s incorporated herein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2012

Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC witlun 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form
10-K

ITEM 13. Certamn Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to this item 1s incorporated herein by reference to Fortinet’s defimitive proxy statement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meetung of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form
10-K

ITEM 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Informatton responsive to this item 15 incorporated herein by reference to Fortinet's defimitive proxy statement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC wathin 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form
10-K
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Part 1V '
ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K

1 Financial Statements  The mformanon concerming Fortinet's financial statements and the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm required by this Item 15(a)(1} 1s incorporated by reference herein to the section of this Form 10-K tn
Item &, tuled “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data »

2 Fmancial Statement Schedule The following financial statement schedule of Fortinet, Inc , for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 , 15 filed as part of this Form 10-K and should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Finan¢ial Statements of Fortinet, Inc

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
(3 amounts in 000's)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Beginning balance 303 367 318
Charged to costs and expenses 159 8 161
Bad debt wnite-offs (126) (72) (112)
Ending balance 336 303 367

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information required to be set
forth therein 1s included 1n the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto

3 Exhibits See Item |5(b) below We have filed, or meorporated into this 10-K by reference, the exhibits listed on the
accompanying Index to Exhibits immediately following the signature page of this Form 10-K

{(b) Exhibits

The exhibit hist 1n the Index to Exhibits immediately following the signature page of this Farm 10-K 1s incorporated heremn by reference
as the list of exhubits required by this Item 15(b)

(c) Financial Statement Schedules See Item 15(a) above
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on uts behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed, on February 27, 2012

FORTINET, INC

By s/ Ken Goldman

Ken Goldman, Chief Financial Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Ken Xie
and Ken Goldman, jointly and severally, s attorney-in-fact, with the power of substitution, for him 1n any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-X and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents 111 connection therewith, with

the Securities and Exchange Commussion, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and i the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Thtle Date
/s/ Ken Xie President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 27, 2012
Ken Xie {Principal Executtve Officer)
/s Ken Goldman Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2012
Ken Goldman (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sf Michael Xie Chief Technical Officer and Director February 27, 2012
Michael X1e
/s/  Pehong Chen Dhrector February 27, 2012
Pehong Chen
/s/ Hong Liang Lu Director February 27, 2012
Hong Liang Lu
/s/  Greg Myers Director February 27, 2012
Greg Myers
/s/  Chnistopher B Paisley Director February 27, 2012
Christopher B. Paisley
/s/ John Walecka Non-Executive Chawrman of the Beard and Director February 27, 2012

John Walecka
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number

Descriphion

{ncorporated by reference herein

32

4t

42

101!

1z

103°*

1047

108"

106

107"

108"

1097

110’

1011

1012

013

10 14

211

2310

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Amended and Restated Bylaws

Specimen common stock certificate of the Company

Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement, dated

as of Fcbruary 24 2004, between the Company and certain
holders of the Company's capatal stock named theretn

Forms of Indemmfication Agreement between the Company and

its directors and officers

2000 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thereunder

2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thercunder

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of restricted stock umt
award and restricted stock agreement thereunder

Forms of stock option agreement under 2009 Equity Incentive
Plan

Scparation and Change of Cantrol Agreement, dated as of
August 7 2009, between the Company and Ken Xie

Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dated as of
August T 2009, between the Company and Michach Xie

Sepatranon and Change of Control Agreement dated as of
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Ken Goldman

Scparation and Change of Control Agreement dated as of
August 7, 2009 between the Company and John Whttle

Offer Letter dated as of August 31 2007 by and between the
Company and Ken Goldman

Offer Letter, dated as of August 31 2007, by and berween the
Company and John Whittle

Form of Change of Control Agreement between the Company
and 11s non-cxecutive officers

Fortinet, [n¢ Bonus Plan

Fortinet Inc 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

List of subsidiancs

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Form

Registration Statement on Form S-1 as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Curmrent Report on Form 8-K

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No 333-
161190y

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-1 as amended (File No 333-
161160)

Registration Statement on Form S-1 as amended (File No 333-
161190}

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amcnded (File No 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form §-1, as amended (File Mo 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as smended (File No 333-
161150}

Registration Statement on Form 5-1, as amended (File No 333-
161150

Registration Statement on Form S-| as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form §-1, as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Registrabion Statement on Form 5-1, as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Registration Siatement on Form $-1, as amended (File No 333~
161190)

Registration Statement on Form 8-1, as amended (File No 333-
161190)

Current Report on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form 8-K

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No 001-
34511)

Date

August 10, 2009

January 25 2012

November 2 2009

August 10 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10 2009

Augusit 10, 2009

January 26 2010

June 23 2011

August 10, 2009



PN bt Power of Attorncy (incorporated by neference ta the signature
page of this Annual Report on Ferm 10-K}

e Certificacton of Chief Exceutive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

3t 2 Cernification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as zdoptcd pursuant to Sectien 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

321 Ceruficanons of Chief Executive Officer and Chicf Financial Qfficer pursuant to 18 U S C Scction 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxiey Act of 2002

98




=RTINET.
Exhibit 10.5
FORTINET, INC,
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE FPLAN
STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT

Unless otherwise defined heremn, the terms defined n the Fortinet, Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan™} will have the same
defined meanings in this Stock Opuon Award Agreement {the “*Award Agreement”)

I NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Participant Name
Address’

You have been granted an Option to purchase Common Stock of Fortinet, Inc {the “Company™), subject to the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows

Grant Number

Date of Grant

Vesting Commencement Dale
Exercise Price per share

Total Number of Shares Granted
Total Exercise Price

Type of Option

Term/Expiration Date

Vesting Schedule

Subject to any acceleration provisiens contamed in the Plan or set forth below, this Option may be exercised, in whole or 1n part, in
accordance with the following schedule

Shares Vesting_* Vest Type Begin Yest Date Eng Vest Date

* Total shares vesung from “Begin Vest Date™ to “End Vest Date

Termination Penod

This Option will be exercisable for three (3) months after Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, unless such termumation 18 due to
Participant’s death or Disability, in which case this Option will be exercisable for twelve (12) months after Partrcipant ceases to be Service
Provider Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event may this Option be exercised after the Term/Expiration Date as provided above and may be
subject to earlier termination as provided 1n Section 14{c) of the Plan

By Participant's signature and the signature of the Company's representative below, Participant and the Company agree that thus Option
15 granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, including the Terms and Conditions of Stock
Option Grant attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Additonal Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant attached hereto as Exhibut B, all of
which are made a part of this document Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Award Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to
obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Award




Agrecment and fully understands all provisions af the Plan and Award Agreement Participant hereby agrees o accept as binding, conclusive
and final all decisions or interpretations of the Admmustrator upon any questions relaung to the Plan and Award Agreement Participant further
agrees to notify the Company upon any change in the residence address indicated below

OPTIONEE FORTINET, INC
By
Date Title
2
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EXHIBIT A

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

1 Grant of Option_ The Company hereby grants to the individual named in the Notice of Grant attached as Part | of this
Award Agreement (the “Participant™) an option (the “Opuion™) to purchase the number of Shares, as set forth in the Notice of Grant, at the
excrcise price per Share set forth in the Notice of Grant (the “Exercise Pnice™), subject to all of the terms and conditions in thus Award
Agreement and the Plan, which 1s incorporated herein by reference Subject to Section 19 of the Plan, 1n the event of a conflict between the terms
and conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan will prevail

If designated 1n the Notice of Grant as a U S Incentive Stock Option (“1SO™), this Option 1s mntended to qualify as an 1SO under Section
422 of the U 8 Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™) However, 1f this Option 1s intended to be an 150, to the extent that 1t
exceeds the US$100,000 rule of Cede Section 422(d) it will be treated as a U 8 Nonstatutory Stock Option (*NSO”) Further, if for any reason
this Option (or portion thereof) will not qualify as an 1SO, then, (o the extent of such nonguahfication, such Option (or portion thereof) shall be
regarded as a NSO granted under the Plan In no event will the Administrator, the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary or any of their
respective employees or directors have any liabality to Participant (or any other person) due to the failure of the Option to qualify for any reason
as an ISO Partrcipants employed outstde the U S will be granted NSOs

2 Vesting Schedule  Except as provided in Section 3, the Option awarded by this Award Agreement will vest 1n accordance
with the vesting provisions set forth in the Notice of Grant Shares scheduled to vest on a certan date or upon the occurrence of a certain
condition will not vest in Participant in accordance with any of the provisions of this Award Agreement, unless Participant will have been
continuousty a Service Provider from the Date of Grant until the date such vesting occurs

3 Admimstrator Diseretion. The Admumistrator, in 1ts discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser
portion of the balance, of the unvested Option at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan [f so accelerated, such Option will be considered as
having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator

4 Exercise of Optign

(2) Right to_Exercise  This Option may be exercised only within the term set out in the Notice of Grant, and may be
exercised during such term only 1n accerdance with the Plan and the terms of this Award Agreement

(b) Method of Exercise  This Option 15 exercisable by delivery of an exercise notice, in the form attached as Exhibit C (the
“Exercise Notice™) or n a manner and pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may determine, which wili state the election to exercise
the Option, the number of Shares 1 respect of which the Option 15 bewng exercised (the “Exercised Shares™), and such other representations and
agreements as may be required by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Plan The Exercise Notice will be completed by Participant and
delivered to the Company The Exercise Notice will be accompamied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as to all Exercised Shares
together with any applicable tax withholding This Option will be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Company of such fully executed
Exercise Notice accompanied by such aggregate Exercise Price

5 Method of Payment Payment of the aggregate Exercise Pnice will be by any of the following, or a combination thereof, at

the election of Participant unless otherwise provided in the Additional Terns and Conditions of Stock Opuon Grant attached hereto as Exhibit
B

(a) cash,
(b) check,

(c) consideration recerved by the Company under a formal cashless exercise program adopted by the Company in connection
with the Plan, or

(d) for Participants located in the U S, surrender of other Shares which have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender
equal to the aggregate Exercise Price of the Exercised Shares, provided that accepting such Shares, i the sole discretion of the Adminstrator,
will not result in any adverse accounting cansequences to the Company

6 Tax Obligations

(a) Responsibihty for Taxes Regardless of any action the Company and/or the Parucipant’s employer (the

k!
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“Employer™) takes with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items ansing out
of Participant's parucipation in the Plan and legally apphicable to Participant (“Tax-Related [tems”™), Participant acknowledges that the ulimate
liabihity for all Tax-Related Items 15 and remains Participant’s responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company
and/or the Employer Parucipant further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (1) make no representattons or undertakings
regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items i connection with any aspect of the QOption, including, but not limned to, the grant, vesting or
exercise of the Opuon, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such exercise and the receipt of any dividends, and (1) do not commut
and are under no ebligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Option to reduce or elrminate Participant's hability for Tax-
Related ltems or achieve any particular tax result Furthermore, if Participant has become subject to tax in more than one junsdiction between
the Grant Date and the date of any relevant taxable event, Parucipant acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer,
as appitcable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax-Related [tems 1n more than one junsdiction

Prior 1o the relevant taxable or t1ax withholding event, as applicable, Parucipant shall pay or make arrangements sausfactory to the
Company and/or the Employer to sausfy all Tax-Related Items In this regard, Participant authonzes the Company and/or the Employer, or their
respective agents, at their discretion, to satsfy the Tax-Related Items by one or a combination of the following (1) withholding from wages or
other cash compensation paid to Partcipant by the Company, the Employer and/or any Subsidiary, or {i) withholding from proceeds of the sale
of Shares acquired at exercise of the Option either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale arranged by the Company (on
Partsicipant’s behalf pursuant to this authorization), or (111} withholding 1n Shares to be 1ssued at exercise of the Option

To avord any negative accounting treatment, the Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related Iems by considering apphcable
minimum statutory withholding amounts or other applicable withholding rates If the obligation for Tax-Related Items 1s satisfied by withholding
1n Shares, for tax purposes, Participant 15 deemed to have been 1ssued the full number of Shares subject to the exercised Option, notwithstanding
that a number of the shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related ltems due as a result of any aspect of Participant’s
participation n the Plan

Participant shall pay to the Company or the Employer any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company or the Employer may be
required to withhold or account for as a result of Particpant’s participation in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by the means previously descnbed
n this section The Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares or the proceeds of the sale of shares 1f Participant fails to comply with
these obligations in connection with the Tax-Related [tems

(b) Notice of Disquahfying Disposition of 150 Shares 1f the Option granted to Participant herein 15 an 150, and if Partictpant sells
or otherwise disposes of any of the Shares acquired pursuant to the ISO on or before the later of (1) the date two {2) years after the Grant Date, or
(1) the date one (1) year after the date of exercise, Participant will immediately noufy the Company in writing of such disposition Participant
agrees that Participant may be subject to mcome tax withholding by the Company on the compensation mncome recognized by Participant

{c} Code Section 409A Under Code Section 409A, an option that vests after December 31, 2004 (or that vested on or prior to such
date but which was matenally modified after October 3, 2004) that was granted with a per Share exercise price that 15 determined by the Internal
Revenue Service (the “IRS™) to be less than the Far Market Value of a Share on the date of grant (a “Discount Option™) may be considered
“deferred compensation ™ A Discount Option may result i {1} income recognition by Participant prior to the exercise of the option, (1) an
additional twenty percent (20%) federal income tax, and (1n) potennial penalty and interest charges The Discount Oplion may also result 1n
additional state income, penalty and interest charges to the Partuicipant Participant acknowledges that the Company cannot and has not
guaranteed that the IRS will agree that the per Share exercise price of this Option equals or exceeds the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Date
of Grant 1n a later exarmination Participant agrees that if the IRS determunes that the Option was granted with a per Share exercise price that was
less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant, Participant will be solely responsible for Participant's costs related to such a
determination,

7 Rights as Stockholder Neither Participant nor any persen claiming under or through Participant will have any of the nghts
or privileges of a stockholder of the Company n respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and untl certificates representing such
Shares wili have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or us transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Partictpant After such
1ssuance, recordauon and dehvery, Participant will have all the nghts of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and
recetpt of dividends and distnbutions on such Shares

8 Nature of Grant_ in accepting the Opuion, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees to the following

(a) Participant expressly warrants that Participant has recetved an Option under the Plan and has received, read, and understood a
description of the Plan, the Plan 1s established voluntanily by the Company, 1t 1s discretionary 1n nature, and 1t may be amended, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time,

(b} the grant of the Option 15 voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other nght
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to recerve future grants of options, or benefits in heu of options, even 1f options have been granted repeatedly in the past,
(c) all decisions with respect to future option grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company,
(d) Participant 15 voluntanily participating in the Plan,

(e} Participant's paructpation n the Plan shall not create a nght to further employment wuth the Employer and shall not wnterfere with
the abihity of the Employer te terminate Participant’s employment or relationship as a Service Provider at any time,

(fy the Option and any Shares subject to the Option are extraordinary items that do not constitute compensation of any kind for
services of any kimd rendered to the Company or the Employer, and are outside the scope of Participant’s employment or service contract, if any,

{g) the Option and the Shares subject to the Opuion are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation,

{h} the Option and the Shares subject to the Opuion are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes,
including, but not hmited to, calculating any severance, resignation, terrmination, redundancy, dismissal, end of service payments, bonuses, long-
service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefils or similar payments and 1n no event should be considered as compensation for, or
relaling i any way to, past services far the Employer, the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company,

(1) the Opuen and Participant’s participation n the Plan will not be interpreted to form an employment contract or relationship with
the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company,

()) the future value of the Shares underlying the Option 1s unknown and cannot be predicted with certainty,

(k) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall anise from forfeiture of the Option resulting from termimation of
Participant’s service by the Company or the Employer (for any reason whatsoever and whether or not 1n breach of local labor laws) and, 1n
consideration for the grant of the Option, to which Participant 15 not otherwise entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim
against the Company or the Employer, waives his or her ability, tf any, w0 bring any such claim, and releases the Company and the Employer
from any such claim, if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim 1s allowed by a court of competent junsdiction, then, by signing the
Motice of Grant, Participant shall be deemed wrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents
necessary to request disrtssal or withdrawal of such claims,

{I) m the event of termation of Parucipant’s service with the Company or the Employer (whether or not in breach of local labor
laws), Participant's nght to exercise the Option, if any, will terminate effective as of the date that Participant 1s no longer actively employed and
will not be extended by any notice period mandated under local law { e g , active employment would not include a period of “garden leave” or
similar period pursuant to local law), the Admimistrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant 1s no longer actively
employed for purposes of the Option grant, and

(m) the Option and the benefits under the Plan, if any, will not automatically transfer to another company in the case of a merger,
take-over, or transfer of liability

9 No Advice Regarding Grant  The Company 15 not providing any tax, legal, or financial advice, nor is the Company making
any recommendations regarding Participant's participation in the Plan or Participant's acquisitton or sale of the underlying Shares Parucipant 1s
hereby advised to consult wath hus or her own tax, legal, and financial consultants regarding Participant’s participation i the Plan before taking
any action related to the Plan

10, Data_Privacy  Participant hereby expliculy and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of Participant's personal data as described in this Award Agreement by and among, as applicable, the Employer, the
Company and any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company for the exclusive purpose of implemennng, admimstering and managing
Participant's participation in the Plan,

Participant understands that the Company and the Employer may hold certain personal mnformanon about Participant, including,
but not limited to, Participant's name, home address and telephone number, date of burth, social insurance or other identification number,
salary, nationalty, job tille, any Shares or directorships held in the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, detals of all
options or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Partcipant's favor, for the
exclusive purpose of implemenning, administering and managing the Plan (“Personal Data®) Participant understands that Personal Data
will be transferred to a broker designated by the Company or to any other third party assisting in the implementatton, administration and
management of the Plan. Partticipant understands that the recipients of the Personal Data may be located in Participant's country ar
elsewhere, and that the recipient’s country
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may have different data privacy laws and protections than Participant’s country

For Participants located outside of the U.S., Participani understands that Participant may request a list with the names and
addresses of any potental reciprents of the Personal Data by contacting Participant's local human resources representative Participant
authorizes the Company, the hroker, and any other reciments of Personal Data that may assist the Company (presenily or in the future) with
implementing, admnistering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer Personal Data, in electronic or other form,
for the purposes of implemennng, admunstering and managing Parucipant’s partcipation in the Plan, inciuding any requisite fransfer of
Personal Data as may be required 1o a broker or other third party with whom Parnicipant may elect to deposit any Shares purchased upon
exercise of the Option. Participant understands that Personal Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and
manage Partictpant’s partcipation tn the Plan. Participant understands that Partucipant may, at any tune, view Personal Data, request
additional information about the storage and processing of Personal Data, require any necessary amendments to Personal Data or refuse or
withdraw the consents herewn, in any case without cest, by contacting n writng Parncipant’s local human resources representative
Parncipant understands that refusal or withdrawal of consent may affect Participant’s abidiy to participate in the Plan. For more
infermation on the consequences of refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that he or she may conract
Participant's local human resources representative

11 Address for Nouices  Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed
to the Company, n care of Stock Adminstration at Fortinet, Inc, 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086, or at such other address as the
Company may hereafter designate 1n wnting

12 Non-Transferability of Optign. This Option may not be transferred i any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of
descent or distribution and may be exercised duning the lifettime of Participant only by Participant

13 Bnding Apreement  Subject to the limitatron on the iransferability of this grant contained heren, ths Award Agreement
will be binding upon and nure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto

14 Adduonal Conditions to Issuance of Stock = If at any time the Company will determming, 1n its discretion, that the hisung,
registration or qualification of the Shares upon any secunties exchange or under any U S state or federal or foreign law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory authonty 1s necessary or desirable as a condition to the 1ssuance of Shares to Participant {or his or her
estate), such 1ssuance will not occur unless and unul such hstung, registration, gualtfication, consent or approval will have been effected or
obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company Assumuing such compliance, for U S income tax purposes the Exercised Shares
will be considered transferred to Paruicipant on the date the Option 1s exercised with respect to such Exercised Shares

15 Plan Governs This Award Agreement 1s subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan In the event of a conflict between
one or more provisions of this Award Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern Capitalized
terms used and not defined 1n this Award Agreement will have the meaning set forth 1n the Plan

16 Admimistrator Authonty. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to
adopt such rules for the adnmmstration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such
rules (inciuding, but not himited to, the determination of whether or not any Shares subject to the Option have vested) All actions taken and all
nterpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company and all other
nterested persons No member of the Admimsirator will be personally hable for any action, determination or interpretation made m good faith
with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement

17 Eleciromc Delivery  The Company may, n its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Option
awarded under the Plan or future options that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or request Participant's consent to participate
in the Plan by electromic means Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the
Plan through any on-line or clectranic system estabhished and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company

18 Captions  Captions provided heremn are for convemence only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Award Agreement

19 Agreement Severable In the event that any provision in this Award Agreement will be held invalid or unenforgeable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of
this Award Agreement
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20 Modifications to the Agreement This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects
covered Participant expressly warrants that he or she 1s not accepting this Award Agreement 1n reliance on any promises, representations, or
inducements other than those contamed herein Modificattons to this Award Agreement or the Plan can be made only n 2n express written
contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Award Agreement,
the Company reserves the right to revise this Award Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, 10 1ts sole discretion and without the consent
of Participant, to comply with Code Section 409A or to otherwise avoud imposition of any additional tax or meome recogmtion under Section
409A of the Code 1n connecuon to this Option

21 Governing_Law and Venue This Award Agreement will be govemed by, and subject to, the laws of the State of
California, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof For purposes of htigating any dispute that anses under the Option or
this Award Agreement, the parties hereby submut to and consent te the jurisdiction of the State of Califormia , and agree that such htigation will
be conducted m the courts of Santa Clara County, Cahformia , or the federal courts for the Uruted States for the Northern District of California,
and no other courts, where this grant 1s made and/or to be performed

21 Languape If Participant has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Option and/or the Plan

translated into a language other than Enghsh, and 1f the meaning of the translated version 1s different than the English version, the English
version will control

22 Addional Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, Notwithstanding any provisions m the Terms and Conditions of Stock
Option Grant, the Opnion shall be subject to any spectal terms and conditions set forth in the Additional Terms and Conditions of Stock Option
Grant, attached as Exhubut B, for Participant's country Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of the countries included in the Addiwional Terms
and Condittons of Stock Option Grant, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company
determines that the apphication of such terms and condittons 1s necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or facilitate the
admimstration of the Plan The Additional Terms and Condutions of Stock Option Grant constitute part of this Award Agreement

23 Impesition of Other Requirements The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participant's participation in
the Plan, on the Option, and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines 1t 1s necessary or advisable in order to
comply with local laws or facihtate the administration of the Plan, and to require Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings
that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing
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LERTINET.
EXHIBIT B

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Thus Exhibit B includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Opuion granted to Participant under the Plan 1f Participant resides in one
of the countries histed below Certan capualized terms used but not defined 1n this Exhibit B have the meanings set forth in the Plan and/or the
Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

This Exhibit B also includes information regarding exchange controls and certain other tax or legal 1ssues of which Participant should be aware
with respect 1o his or her parhicipation 1n the Plan The information 15 based on the secunties, exchange control, and other laws m effect in the
respective countries as of December 2009 Such laws are often complex and change frequently As a result, the Company strongly recommends
that Participant not rely on the infoermation mn this Exhibit B as the only source of information relating to the consequences of his or her
participation 1n the Plan because the information may be out of date at the time that Participant exercises the Option or sell Shares

In addinion, the nformanion contained herein 15 general in nature and may not apply 1o Paricipant's particular situation, and the Company 1s not
1n a position to assure Participant of a particular result Accordingly, Participant 1s advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to how the
relevant laws in his or her country may apply to Participant's situation

Finally, if Participant 1s a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which he or she 1s currently residing, or transfers to a different
country after the Date of Grant, the wnformation contained herewn may not be apphcable to Participant

Argentina

Securities Eaw Information

Neather the Option nor the 1ssuance of Shares s offered publicly or histed on any stock exchange n Argentina The offer 15 private and not
subject to the supervision of any Argentine governmental authority

Exchange Control Information

Under current regulations adopted by the Argentine Central Bank (the “BCRA™), Participant may purchase and remit foreign currency with a
value of up to US$2,000,000 per month out of Argentina for the purpose of acquinng foreign secunities, including Shares under the Plan, without
prior approval from the BCRA, provided that Participant executes and submits an affidavit to the BCRA confirming that he or she has not
exceeded the US$2,000,000 threshold during the relevant month

Picase note that exchange control regulations in Argentina are subject to frequent change Partictpant should consult with his or her personal
legal advisor regarding any exchange control obligations that he or she may have

Australia

Term/Expiration Date

This secuion repiaces the “Term/Expiration Date™ set forth 1 the Notice of Stock Option Grant

Due to tax considerations tn Austraha, the Option will expire on the last trading day on the Nasdaq Global Market on or before the day that 15 6
years and 364 days afier the Date of Grant

Right to Exercise
This section supplements the “Right to Exercise” sectien of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

Due to tax considerations in Austraha, Participant may not exercise any portion of the Option unless and until the Fair Market Value (as defined
in Section 2(r} of the Plan) per Share underlying the Option equals or exceeds Exercise Price per Share for a certain period of time not to exceed
one week pursuant Lo the procedures established by the Company ( 1e , the Company will decide on the penod of time for which the Option
must be “above water™)

Secunties Law Informatign

If Participant acquires Shares pursuant to this Option and he or she offers Shares for sale to a person or entity resident in Australia, the offer may
be subject to disclosure requirements under Australian law Participant should obtain legal advice on his or her disclosure obligahons prier 1o
making any such offer

Austria

Exchange Control Informauon

[f Participant holds Shares purchased under the Plan outside Austna (even if he or she holds them outside of Austnia with an
8
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Austrian bank), Parucipant understands that he or she must submit an annual report to the Austrian Naunonal Bank using the form “
Standmeldung/Wertpaptere " An exemption applies 1f the value of the secunties held outside Austna as of December 31 does not exceed
€3 000,000 or the value of the secunties as of any quarter does not exceed €30,000,000 If the former threshold 1s exceeded, annual reporting
obligations are imposed, whereas if the latter threshold 1s exceeded, quarterly reports must be submitted The annual reporting date 15 December
31, the deadline for filing the annual report 1s March 31 of the following year

When the Shares are sold, there may be exchange control obhigations 1f the cash recerved s held outside Austna, as a separate reporting
requirement applies to any non-Austrian cash accounts If the transaction volume of all of Participant's cash accounts abroad exceeds €3,000,000,
the movements and the balance of all accounts must be reported monthly, as of the last day of the month, on or before the 15th day of the
following month, using the form “ Meldungen SI-Forderungen und/oder SI-Verpflichtungen ™ If the transaction value of all cash accounts
abroad 15 less than €3,000,000, no ongoing reporting requirements apply

Consumer Protecuon Act Information

Participant understands that he or she may be enutled 1o revoke the Award Agreement on the basis of the Austrian Consumer Protection Act (the
*Act”) under the conditions hsted below, 1f the Act 1s considered to be applicable to the Award Agreement and the Plan

(1} If Participant signs the Award Agreement outside the business premises of the Company, he or she may be entitled to revoke
acceptance of the Award Agreement provided that the revocanon 1s made within one week after he or she signs the Award Agreement

{n)  The revocation must be 1n written form to be vahid Tt1s sufficient 1f Participant returns the Award Agreement to the Company or
the Company's representative with language that can be understood as his or her refusal to honor the Award Agreement It 1s sufficient if the
revocation 1s sent within one week after Participant signed the Award Agreement

Belgium

Tax Considerations

The Option must be accepted 1n wnung with the ume frame set forth and explained in the separate Country Supplement & Undertaking for
Participants in Belgium Participant should refer to the separate Country Supplement & Undertaking for Participants in Belgium for a more
detailed description of the tax consequences of choosing to accept the Qption Participant should also consult a personal tax advisor with respect
to accepting the Option and completing the addinonal forms

Tax Reporting [nformation

Participant 1s required to report any taxable income atiributable to the Option on s or her annual tax return Participant 1s also required to report
any bank accounts opened and maintained outside Belgium on his or her annual tax return

Brazil

Exchange Control Information

If Participant 1s a resident or domiciled in Brazil, he or she wall be required to submit an annual declaration of assets and nights held outside of
Brazil 1o the Central Bank of Brazil if the aggregate value of such assets and nghts 15 equal to or greater than US$100,000 Please note that the
USS$100,000 threshold may be changed annually

Canada

Consent to Recerve Information in English for Employees in Quebec

The parties acknowledge that 1t 15 their express wish that the Award Agreement, as well as all documents, notices and legal proceeds entered
nto, given or instituted pursuant hereto or relating directly or ndirectly hereto, be drawn up 1in English

Les parties reconnaissent aveir exige la redaction en anglais de cette convention, awnsi que de tous documenis executes, avis donnes ef
procedures judiciaries intentees, directement ou indirectement, relativement a ou suite a la presente convention

Involuntary Termination Terms for Option

In the event of involuntary termmation of Participant's employment (whether or not 1n breach of local labor laws), Participant's night to centinued
vesting or to exercise the Option, if any, will terminate effective as of the date that 1s the earlier of (1) the date Participant receives notice of
termination of employment from the Employer, or (2) the date Participant ts no lenger actively employed by the Employer, regardless of any
notice period or period of pay n lieu of such notice required under local law (including, but not limited to, statutory law, regulatory law, and/or

common law), the Admimstrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant 1s no longer actively employed for purposes
of the Option

Data Prnivacy Notice and Consent

9
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Thus section supplements the “Data Prnvacy™ section of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

Participant hereby authorizes the Company and the Company's representatives to discuss and obtain all relevant informatton from all personnel,
professional or non-professional, mvolved in the adminstration of the Plan Participant further authonzes the Employer, the Company, and 1ts
Subsidiaries to disclose and discuss such information with their advisors Participant aiso authonzes the Employer, Company and its Subsidianes
to record such information and to keep such information in Participant's employee file

Chile
Secunties Law Informauon

Neither the Company nor the Shares are registered with the Chilean Registry of Securities or under the control of the Chilean Superintendence of
Secunties

Exchange Control Information

It 1s Participant's responsibility to make sure that he or she complies with exchange control requirements i Chile when the value of his or her
Option exercise transaction 1s 1n excess of US$10,000, regardless of whether Participant exercises ns or her Option through a cash exercise or
cashless method of exercise

If Participant uses the cash exercise method to exercise the Option and Participant rermits funds in excess of US$10,000 out of Chile, the
remittance must be made through the Formal Exchange Market ( z e, a commercial bank or registered foreign exchange office) In such case,
Participant must provide to the bank or registered foreign exchange office certain information regarding the remittance of funds ( eg,
destination, currency, amount, parties involved, etc }

If Participant exercises the Option using a cashless exercise method and the aggregate value of the Exercise Price exceeds US$10,000,
Participant must sign Annex | of the Manual of Chapter XII of the Foreign Exchange Regulations and file 1t directly with the Central Bank
within 10 days of the exercise date

Participant 1s not required to repatriate funds obtained from the sale of Shares or the receipt of any dwidends However, 1f Participant decides to
repatriate such funds, Participant must do so through the Formal Exchange Market 1f the amount of the funds exceeds U$$10,000 In such case,
Participant must report the payment to a commercial bank or registered foreign exchange office receiving the funds

If Participant's aggregate investments held outside of Chile exceeds 1J555,000,000 (including the investments made under the Plan), Participant
must report the investments annually to the Central Bank Annex 3 | of Chapter XII of the Foreign Exchange Regulations must be used to file
this report

Please note that exchange control regulations m Chile are subject to change Participant should consuit with his or her personal legal advisor
regarding any exchange control obligations that Participant may have prior to exercising the Option or receiving proceeds from the sale of Shares
acquired under the Plan

Annual Tax Reporting Obligation

The Chilean Internal Revenue Service (“CIRS™) requires all taxpayers to provide information annually regarding (1) the taxes paid abroad,
which they will use as a credit against Chilean income taxes, and (1) the results of foreign investments These annual reporting obligations must
be comphed with by submitting a sworn statement setting forth this information before March 15 of each year The forms to be used to submit
the sworn statement are Tax Form 1853 “Annual Swom Statement Regarding Credits for Taxes Paid Abroad” and Tax Form 1851 “Annual
Sworn Statement Regarding Investments Held Abroad ™ If Participant 1s not a Chilean citizen and has been a resident in Chile for tess than three
years, Participant 1s exempt from the requirement to file Tax Form 1853 These statements must be submitted electromically through the CIRS
website www su cl

China
Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary n the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, due to stringent exchange controls and
securities restrictions in China, when Participant exercises the Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or
she delivers irrevocable mnstructions to the broker to sell all Shares to which Participant 1s entitled at exercise and remit the proceeds from sale
less any Tax-Related ltems and brokerage fees to Participant i cash The Company reserves the nght to provide Participant with additional
methods of paying the Exercise Price depending upon the development of local laws

Exchange Control [nformation_for Participants who are Chinese Nationals
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Participant understands and agrees that, due to exchange control laws in China, Participant may be required to immediately repatriate the
proceeds from the cashless exercise to Chma Participant further understands that such repatriation of the proceeds may need to be effected
through a speciai exchange control account established by the Employer, the Company, or any of its Subsidiaries in China and Participant hereby
consents and agrees that the proceeds from the cashless exercise may be transferred to such special account prior to being dehvered to
Participant Proceeds may be pard to Paricipant m U S dollars or local currency at the Company's discretion I the proceeds are pad i U §
dollars, Participant wtll be required to cstablish a U S dollar bank account in China, so that the proceeds may be deposited nto such account [f
the proceeds are paid 1n local currency, the Company 1s under no obhigation to secure any particular foreign currency exchange rate Participant
acknowledges that due to the special account requirement, there may be delays in paying Participant the proceeds and that Paricipant
understands and agrees that he or she will bear the foreign currency exchange rate rnsk Participant further agrees to comply with any other
requirements that may be imposed by the Company in the future 1n order to facilitale compliance with exchange control requirements in China

Colombra

Exchange Control [nformation

Investments 1n assets located abroad (including Shares) are subject to registraton with the Bank of the Republic if Paruicipant’s aggregate
investments held abroad (as of December 31 of the applicable calendar year) equal or exceed US$500,000 If funds are remutted from Colombia
through an authorized local financial msutution, the authonzed financial mstitution will automatically register the investment However, 1f
Participant does not remut funds through an authorized financial mstitution when Participant exercises his or her Option and acquires and holds
Shares abroad { te ,because Participant uses the cashless sell-to-cover method of exercise), then Participant must register the investment
{assuming Particspant's accumulated financial invesiments held abroad at the year end are equal to or exceed the equivalent of US$500,000) If
Participant uses the cashless sell-all method of exercise, then no registration 1s required because no funds are remitted from Colombia and no
Shares are held abroad

Costa Rica

There are no country-spectfic provisions
Czech Repubhe

Exchange Conirgl Information

The Czech National Bank may require Participant to fulfill certain notification duties 1n relation to the acquisition of Shares and the opening and
maintenance of a foreign account However, because exchange control regulations change frequently and without notuice, Participant should
consult with hus or her personal legal advisor prior to exercising the Option and/or the subsequent sale of Shares to ensure comphiance with
current regulations Participant s solely responsible for complying with any applicable Czech exchange control laws

Egypt
Exchange Control Information

If Participant transfers funds into or out of Egypt 1n connection with the exercise of the Opuon, he or she must transfer the funds through a
registered bank 1 Egypt

Finland
Therc are no country-specific provisions

Germany

Exchange Control Information

Cross-border payments i excess of €12,500 must be reported monthly If Parhcipant uses a German bank 1o effect a cross-border payment in
excess of €12,500 in connection with the exercise of this Option or sale of secunties or the payment of dividends related to certain securities, the
bank will make the report En this case, Participant will not have to report the transaction In addiion, Participant must report any receivables or
payables or debts in foreign currency exceeding an amount of approximately €5,000,000 on a monthly basis Finally, Participant must report
Shares holding exceeding 10% of the total voting capttal of the Company on an annual basis

Hong Kong

WARNING The Option and the Shares 1ssued upon exercise do not constitute a public offering of secunities under Hong Kong law and are
available only 1o Service Providers of the Company or its Parent, Subsidiaries and Affiliates The Award Agreement, mcluding this Appendix,
the Plan and other mcidental communication materials have not been prepared n accordance with and are not intended to constitute a
“prospectus” for a public offering of securities under the applicable securiies legisiation in Hong Kong In addition, the documents have not
been reviewed by any regulatory authority in Hong Kong The Option is intended
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only for the personal use of each eligible Service Provider of the Emplayer, the Company or any Parent Subsidiary or Affiliate and may not be
distributed to any other person [f Parucipant 15 1n any doubt about any of the contents of the Award Agreement inciuding this Appendix or the
Plan, Participant should obtain independent professional advice

Sale of Shares

If the Option vests within six months of the Date of Grant, Parucipant agrees that he or she will not exercise the Option and sell the Shares
acquired prior to the six-month anmiversary of the Date of Grant

Natre of Scheme

The Company specifically intends that the Plan will not be an occupational retirement scheme for purposes of the Occupauconal Retirement
Schemes Ordinance

India

Method of Payment

Notwrthstanding any provision 1n the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, due to exchange contrel laws that are currently 1n effect in
India, Participant will not be permitted to engage 1n a “sell to cover” exercise whereby a portion of Shares are sold to cover the Exercise Price,
any Tax-Related ltems and brokerage fees, and the proceeds are settled in Shares

Exchange Control Information

Participant should be aware that if Parucipant remits funds outside of India to purchase Shares, 1t 1s Participant's responsibility te comply with
exchange control regulations 1n India Proceeds from the sale of Shares must be repatniated to Indsa within 90 days of receipt Participant should
obtain a foreign inward remittance certificate from the bank for Participant's records to document compliance with this requirement and submit a
copy of the foreign inward remittance certificate to the Employer if requested

Indonesia

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision mn the Terms and Conditions of Stock Opuion Grant, due to securities laws  Indonesta, when Participant
exercises the Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers irrevocable instructions to the broker
to sefl alt Shares to which Participant 1s entitled at exercise and remit the proceeds from sale, less any Tax-Related [tems and brokerage fees, to
Participant in cash Partictpant will not be permatted 1o receive and hold any Shares in connection with the exercise of the Option The Company
reserves the right to provide Participant with additional methods of paying the aggregate Exercise Price depending upon development of local
laws

Exchange Control Information

If Participant remuts proceeds from the cashless exercise of the Option nto Indonesia, the Indonesian Bank through which the transaction 1s
made wiil submit a report on the transaction to the Bank of Indonesia for statistical reporuing purposes For transactions of US$10,000 or more, a
description of the transaction must be mcluded 10 the report Although the bank through which the transaction 1s made 15 required to make the

report, Participant must complete a “Transfer Report Form ™ The Transfer Report Form will be provided to Parucipant by the bank through
which the transaction 1s made

Ireland

Director Notification Obligation

If Partictpant 15 a director, shadow director or secretary of the Company's Insh Subsidiary or Affiliate, Parnicipant must noufy the Insh
Subsidiary or Affiliate in wnting within five business days of receiving or disposing of an interest in the Company ( e g , the Option, Shares,
eic ), or within five business days of becoming aware of the event giving nse to the noufication requirement or within five days of becoming a
director or secretary 1f such an interest exists at the time This notification requirement also applies with respect to the interests of a spouse or
children under the age of 18 (whose interests will be attributed to the director, shadow director or secretary)

Israel

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision mn the Terms and Condions of Stock Option Grant, due to tax rules in Israel, when Participant exercises the
Option, Partictpant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers trrevocable instructions to the broker to sell all
Shares to which Participant 15 entitied at exercise and remt the proceeds from sale, less any Tax-Related Itemns and brokerage fees, to Participant
n cash Participant will not be pernutted to recerve and hold any Shares in connection with the exercise of the Option The Company reserves
the nght to provide Participant with additional methods of paying the aggregate Exercise Price depending upon development of local laws
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Italy
Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision 1n the Terms and Condittons of Stock Option Agreement, due to securities restrictions in Jtaly, when Participant
exercises the Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers irrevocable 1nstructions to the broker
to sell all Shares to which Participant 1s entitled at exercise and remit the proceeds from sale, less any Tax-Related Items and brokerage fees, to
Participant 1n cash Participant will not be permuitted to receive and hold any Shares in connection with the exercise of the Option The Company

reserves the nght to provide Participant with additional methods of paying the aggregate Exercise Price depending upon development of local
laws

Data Privacy Consent

The following provision replaces the “Data Privacy” section of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

Participant hereby explicily and unambiguously consent to the collection, use, processing and transfer, in electronic or other form, of
Participant’s personal data as described heremn by and among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company and s Subsidiaries for the
exclusive purpose of implementing, administering, and managing Parucipant's participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that his or her Employer, the Company and us Subsidiaries may hold certain personal information about
Paracipant, including, but not imuted to, Participant's name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance (1o the
extestt permitied under Itahian law) or other identification number, salary, nationehty, job ntle, Shares or directorships held wn the Company
ar us Subsidiaries, detals of all options granted, or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or
outstanding in Participant’s favor, for the exclusive purpose of implementing, managing and administering the Plan (“Data”)

Participant also understands that providing the Company with Data 15 necessary for the performance of the Plan and that Partcipant’s
refusal to provide such Data would make it impossibie for the Company to perform its contractual obliganons and may affect Participant's
abdity to participate in the Plan. The Controller of personal data processing 1s Fortinet, Ine., with registered offices at 1090 Kifer Road,
Sunnyvale, CA 94086, U.S.A , and, pursuant to Legislanive Decree no 196/2003, us Representatve in Italy for privacy purposes is Fortinet
Italy, Sr L, with registered offices at Via del Casale Solaro, 119, 00143 ROMA ltaly. Participant understands that Data will not be
publicized, but it may be transferred to hanks, other financial instttutions, or brokers involved n the management and admurustration of the
Plan Participant understands that Data may also be transferred to the independent registered public accounung firm engaged by the
Company. Partcipant further understands that the Employer, the Company and/or any of us Subsidiaries wdl transfer Data among
themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing Perticipant's participation in the Plan, and that the
Company and/or any Subsidary may eack further transfer Data to third parties assisting the Company in the implementation,
admustration, and management of the Plan, including any requisite transfer of Data to a broker or other third party with whom Participant
muay elect to deposit any Shares acquired under the Plan. Such recipients may recetve, possess, use, retain, and transfer Data in electronic or
other form, for the purposes of implemenung, admuustering, and managing Parnicipant's participation in the Plan, Participant understands
that these reciprents may be located 1n the European Economic Area or elsewhere, such as the Unued States Should the Company exercise
its discrefion in suspending all necessary legal obliganans connected with the management and admnstration of the Plan, 1t will delete Data
as soon as it has completed all the necessary legal obligations connected with the management and administration of the Plan,

Paracipant understands thar Data processing related to the purposes specified above shall wke place under automated or non-automated
conditions, anonymously when possible, that comply with the purposes for which Data is collected and with confidennality and securiy
provisions, as set forth by applicable laws and regulations, with specific reference to Legislative Decree no. 196/2003.

The processing actowty, including communication, the transfer of Data abroad, including outside of the European Economic Area, as herein
specified and pursuant to applicable laws and regulations, does not require Participant's consent thereto, as the processing is necessary to
performance of contractual obligations related to implemeniation, admimstration, and management of the Plan. Participant understands
that, pursuant to Section 7 of the Legisiative Decree no. 196/2003, Participant has the right to, tncluding but not imited to, access, delete,
update, correct, or ternunate, for legitimate reason, the Data processing,

Furthermore, Participant is aware that Data will not be used for direct-marketing purposes. In addmon, Data provided can be reviewed and
questions or complaints can be addressed By contacting Participant's local human resources representative.

Acknowledgement
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Participant acknowledges that he or she has read and specifically and expressly approves the following sections of the Terms and Conditions of
Stock Option Grant Responsibility for Taxes, Nature of Grant, and Goverming Law and Venue, Language, Electromc Dehvery, Agreement
Severable, Imposition of Other Requirements [n addison, Participant acknowledges that he or she has read and specifically and expressly
approves the Data Privacy paragraphs above

Exchange Control Information

Participant must report 1n his or her annual tax return any transfers of cash or Shares to or from Italy exceeding €10,000 or the equivalent amount
in US dollars The reporting must be done on Participant’s individual income tax return Participant 1s exempt from this reporting obligation 1f
the investments are made through an authorized broker resident in ltaly, as the broker will comply wath the reporiing obligation on Participant's
behalf

Offshore Asset Reporting Oblhigation

Partticrpant must report i his or her annual tax return any foreign investments or wnvestments (including proceeds from the sale of Shares
acquired under the Plan or any vested Option) held outside Jtaly exceeding €10,000 or the equivalent amount 1n U § dollars, if the mvestment
may give nse to income 1n Italy The reporting must be done on Participant's individual income tax return

Japan
Exchange Control Information

If Parucipant acquires Shares valued at more than ¥100,000,000 1n a single transaction, Participant must file a Secunities Acquisition Report with
the Mimstry of Finance through the Bank of Japan within 20 days of the purchase of the shares

{n addition, if Participant pays more than ¥30,000,000 i a single transaction for the purchase of Shares when Participant exercises the Option,
Participant must file a Payment Report with the Ministry of Finance through the Bank of Japan by the 20 * day of the month following the month
in which the payment was made The precise reporung requirements vary depending on whether or not the relevant payment 1s made through a
bank n Japan

A Payment Report 15 required independently from a Securities Acquisition Report Therefore, 1f the total amount that Participant pays upon a
one-time transaction for exercising the Option and purchasing shares exceeds ¥100,000,000, then Participant must file both a Payment Report
and a Securities Acquisition Report

Korea

Exchange Control Information

If Participant remits funds out of Korea to pay the Exercise Pnice at exercise of the Qpuion, such remuttance must be “confirmed” by a foreign
exchange bank in Korea This 15 an automatic procedure, ¢ e , the bank does not need to “approve™ the remittance, and 1t should take no more
than a single day to process The following supporting documents evidencing the nature of the remittance may need to be submitted to the bank
together with the confirmation apphication (1) the Notice of Grant and Award Agreement, (1) the Plan, (m) a document evidencing the type of
shares to be acquired and the amount ( eg , the award certificate), and (1v) Partictipant’s certificate of employment This confirmation s not
necessary for cashless exercises because no funds are remutted out of Korea

Addtionally, exchange control laws require Korean residents who realize U$3500,000 or more from the sale of shares to repatnate the proceeds
to Korea within 18 months of the sale

Malaysia

Dhrector Notfication Reguirements

If Parricipant 15 a director of a Malaysian Subsidiary of the Company, Participant s subject to certain notification requirements under the
Malaysian Companies Act Among these requirements 1s an obhigation to notify the Malaysian Subsidiary in wnting when Participant receives or
disposes of an interest ( eg , Options, Shares) in the Company or any related company (including when Participant sells Shares acquired
pursuant o the exercise of the Option) These notifications must be made within fourteen days of receiving or disposing of any nterest n the
Company or any related company

Insider Trading Information

Participant should be aware of the Malaysian insider-trading rules, which may impact Participant's acquisition or disposal of Shares acquired
from the exercise of the Option Under the Malaysian insider-trading rules, Participant 1s prohibited from acquining or selling Shares or nghts to
Shares ( e g , Ophions) when Participant 15 in possession of information that 15 not generally available and that Participant knows or should know
will have a mateniat effect on the price of Shares once such information 15 generally available
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Mexico

Labor Law Policy and Acknowledgment

In accepung the grant of the Option, Participant expressly recognizes that Fortinet, Inc , with registered offices at 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale,
CA 94086, U S A, 15 solely responsible for the admumstration of the Plan and that Participant's partcipation in the Plan and acquisition of Shares
do not constitute an employment relationship between Participant and Fortinet, Inc since Participant 1s participating in the Plan on a wholly
commerctal basis and his or her sole Employer 1s Fortinet, Inc , located at Rodnguez Saro #615, Col Del Valle, CP 03100, Mexico DF Based
on the foregomng, Participant expressly recognizes that the Plan and the benefits that he or she may denve from participating in the Plan do not
estabhish any mights between Participant and the Employer, Fortinet, Inc, and do not form part of the employment conditions and/or benefits
provided by Fortmet, Inc, and any modification of the Plan or its termination shall not constitute a change or imparrment of the terms and
conditions of Participant's employment

Partictpant further understands that hus or her participation 1n the Plan 1s as a result of a unmlateral and discretionary decision of Fortinet, Inc ,
therefore, Fortmet, Inc reserves the absolute right to amend and/or discontinue Partictpant's participation at any time without any liabihty to
Participant

Finally, Participant hereby declares that he or she does not reserve to himself or herself any action or nght to bnng any claim agaimst Fortinet,
Inc for any compensation or damages regarding any proviston of the Plan or the benefits derived under the Plan, and Participant therefore grants
a full and broad release to Forunet, Inc , its affihates, branches, representation offices, its shareholders, officers, agents, or legal representatives
with respect to any claim that may arise

Politica Laboral y Reconocimiento/Aceptacidn

Al aceptar ¢l otorgammento de la Opcién de Compra de Acciones, el Participante expresamente recencce que Fortinet, Inc, con domictho
registrado ubicado en Sunnyvale, CA, US A, es la limica responsable por la administracion del Plan y que la participacién del Participante en el
Plan y en su caso la adquisicion de las Opciones de Compra de Acciones o Acciones no constituyen n1 podran interpretarse como una relacion de
trabajo entre el Participante y Fortinet, Inc, ya que el Participante participa en el Plan en un marco totalmente comercial y su unico Patron lo es
Fortinet, Inc con domicilio en Rodriguez Saro #6135, Col Del Valle, CP 03100, México DF, México Denvado de lo antenor, el Participante
expresamente reconoce que el Plan y los beneficios que pudieran denvar de la participacion en el Plan no establecen derecho alguno entre el
Participante y ¢l Patron, Fortinet, Inc y no forma parte de las condiciones de trabajo y/o las prestaciones otorgadas por Fortinet, Inc y que
cualquier modificacion al Plan o su terminacion no constituye un cambic o impedimento de los terminos y condiciones de la relacion de trabajo
del Participante

Asimismo, el Participante reconoce que su participacion en el Plan es resultado de una deciston umlateral y discrecional de Fortimet, Inc , por lo
tanto, Fortinet, In¢ se reserva el absoluto derecho de modificar y/o terminar la participacién del Participante en cualquier momento y sin
responsabilidad alguna frente el Participante

Fmalmente, el Participanie por este medio declara que no se reserve derecho o accion alguna que ejercitar en contra de Fortinet, Inc por
cualquier compensaci6n o dafio en relacidn con las disposicienes del Plan o de los beneficios derivados del Plan y por lo tanto, el Participante
otorga el mas amplo fimquito que en derecho proceda a Fortinet, Inc, sus afiliadas, subsidianas, oficinas de representacion, sus acclonistas,
funcionanios, agentes o representantes legales en relacion con cualquier demanda que pudrera surgir

Netherlands

Insider Trading Information

Participant should be aware of Dutch insider trading rules that may impact the sale of Shares acquired under the Plan [n particular, Participant
may be prohibited from effecting certain transactions if he or she has tnsider information regarding the Company

By accepting the grant of the Option and participating in the Plan, Partictpant acknowledges having read and understood this insider Trading
Information and further acknowledges that it 1s Participant’s responsibility to comply with the following Dutch msider trading rules

Under Article 46 of the Act on the Superviston of the Securiuies Trade 1995, anyone who has “insider information” celated to an 1ssuing
company 1s prohibited from effectuating a transaction 1n securities in or from the Netherlands “Inside information” 1s defined as knowledge of
details concerning the 1ssuing company to which the securities relate that 1s not public and which, 1f published, would reasonably be expected to
affect the stock price, regardless of the development of the price The msider could be any employee of the Company or a Subsidiary 0 the
Netherlands who has mside information as descnbed heremn

Given the broad scope of the defimtion of inside information, certain employees of the Company working at a Subsidiary of the Company 1n the
Netherlands (including a Participant in the Plan) may have inside information and, thus, would be prohibited from effectuating a transaction 1n
securittes n the Netherlands at a tme when Participant had such inside information If Participant 1s uncertain whether the imsider trading rules
apply to hum or her, Participant should consult with his or her personal legal advisor
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New Zealand

Secunties Law Acknowledgment

Participant acknowledges that he or she will receive the following documents 1n connection with the offer to purchase shares at exercise of the
Option

)] the Award Agreement, includmg this Appendix, which sets forth the terms and conditions of the Option,

() a copy of the Company's Form S-1, which includes the most recent financial report, has been made available to Participant 1o
enable Particrpant to make informed decisions concerming participation in the Plan, and

(m) a copy of the description of the Plan {the “Description™) ( 1e , the Company's Form S-8 plan prospectus under the U S
Securities Act of 1933, as amended), and the Company will provide any attachments or documents icorporated by reference
nto the Descniption upon wrnitten request The documents incorporated by reference into the Description are updated
periodically Should Participant request copies of the documents incorporated by reference mto the Description, the Company
will provide Participant with the most recent documents incorporated by reference

Peru
No country-specific provisions

Poland

Exchange Control Information

It 15 no tonger necessary to obtain a foreign exchange permtt to participate 1n the Plan However, if Participant transfers more than €15,000 out of
Poland 1n connection with the exercise of an Option, Participant must transfer the funds via a bank account Please note that if Participant uses a
cashless method of exercise, this requirement will not apply because no funds will be transferred out of Poland If Participant acquires Shares
through participation n the Plan, Participant must file an annual report with the National Bank of Poland declaring ownership of foreign shares
Thus report 1s filed on a special form available on the website of the National Bank of Poland

Singapore

Securities Law Information

The grant of the Option 1s being made in reliance on Section 273(1)(f) of the Securities and Futures Act (Cap 289) (“SFA™), under which 1t 1s
exempt from the prospectus and registration requirements under the SFA

Director Reporting Requirements

If Participant 1s a director, associate director or shadow director of a Singapore Subsidiary, Participant 1s subject to certain notification
requirements under the Singapore Compames Act Directors must notify the Singapore Subsidiary in wnting of an interest ( e g , Options,
Shares) in the Company or any related companies within two days of (1) its acquisttion or disposal, () any change n a previously disclosed
interest { ¢ g , when the Qption 15 exercised), or (1n) becoming a director

South Africa

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement, due to exchange control restrictions in South Africa,
when Participant exercises the Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers urevocable
mstructions to the broker to sell all Shares to which Participant 15 entitled at exercise and rermt the proceeds from sale, less any Tax-Related
Itemns and brokerage fees, to Participant in cash Participant will not be pernutted to recerve and hold any Shares 1 connection with the exercise
of the Option The Company reserves the right to provide Participant with additional methods of paying the aggregate Exercise Price depending
upon development of local laws

Responsibility for Taxes
This section supplements the “Responsibihty for Taxes™ section of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

In accepting the Option, Participant agrees to notify the Employer of the amount of any gain realized upon exercise of the Option If Participant
fails to advise the Employer of the gain realized upon exercise, he or she may be liable for a fine Participant will be responsible for paying any
difference between the actual tax hiabifity and the amount withheld

Exchange Control Information

Participant may be required to obtan exchange control approval prior to exercising the Option Participant 15 solely responstble
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for complying with apphcable South African exchange control regulations Since the exchange control regulations change frequenily and
without notice, the Participant should consult s or her legal advisor prior to the exercise of the Opuon or sale of Shares acquired at exercise to
ensure complhiance with current regulauons Neither the Company nor the Employer will be liable for any fines or penalties resulting from farlure
to comply with applicable laws

Spain

Labor Law Acknowledgment

Tiis section supplements the “Nature of Grant™ secuon of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

In accepting the Option, Participant acknowledges that he or she consents to participation in the Plan and has received a copy of the Plan

Participant understands that the Company has umlaterally, gratuitously, and discretionally decided to grant options under the Plan to individuals
who may be employees of the Company or its Subsidianes throughout the world The decision 15 a limited decision that 1s entered 1nto upon the
express assumption and condition that any grant will not economically or otherwise bind the Company or any of 1ts Subsidiaries on an ongoing
basis Consequently, Participant understands that the Option 15 granted on the assumption and condinion that the Option or the Shares acquired
upon exercise shall not become a part of any employment contract (either with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) and shall not be
considered a mandatory benefit, salary for any purposes (including severance compensation), or any other nght whatsoever In addition,
Participant understands that this grant would not be made to Participant but for the assumptions and condttions referred to above, thus,
Participant acknowledges and freely accepts that should any or all of the assumptions be mistaken or should any of the conditions not be met for
any reason, then any grant of options shall be null and void

Exchange Control [nformation

It 15 Participant’s responsibility to comply with exchange control regulations in Spain The purchase of Shares must be declared by the purchaser
for statistical purposes to the Spanish Direccion General de Politica Comercial y de Inversiones Extrameras (the “DGPCIE"™), of the Miusterio
de Economuia  If Participant purchases the Shares through the use of a Spanish financial institution, that mstitution witl automautcally make the
declaration to the DGPCIE for Participant Otherwise, Participant must make the declaration by filing the appropnate form with the DGPCIE In
addition, Participant must also file a declaration of the ownership of the securities with the Directorate of Foreign Transactions each January
while the Shares are owned

When receiving foretgn currency payments denived from the ownership of Shares ( 1 ¢, as a result of the sale of the Shares), Participant must
itform the financial nsbitution receiving the payment of the basis upon which such payment 1s made Participant will likely need to provide the
mstitution with the following information (1) Participant's name, address, and fiscal identification number, (11) the name and corporate domicile
of the Company, (11} the amount of the payment, (1v) the currency used, (v) the country of origin, (vi) the reasons for the payment, and (vur) any
additional information that may be requtred

If Participant wishes to import the ownership title of the Shares ( 7 e, share certificates) into Spain, Participant must declare the importation of
such secunties to the DGPCIE

Sweden

No country-specific provisions

Switzerland

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary m the Award Agreement, due to restrictions 1t Switzerland, when Participant exercises the
Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell-all” exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers irevecable instructions to the broker to sell all
Shares to which Parucipant 15 entitled at exercise and remit the proceeds from sale, less any Tax-Related ltems and brokerage fees, to Paruicipant
in cash The Company reserves the right to provide Participant with additional methods of paying the Exercise Price depending upon the
development of local laws

Taiwan
Secunities Law [nformation

This offer of the Option and the Shares to be 1ssued pursuant to the Plan s avaitable only for employees of the Company and 1ts Subsidianes it
15 not a public offer of securities by a Taiwanese company, therefore, 1t 15 exempt from registration i Taiwan

Exchange Control Information

Participant may acquire foreign currency and remit the same out of Taiwan, up to US$S million per year without justification When remitting
funds for the purchase of Shares pursuant to the Plan, such remittances should be made through an authonzed
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foreign exchange bank In addition, 1f Participant remits TWD$500,000 or more in a single transaction, Participant must submit a Foreign
Exchange Transaction Form to the remutiing bank [f the transaction amount 1s US$500,000 or more 1n a single transaction, Participant must also
provide supporting documentation to the satisfaction of the remitting bank

Thailand

Exchange Control Information

It 15 Participant’s responsibility to comply with all exchange control regulations 1n Thailand If Participant exercises the Option with cash
Participant may apply directly to a commercial bank in Thailand for approval to remit up to US$1,000,000 per year for the purchase of Shares [f
Participant exercises the Option by way of a cashless method of exercise, no apphication 10 a commercial bank 15 required In addition,
Parucipant 1s required 1o immediately repatnate the proceeds from the sale of the Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of the Option to
Thaitand Within the next 360 days after the repatriation date, Participant must deposit the sale proceeds into 2 foreign currency deposit account
or convert them 10 local currency {f the amount of such sale proceeds 1s equal to or greater than US$20,000, Participant must specifically report
the inward remittance to the Bank of Thasland on a Foreign Exchange Transaction Form through the bank at which Participant deposits or
converts the sale proceeds

Turkey
Exchange Control Information

Exchange control regulations require Turkish restdents to purchase Shares through intermediary financial institutions that are approved under the
Capital Market Law ( re , banks licensed m Turkey) Therefore, 1f Participant uses cash t0 exercise the Option, the funds must be remttted
through a bank or other financial nstitution hicensed 1n Turkey A wire transfer of funds by a Turkish bank will satisfy this requirement This
requiremnent does not apply to cashless exercises, as no funds leave Turkey

United Arab Emirates

Securities Law [nformation

The Plan 15 only being offered to ehgible Service Providers and 1s n the nature of providing equity incentives to ehgible Service Providers of the
Company's Subsidiary 1n the United Arab Emirates

United Kingdom

Jownt Election

As a condition of participation 1n the Plan and the exercise of the Option, Participant agrees te accept any hability for secondary Class 1 national
insurance contnibutions that may be payable by the Company and/or the Employer in connection with the Option and any event giving nse te
Tax-Related ltems (the “Employer NICs™ Without prejudice to the foregoing, Participant agrees to execute a Joint election with the Company,
the form of such joint election bemg formally approved by Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (*HMRC™) (the “Jomnt Election™), and any other
required consent or elecuon Participant further agrees o execute such other jomt elections as may be required between him or her and any
successor to the Company and/or the Employer Participant further agrees that the Company and/or the Employer may collect the Employer
NICs from him or her by any of the means set forth in “Responsibility for Taxes™ section of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Opuion Grant

If Participant does not enter into a Joint Election prior to exercise of the Option, he or she will not be enuitled to exercise the Option unless and
until he or she enters nto a Jount Election and no Shares will be ssued to Participant under the Plan, without any hability to the Company and/or
the Employer

Tax Obligations/Withholding Authorization
This section supplements the “Responsibility for Taxes” section of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant

If payment or withholding of the Tax-Related Items (including the Employer NICs) 1s not made within ninety (90) days of the event giving nse
to the Tax-Related Items or such other period specified in Section 222(1)(c) of the U K Income Tax (Earmings and Pensions) Act 2003 (the
“Due Date™), the amount of any uncollected Tax-Related Items shall constitute a loan owed by Participant to the Employer, effective as of the
Due Date Parucipant agrees that the loan will bear 1nterest at the then-current official rate of HMRC, 1t shall be immediately due and repayable,
and the Company or the Employer may recover 1t at any time thereafier by any of the means referred to 1n the “Responsibihity for Taxes™ section
of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Participant 15 a director or executive officer of the
Company (within the meanung of Section 13(k) of the U S Secunties and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), he or she shail not be eligible for
a loan from the Company to cover the Tax-Related Items [n the event that Participant 1s a director or executive officer and Tax-Related Items
are not collected from or paid by him or her by the Due Date, the amount of any uncollected Tax-Related ltems will constitute a benefit to
Participant on which additional income tax and NICs (including the Employer NICs) will be payable Participant will be responsible for

reporting any inceme tax and NICs (including the Employer NICs) due on this additional benefit directly to HMRC under the self-assessment
regime
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In addition, the Participant agrees that the Company and/or the Employer may calculate the Tax-Related Items to be withheld and accounted for
by reference to the maximum applicable rates, without prejudice to any right the Participant may have to recover any overpayment from the
relevant tax authonties
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LERTINET,
EXHIBIT C

FORTINET, INC
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

EXERCISE NOTICE
Fortinet, Inc
1690 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086
Attention Stock Administration
Exercise of Option  Effective as of today, , , the undersigned (“Purchaser”) hereby elects to purchase
shares (the “Shares™) of the Common Stock of Fortinet, Inc (the “Company™) under and pursuant to the 2009 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “Plan™) and the Stock Option Award Agreement dated (the “Award Agreement™) The purchase price for the Shares will be

$ , as required by the Award Agreement

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company the full purchase price of the Shares and any required Tax-Related
ltems to be paid in connecuon with the exercise of the Option

Representations of Purchaser Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has received, read and understood the Plan and the Award
Agreement and agrees to abide by and be bound by their terms and condittons

Rights as Stockholder  Until the 1ssuance (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized
transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, no nght to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to
the Shares subject to the Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option The Shares so acquired will be issued to Purchaser as soon as
practicable after exercise of the Option No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other nght for which the record date 1s prior to the date of
1ssuance, except as provided 1n Section 13 of the Plan

No Advice Regarding Grant Purchaser understands that Purchaser may suffer adverse tax or financial consequences as a result of
Purchaser’s purchase or disposition of the Shares Further, the Company 15 not providing any tax, legal, or financial advice, nor 1s the Company
making any recommendations regarding Purchaser's participation in the Plan or Purchaser's acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares
Purchaser represents that Purchaser has consulted with any tax, legal, or financial consultants Purchaser deems advisable 1n connection with the
purchase or disposition of the Shares, and that Purchaser 15 not relying on the Company for any such advice

Entire Agreement, Governing Law  The Plan and Award Agreement are incorporated heren by reference This Exercise Notice, the
Plan and the Award Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Purchaser with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified
adversely to the Purchaser's interest except by means of a wnting signed by the Company and Purchaser This agreement 1s govemned by the
internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the State of Califorma

Submutted by Accepted by
PURCHASER FORTINET, Inc
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address

Date Recerved
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FORTINET, INC.
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT
FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE

Unless otherwise defined heren, the terms defined n the Fortinet, Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the “U § Plan™) and the Rules of
the Fortinel, Inc 2009 Equity Iincentive Plan for the Grant of Stock Opuions to Optionees in France {the “French Plan,” and n conjunction with
the US Plan, the “Plan™) will have the same defined meanings 1n this Stock Option Award Agreement for Opuonees in France (the “Award
Agreement”) To the extent that any term 1s defined in both the U S Plan and the French Plan, for purposes of this grant of a French-qualified
Option, the definitions in the French Plan shall prevail

Il NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Optience Name

Address

You have been granted an Option to purchase Common Stock of Fortinet, Inc (the "Company™), subject to the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows

Grant Number

Date of Grant

Vesting Commencement Date
Exercise Price per share

Total Number of Shares Granted
Total Exercise Price

Stock Option intending to comply with the requirements to obtain
Type of Option favorable French tax treatment

Term/Expiration Date

Sale Restriction

The Shares 1ssued upon exercise of this Option may not be sold or otherwise transferred wntil the fourth (4th) anmiversary of the
Effective Grant Date (with a maximum restricion on sale of three (3} years from the date the Option 15 exercised) or such other date as may be
requircd to comply with the apphcable holding perod for French-quahfied Options, except as set out in the “Termmation Period™ provision
below or as otherwise permitted under French law

Vesting Schedule

So long as the Optionee 1s an Employee or corporate officer of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, this Option

may be exercised, in whole or in part, in accordance with the following schedule, subject to any acceleration provisions contained 1n the Plan or
set forth below

Shares Vesting_* Vest Type Begin Vest Date End Vest Date

* Total shares vesting from “Begin Vest Date” to “End Vest Date *

Regardless of any provisions to the contrary in this Award Agreement or in the Plan, no Shares subject to the Option shall vest until the
first anniversary date of the Effecive Grant Date (the “ Anniversary Date™), except in the event of death of the Optionee
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Terminauon Peniod

(a) This Option may be exercised, to the extent 1t 1s then vested, for up to three months after the Optionee ceases to be
an Employee or a corporate officer of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company The restriction on the sale of Shares described
in Sectien 6 of this Award Agreement will continue to apply even in case of termunation of the Optionee unless the termination 15 due to
dismussal or forced reurement according to the conditions of Section 91 ter of the Annex I of the French tax Code and as construed by the
apphcable guidelines Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon death of the Optionee, this Option may be exercised in accordance with Section 7 of
the French Plan In the event the Optionee ceases to be an Employee or a corporate officer of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary by reason
of Disability (as defined under the French Plan), this Option may be exercised, to the extent 1t 1s then vested, for up to one year after the
Optionee ceases to be an Employee or a corporate officer Further, should the Optionee cease to be an Employee or a corporate officer of the
Company or any Parent or Subsidiary by reason of death or Disability (as defined under the French Plan), the restrictton on the sale of Shares
described in Section 6 of the Award Agreement will not apply to the Shares acquired upon exercise of the Opuion, provided all required
condiions are satisfied In no event shall this Option be exercised after the Term/Expiration Date as provided above, except in the event of the
Optionee's death In the event of death, Opuonee's heirs or beneficiaries will have six (6) months to exercise the Option

By the Optionee’s signature and the signature of the Company's representative below, the Optionee and the Company agree that this
Option 15 granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan, including the French Plan, and this Award Agreement, mcluding
the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant for Optionees in France attached hereto as Exhubit A, all of which are made a part of this
document The Optionee has reviewed the Flan and this Award Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtan the advice of
counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement and fully understands all provisions of the Plan and Award Agreement The Optionee hereby
agrees 1o accept 2s binding, conclusive, and final all decisions or interpretations of the Admimistrator upon any questions relating to the Plan and
Award Agreement The Optionee further agrees to notify the Company upon any change 1n the residence address indicated below

OPTIONEE FORTINET, INC

Date
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EXHIBIT A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS QF STOCK OPTION GRANT
FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE

! Grant of Option  The Company hereby grants to the individual named mn the Notice of Grant atiached as Part { of this
Award Agreement (the “Opuonce™), as of the Effective Grant Date, an option (the “Option™) to purchase the number of Shares, as set forth in the
Notice of Grant, at the exercise pnice per Share set forth in the Notice of Grant (the “Exercise Price™), subject ta all of the terms and conditions
this Award Agreement and the Plan (including the French Plan), which 1s incorporated herein by reference Subject to Section 19 of the Plan, in
the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, the terms and
conditions of the Plan will prevail The Optionee understands and agrees that the Option 15 offered subject to and 1n accordance with the terms of
the Plan (which includes the U S Plan and the French Plan), and the Opuonee further agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan and the terms
of the Option as set forth i this Award Agreement

This Option 1s itended to be a French-quahfied Opuon that qualifies for the favorabie tax and social secunity regime n
France, as set forth i the French Plan Certamn events may affect the status of the Optton as a French-qualified Option, and the Option may be
disquahfied in the future The Company does not make any undertakings or representation to maintamn the qualfied status of the French-
quahified Option during the life of the Option, and the Optionee will not be entitled to any damages if the Option no longer qualifies as a French-
qualified Option

2 Vesting Schedule Except as provided n Section 3, the Option awarded by this Award Agreement will vest in accordance
with the vesung provisions set forth in the Notice of Grant Shares scheduled to vest on a certain date or upon the occurrence of a certamn
condition will not vest in the Optionee in accordance with any of the provisions of this Award Agreement, unless the Optionee will have been
continuously an Employee or a corporate officer from the Effective Date of Grant until the date such vesting occurs

3 Adminstrator Discretion The Admumstrator, in 1ts discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser
portion of the balance, of the unvested Opuion at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan If so accelerated, such Option will be considered as
having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator

4 Exercige of Option

(a8) Right to Exercise This Option may be exercised only within the term set out in the Notice of Grant, and may be
exercised during such term only 11 accordance with the Plan and the terms of this Award Agreement

(b) Method of Exercise  This Option 1s exercisable by delivery of an exercise notice, 1n the form attached as Exhibit B (the
“Exercise Notice™) or in a manner and pursuant to such procedures as the Admumistrator may determine, which wall state the election to exerctse
the Option, the number of Shares 1n respect of which the Option 1s being exercised (the “Exercised Shares™), and such other representations and
agreements as may be required by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Plan The Exercise Notice will be completed by the Optionee
and delivered to the Company The Exercise Notice will be accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as to all Excrcised Shares
together with any applicable tax withholding This Option will be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Company of such fully executed
Exercise Notice accompamed by such aggregate Exercise Price

5 Method of Payment Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price will be by any of the following, ot a combination thereof, at
the election of the Optionee
(a) cash,
(b) check,

(c) consideration recerved by the Company under a formal cashless exercise program adopted by the Company in connection
with the Plan 1f such exercise occurs after the Sale Restriction described 1n the “Restniction on Sale of Shares™ section below 15 no longer
applicable

6 Restniction on Sale of Shares

(a) After 1ssuance of the Shares to the Opuonee upon exercise of the Option, the Optionee will not be permitted to sell, transfer, or
assign the Shares until the fourth (4th) anniversary of the Effective Grant Date, or such other date as 15 required to comply with the applicable
compulsory holding penod for French-quahfied options set forth by Secuon 163 bis C of the French Tax Code The restnction on the sale of
Shares described in this “Restriction on Szle of Shares™ section of the Award

23

GESDMS/6544036 12




Agreement will continue to apply even in case of termination of the Optionee unless the termination 1s due to death or Disabihity (as defined
under the French Plan) of the Optionee or 15 due to dismussal or forced retirement according to the conditions set forth 1n Section 91 ter of the
Annex Il of the French tax Code and as construed by the applicable guidelines In no event will the restriction on the sale of the Shares exceed a
peniod of three (3) years from the date the Option 1s exercised I the holding period applicable to Shares underlying the French-qualified Option
15 not met, this Option may not recerve favorable tax and secial secunty treatment under French law In this case, the Optionee accepts and

agrees that he or she will be responsible for paying personal income tax and his or her portion of social secunty contnibutions resulung from
exercise of the Option

(b) At the Company's discretion, the share certificates for all Shares subject to the French-qualified Option may bear a legend setting
forth the restnction on sale for the ume penod set out 1n this Section 6 In addition, the share certrficates may be held until the expiration of the
holding period, at the Company's discretion, either (a) by the Company, {b) by a transfer agent designated by the Company, (¢) in &n account 1n
the name of the Optionee with a broker designated by the Company, or (d) in such manner as the Company may otherwise determine 1n
compliance with French law

7 Responsibihity for Taxes Regardless of any action the Company and/or the Optionee's emplover (the “Employer’ ) takes
with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items arising out of the Optionee’s
participation 1n the Plan and legally applicable to the Optionee {*“Tax-Related Items™), the Opuonee acknowledges that the ulumate hability for
all Tax-Related ltems 15 and remains the Optionee's responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company and/or the
Employer The Optionee further acknowledge that the Company and/or the Employer (1) make no representations or undertakings regarding the
treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Option, including, but not hmited to, the grant, vesting or exercise of
the Opuion, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such exerctse, and the receipt of any dividends, and (1) do not commut and are
under ne obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Option to reduce or eliminate the Optionee's lability for Tax-Related
Items or achieve any particular tax result Furthermore, 1f the Optionee has become subject to tax 1n more than one junsdiction between the
Grant Date and the date of any relevant taxable event, the Optionee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer,
as applicable) may be required 1o withheld or account for Tax-Related ltems 1n more than one junsdiction

Prior 1o the relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, the Optionee shall pay or make arrangements satisfactory
to the Company and/or the Employer within the limuts set forth by French law to sausfy all Tax-Related ltems In this regard, the Optionee
authorizes the Company and/or the Employer, or their respective agents, at their discretion, to satisfy the Tax-Related Items by one or a
combination of the following (1) withholding from wages or other cash compensation paid to the Optionee by the Company, the Employer
and/or any Subsidiary, or (n) withholding from proceeds of the saie of Shares acquired at exercise of the Option either through a voluntary sale
or through a mandatory sale arranged by the Company (on the Optionee’s behalf pursuant to this authorzation), or (1) withholding in Shares to
be 1ssued at exercise of the Option The Optionee acknowledges and agrees that if Tax-Related Items are satisfied by withholding from the
proceeds of the sale of the Shares and the amount withheld 1s 1n excess of the amount due, the Company and/or the Employer will refund the
€xcess amount to the Optionee as soon as admimistratively pracucable and without interest

To avord any negative accounting treatment, the Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering
apphicable mimimum statutory withholding amounts or other applicable withholding rates If the obligation for Tax-Related ltems 1s satisfied by
withholding in Shares, for tax purposes, the Optionce 1s deemed to have been 1ssued the full number of Shares subject to the exercised Option,
notwithstanding that a number of the shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect of
the Optionee's participation 1n the Plan

The Optionee shall pay to the Company or the Employer any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company or the Employer
may be required to withhold or accouni for as a result of Participant's participation in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by the means previously
described n this secion The Company may refuse to 1ssue or deliver the Shares or the proceeds of the sale of shares 1f the Optionee fails to
comply with these obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items

8 Rights as Stockholder Neither the Optionee nor any person claiming under or through the Optionee will have any of the
nights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such
Shares will have been 1ssued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to the Optionee  Afier
such 1ssuance, recordation and dehvery, the Optionee will have all the nghts of a stockhotder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares
and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares

9 Nature of Grant [n accepung the Option, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees to the following

(2) the Optionee expressly warrants that the Opuionee has received, read, and understood a descripuon of the Plan, the Plan 15
established voluntarily by the Company, 1t 1s discretionary in nature, and 1t may be amended, suspended or
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termtnated by the Company at any ume,

{b) the grant of the Option 15 voluntary and occasienal and does not create any contraciual or other nght 10 receve future grants of
options, or benefits in heu of options, even if options have been granted repeatedly in the past,

(¢) all decisions with respect to future option grants, 1f any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company,
(d) the Optionee 15 voluntanly participating in the Plan,

(e) the Optionee's participation m the Plan shall not create a nght to further employment with the Employer and shall not interfere
with the ability of the Employer 1o terminate the Optionee's employment or relationship as an employee ot a corporate officer at any time,

{f) the Option and any Shares subject to the Option are extraordinary items that do not constitute compensation of any kind for
services of any kind rendered to the Company or the Employer, and are outside the scope of the Optionee's employment or service contract, 1f
any,

(g) the Option and the Shares subject to the Option are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensatton,

(h)} the Option and the Shares subject to the Option are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes,
mcluding, but not himited to, calculating any severance, resignation, terminatton, redundancy, dismissal, end of service payments, bonuses, long-
service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or sumilar payments, and m no event should be considered as compensation for, or
relating 1n any way to, past services for the Employer, the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company,

(1} the Option and the Ophionee's participation 1 the Plan will not be interpreted to form an employment contract or relationship with
the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company,

() the future value of the Shares underlying the Option 15 unknown and cannol be predicted with certainty,

(k) no claim or entittement to compensation or damages shall anse from forfeiture of the Option resulting from termination of
Participant’s service by the Company or the Employer (for any reason whatsoever and whether or not i1n breach of local labor laws) and, in
considerauon for the grant of the Option, to which Participant 1s not otherwise entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never 1o mstitute any claim
aganst the Company or the Employer, waives his or her ability, 1f any, to bring any such claim, and releases the Company and the Employer
from any such claim, if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim 15 allowed by a court of competent junisdiction, then, by signing the
Notice of Grant, Participant shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents
necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claims,

(1) n the event of termination of the Optionee's service with the Company or the Employer, the Optionee's nght to exercise the
Option, 1f any, will terminate effective as of the date that the Optionee 15 no longer actively employed and will not be extended by any notce
period mandated under local law { ¢ g , active employment would not include a period of “garden leave” or similar penod pursuant to local law),

the Admimstratoer shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when the Optionee 15 no longer actively employed for purposes of the Option
grant, and

(m) the Option and the benefits under the Plan, if any, will not automaucally transfer to another company m the case of a merger,
take-over, or transfer of iabihty

10 No Adwvice Regarding Grant  The Cempany 1s not providing any tax, legal, or financial advice, nor 1s the Company making
any recommendations regarding the Optionee's participation n the Plan or the Optionee's acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares The
Optionee 1s hereby advised to consult with hus or her own tax, legal, and financial consultants regarding the Optionee's participation m the Plan
before taking any action related to the Plan

11, Daia Privacy. . The Optionee hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of the Optionee’s personal data as described in this Award Agreement by and among, as applicable, the Employer,
the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the

Optionee's participation in the Plan.
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The Opnonee understands that the Company and the Employer may hold certamn personal information about the Opnonee,
tncluding, but not himued to, the Optionee’s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance or other
udentificatton number, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company or any Parent or Subsidtary of the
Company, details of all options or any other entiilement ro Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in the
Optionee’s favor, for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan (“Personal Data”)

The Optionee understands that Personal Data will be transferred to a broker designated by the Company or to any other third party
assisting in the implementanion, adminmsiration and management of the Plan. The Optionee understands that the reciprents of the Personal
Data may be located in the Optionee’s country, outside the European Union, or elsewhere, and that the reciptent's country may have
different dara privacy laws and protections than the Optionee's country The Optionee understands that the Optionee may request a list with
the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Personal Data by contacting the Optionee's local human resources representative
The Optionee authorizes the Company, the broker, and any other recipients of Personal Data that may assist the Company (presently or in
the future) with implementing, admimistering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer Personal Data, in electronic
ar other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing the Opuionee’s participanion in the Plan, wncluding any
requisite transfer of Personal Data as may be required to a broker or other third party with whom the Optionee may elect to deposu any
Shares purchased upon exercise of the Option. The Opnonee understands that Personal Data will be held only as long as ts necessary to
tmplement, admunister and manage the Optionee's participation in the Plan. The Optionee understands that the Gptionee may, at any time,
view Personal Data, request addional information about the storage and processing of Personal Data, require any necessary amendments to
Personal Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herewn, in any case without cost, by comtacting in writing the Optionee's local human
resources representative. The Optionee understands that refusal or withdrawal of consent may affect the Optionee's ability to parhicipate in
the Plan For more mformation on the consequences of refusal to consent er withdrawal of consent, the Optionee undersiands that he or she
may contact the Optionee's local human resources representative

12 Address for Notices  Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed
te the Company, in care of Stock Admimistration at Fortinet, Inc, 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086, or at such other address as the
Company may hereafter designate m wrniting

13 Non-Transferability of Option. This Option may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of
descent or distnbution and may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee only by the Optionee

14 Binding Agreement Subject to the limitauon on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Award Agreement
will be binding upon and 1nure to the benefit of the herrs, legaiees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto

15 Additonal Cond:itions to Issuance of Stock  If at any time the Company will determine, in 1ts discretion, that the histing,
registration or qualification of the Shares upon any secunities exchange or under any U S state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any
governmental regulatory authonty 15 necessary or desirable as a condition to the 1ssuance of Shares to the Optionee {or his or her estate), such
1ssuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval will have been effected or obtamed free of
any conditions not acceptable to the Company Assuming such comphanee, for income tax purposes the Exercised Shares will be considered
transferred to the Optionce on the date the Option 1s exercised wath respect to such Exercised Shares

16 Plan Governs This Award Agreement 1s subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan, including the French Plan In the
event of a conflict between one or more provisions of this Award Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan
will govern Capitalized terms used and not defined m this Award Agreement will have the meaning set forth in the Plan

17 Administrator Authority The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to
adopt such rules for the admimistration, terpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewnth and to interpret or revoke any such
rules (including, but not hmuted to, the determination of whether or not any Shares subject to the Option have vested) All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator 1n good faith will be final and binding upon the Opuionee, the Company, and all

other interested persons No member of the Adminstrator will be persenally hable for any action, determination, or interpretation made in good
faith with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement

18 Electronic Delivery The Company may, n 1ts sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Option
awarded under the Plan or future options that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or request the Opuonee's
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consent to participate 1n the Plan by electronic means The Optionee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and

agrees to particrpate in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party
designated by the Company

19 Captions_ Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Award Agreement

20 Agreement Severable In the event that any provision 1n this Award Agreement will be held 1invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of
this Award Agreement

21 Modifications to the Agreement This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects
covered The Optionee expressly warrants that he or she 15 not accepting this Award Agreement in rehiance on any promuses, representations, or
inducements other than those contamed herein Modifications to this Award Agreement or the Plan can be made only 1n an express written
contract exccuted by a duly authorized officer of the Company

22 Governing Law and Venue This Award Agreement will be governed by, and subject to, the laws of the State of
Califormia, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof For purposes of htigatng any dispute that arises under the Opuion or
this Award Agreement, the partics hereby submit to and consent to the junisdiction of the State of Califorma, and agree that such lttigation will
be conducted n the courts of Santa Clara County, Cahiforma, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern District of Califormia,
and no other courts, where this grant 1s made and/or to be performed

23 Language [fthe Optionee has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Option and/or the Plan
translated into French, and if the meaning of the French version 1s different from the English version, the English verston wall control

24 Imposition of Other Requirements  The Company reserves the nght to mmpose other requiremnents on the Oplionee's
partsicipation 1 the Plan, on the Option, and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines it 1s necessary or
advisable 1n order to comply with local laws or facilitate the administration of the Plan, and to require the Ophionee to sign any additional
agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregong

25 Language Consent_ By signing and returning or by otherwise accepting this Award Agreement, the Optionee confirms having read
and understood the documents relating to this Option (1 ¢ , the U'S Plan, the French Plan, and this Award Agreement) which were provided in
the English language The Optionee accordingly accepts the terms of those documents

Consentement @ La Langue En signant et renvoyant cette 'Accord, ou par acceptant autrement I'Accord, le Tuulawe de I'Option

confirme amnst avowr lu et compris les documents relanfs a I'Opnion de Souscription, (c'est-a-dire, Le Plan, Le Plan pour la France et ceite
Accord) qun ont ete fournts en langue anglaise Le Tuulawre de 'Option en accepte les termes de ces documents en connaissance de cause
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ERTINET.

EXHIBITEB
FORTINET, INC
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
EXERCISE NOTICE
FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE
Fortinet, In¢

1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086
Atention Stock Adrmmstrauon

Exercise of Option Effective as of today, . , the undersigned (“Purchaser™) hereby elects to purchase

shares (the “Shares™) of the Common Stock of Fortinet, Inc (the “Company”) under and pursuant to the 2009 Equity Incentive

Plan (the “U S Plan”™), the Rules of the Fortinet, Inc 2009 Equity Incentive Plan for the Grant of Stock Options to Optionees in France (the

“French Plan,” and 1n conjuncuon with the U S Plan, the “Plan”™), and the Stock Option Award Agreement dated (the “Award
Agreement”) The purchase price for the Shares will be § , as required by the Award Agrecment

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewtth delivers to the Company the full purchase price of the Shares and any required Tax-Related
Items to be patd in connection with the exercise of the Option

Representations of Purchaser Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has received, read, and understood the Plan and the Award
Agreement and agrees to atide by and be bound by their terms and conditions

Rights as Stockholder Until the 1ssuance {as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authonized
transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, no nght to vote or receive dividends or any other nghts as a stockholder will exast with respect to
the Shares subject to the Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Opuon The Shares so acquired will be 1ssued to Purchaser as soon as
practicable after exercise of the Option No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other night for which the record date 15 prior to the date of
1ssnance, except as provided in Section 13 of the Plan

No Advice Regarding Grant Purchaser understands that Purchaser may suffer adverse tax or financial consequences as a result of
Purchaser's purchase or disposition of the Shares Further, the Company 1s not providing any tax, legal, or financial advice, nor 1s the Company
making any recommendations regarding Purchaser's participation 1o the Plan or Purchaser’s acquisiion or sale of the underlying Shares
Purchaser represents that Purchaser has consulted with any tax, legal, or financial consultants Purchaser deems advisable in connection with the
purchase or disposition of the Shares, and that Purchaser 1s not relying on the Company for any such advice

Enure Agreement, Goverming Law  The Plan and Award Agreement arc incorporated herein by reference This Exercise Notice, the
Plan and the Award Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Purchaser with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified
adversely to the Purchaser's interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and Purchaser This agreement 1s governed by the
internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the State of Califorma
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Submutted by

Accepted by

PURCHASER FORTINET, Inc
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address

Date Recerved
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Exhibit 23 1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos 333-163367, 333-172459, and 333-175985 on Form -8 of
our reports dated February 27, 2012, relating to the consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule of Fortinet,
[ne and subsidiaries {collectively, the “Company™) which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph
relating to the change 1n the Company's method for recognizing revenue for multiple element arrangements, and the effectiveness of the
Company's intemal control over financial reporting, appearing in tis Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended

December 31, 2011
/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, Califorma
February 27, 2012




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Ken Xie, cerufy that

1 T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc ,

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a matenial fact necessary to
make the statements made, n hght of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period cavered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial siatements, and other financial information inctuded 1n this report, fawrly present in all matenal
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented mn this report,

4 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and mamtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a

Designed such disciosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
superviston to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 1ts consohidated subsidianies, 1s made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly duning the peniod 1n which this annual report ts being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such mternal control over financial reporting to be designed
under out supervision, ie provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes m accordance with generally accepted accounting pninciples,

Evaluated the effecuveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 1n this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this report based on
such evaluation, and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred duning the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter mn the case of an annual report) that has matenally
affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting, and

3 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reparting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commuttee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions)

a

All sigmficant deficiencies and material weaknesses 1n the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably lhikely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
informavon, and

Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a sigmficant role i the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27, 2012

fs! Ken Xie

Ken Xic

President, Chuef Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I. Ken Geldman, certify that

!

2

5

[ have reviewed this Annuzl Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omut to state a matersal fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not musleading with respect to the
penod covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial nformation included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial conditson, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented n this report,

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and mantaining disclosure contrels and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regstrant and have

a

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, imcluding 1ts consohdated subsidianes, 15 made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the penod in which this annual report 1s being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporiing and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectivencess of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation, and

Disclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally
affected, or 15 reasonably ltkely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting, and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal contro! over financral
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit commuttee of the regisirant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions)

a

All sigmificant deficiencies and matenial weaknesses i the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably hikely to adversely affect the registrant's abihity to record, process, summarize and report financial
information, and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invelves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27, 2012

/s/ Ken Goldman

Ken Goldman

Cheef Frnaneal Officer
{Principal Financial Qfficer)




Exhibit 32 1
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ken Xie, certify, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requiremnents of Section 13(a)

or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K farly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Fortmet, Inc

By /s/ Ken Xte
Name Ken Xie

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Tile  (Principal Executive Officer)

Date February 27, 20i2

I, Ken Goldman, certify, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act af 2002, that
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requirements of

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents
i all matenal respects the financial condition and results of operations of Fortinet, Inc

By /s/ Ken Goldman
Name Ken Goldman

Chief Financial Officer
Title  (Principal Financial Officer)

Date  February 27, 2012




